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Writing the introduction to some issues 
of this Journal is fairly easy, because the 
articles all derive from the Leon Silverman 
Lecture Series and—more or less—are bound 
together by a common theme, such as the 
Civil War and Reconstruction or the great 
dissenters. Those issues always interest me 
because they help me to understand that era or 
that practice much better.

On the other hand, more often than not, 
the Journal has a wonderful potpourri of 
articles that are all over the map, and so I learn 
new things about different topics. It makes 
writing the introduction a bit harder, but that 
is a small price to pay for seeing things— 
some of them old friends even—in a new 
light.

I have known Barry Cushman since he 
was a graduate student at the University of 
Virginia, and his dissertation on the New 
Deal cases made all of us who have written 
on that era rethink some of our assumptions. 
He has been a frequent contributor to the 
Journal, and his topics have included 
diverse areas such as clerks and docket 
books. In this issue he examines the judicial

vote in an important case, Coleman v. Miller 
(1939), in which the Court declared that the 
question of limiting or extending the time 
needed to ratify a proposed constitutional 
amendment was a “political question,” in the 
hands of Congress and not the courts. Barry 
is currently the John P. Murphy Foundation 
Professor of Law at the University of Notre 
Dame.

Another old case that gets a fresh look is 
Allen v. United States (1896), which involved 
what kind of charge a judge could give to an 
apparently hung jury, urging the minority 
members to reconsider. Known afterwards as 
the Allen charge, it applied only to federal 
courts. Gary Peterson is a practicing attorney 
in Oklahoma City.

One of the “great” cases in Commerce 
Clause jurisprudence is Wickard v. Filburn 
(1942), in which Justice Robert H. Jackson 
seemingly stretched congressional reach 
under that clause about as far as one could 
imagine, to cover wheat grown in a farmer’s 
backyard for his family’s consumption. 
James B. Barnes wrote this article when he 
was a law student at St. Mary’s University
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in San Antonio; he is now practicing 
commercial law in Austin, Texas, and is the 
managing attorney for the Barnes Law Group. 
Barnes is the student winner of the 2016 
Hughes-Gossett Award.

We do not get many articles on bank­
ruptcy cases, and truth be told, I do not 
remember any stirring cases I read in law 
school on this subject. Many cases are fairly 
limited, because the only law involved is the 
bankruptcy statute itself. But what happens 
when usual practice under bankruptcy, such 
as allowing a trustee to “abandon any 
property of the estate that is burdensome to 
the estate or that is of inconsequential value 
to the estate,” (§554(a)) collides with an 
environmental statute requiring the owner of 
that property to clean it up after dumping 
carcinogens into the ground? That was the 
question before the High Court in 1986, and is 
examined by Ronald Mann, Albert E. Cinelli 
Enterprise Professor of Law at Columbia Law 
School and Co-Director of the Charles Evans 
Gerber Transactional Studies Center.

Although we do not rank Justices the way 
political scientists like to play at ranking 
Presidents, no one I know considers Gabriel 
Duvall, a Madison appointee who served on 
the Supreme Court from 1811 to 1835, in the 
top rank. During his tenure of the Court the 
issue of slavery, which would tear the country 
apart in 1861, began to find its way into 
judicial cases. Andrew Fede takes a new look 
at Duvall’s opinions on hearsay used as 
evidence in court by slaves seeking their 
freedom. Fede is an attorney in private 
practice in Hackensack, New Jersey. He is 
also an adjunct professor at Montclair State 
University, Upper Montclair, New Jersey.

As I have mentioned a number of times, 
the field of constitutional history is not a large 
one, and nearly all of the practitioners know

each other. Certainly I call two of the other 
contributors friends.

Charles Zeldon is professor of history at 
Nova Southeastern University, and normally 
he applies his robust intelligence to the law of 
elections; his book on Bush v. Gore (2000) is 
in my mind the very best and most objective 
work written on that contentious case. A year 
or so ago he came out with a short biography 
of Thurgood Marshall, and its length was for 
the most part dictated by the constraints of the 
series in which it appeared. I asked Chuck if 
there was more he wanted to say on Justice 
Marshall, and he did indeed. Marshall 
dissented a lot, especially in capital punish­
ment cases, and he always made sure his 
clerks knew ahead of time that their tenure 
with him would involve dissents.

Finally, a book came to me from 
someone who is certainly not a stranger, 
since as you know, Timothy Huebner is the 
associate editor of this Journal, and without 
his work and that of our managing editor, 
Clare Cushman, you would not be holding 
this or any other issue in your hands. Every 
now and then, we run an essay review in the 
Journal for books that we think are very 
important, and Tim’s book on the Civil War 
and Constitutionalism seemed to fit that bill.

Tim’s book is not a radical revision of 
what we know about the period, but it does 
differ from what has been the standard work 
on it, Harold Hyman and William Wiecek’s, 
Equal Justice Under Law: Constitutional 
Development 1835-1875, published in 1982 
as part of the New American Nation series. I 
called Bill Wiecek, professor of law at 
Syracuse University, another friend of long 
standing, and asked if he would review it, and 
he very graciously said he would. And he did.

So, for this potpourri of a volume, learn 
about all sorts of things, and, of course, enjoy!



Not the Most Insignificant Justice: 

Reconsidering Justice Gabriel 

Duvall’s Slavery Law  Opinions 
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Jo s e p h Sto ry and Gabr ie l Du vall be gan 

the ir care e rs as Su p re m e Co u rt Ju s tice s o n the 

s am e day in Fe bru ary 1812, but the reputa­

tions of these nominees of President James 

Madison diverged widely. Story is ranked 

among the Court’s leading Justices. Duvall’ s 

standing, in contrast, fell so far by the 1930s 

that Ernest Sutherland Bates, in his book 

T h e S to ry o f th e S u p rem e C ou r t, labeled 

him “probably the most insignificant of all 

Supreme Court judges[.]”  Bates implied that, 

at nearly sixty years of age, Duvall was too 

old when he was nominated to the Court; he 

thus devalued Duvall’s nearly twenty-four 

years as a Maryland lawyer, state court judge, 

and legislator; his two years as a United States 

Congressman; and his nine years as the first 

Comptroller of the United States Treasury. 

Bates also suggested that Duvall should have 

resigned from the Court soon after his 

appointment because “ he became a few years

later so deaf that he could not hear a word said 

in Court[.]” ' Others based later critiques on 

the dearth of Duvall’s published Supreme 

Court output—fifteen opinions for the Court 

and one dissenting opinion—although they 

acknowledged that, during this era, Chief 

Justice John Marshall dominated the Court 

with his collegial approach to decision 
making and opinion writing.2

On the other hand, Irving Dilliard, who 

wrote the entry on Duvall in T h e Ju stices 

o f th e U n ited S ta tes S u p rem e C ou r t  

1789 -1969 , accused Bates of making “ a 

manifestly unfair judgment’ ’ about Duvall’ s 

almost twenty-three-year career on the 

Court.3 Indeed, Duvall deserves further 

reevaluation, but not because of the recently 

revealed genetic link  that he, President Barak 

Obama, and Vice President Richard Cheney 

have to Mareen Duvall, a mid-1600s Hugue­

not immigrant from France and an early
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Mary land s lave o wne r.4 Instead, Duvall’s two 

slavery-law opinions favoring liberty when 

enslaved peoples’ freedom was at issue, 

reconsidered in their historical context, 

enhance Duvall’s place in Supreme Court 

history. Duvall’ s only dissenting opinion, 

which he filed in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM im a Q u e e n v . H e p b u r n 

(1813),5 contradicted Marshall’ s version 

of the hearsay rule, which Duvall believed 

would deny “ reasonable protection” to 

“people of color.” And in L e G r a n d v. 

D a r n a l l (1829),6 Duvall used the implied 

manumission doctrine to affirm a judgment in 

an interracial diversity suit confirming that 

Nicholas Darnall was freed by his father and 

owner. These opinions by Duvall, who in 

1783 owned at least eight slaves and whose 

1844 estate included thirty-six slaves, stand 

in contrast to the anti-manumission and 

pro-slavery trend that swept through the 

antebellum Southern courts and legislatures, 

reaching the Supreme Court in S c o tt v . 

S a n d fo r d (1857).7

Duvall’s Freedom Suits and the Early 

Hearsay Rule

Duvall’s experiences as a Maryland 

lawyer between 1778 and 1796, when he 

became a Maryland General Court judge, 

may have influenced his slavery law jurispru­

dence. He was among the lawyers who 

represented enslaved claimants seeking 

freedom under the law. Other prominent 

Maryland lawyers who pursued these claims 

included Philip Barton Key; Philip’s nephew 

Francis Scott Key, writer of the lyrics to our 

national anthem; and Francis’s brother-in- 

law, future Chief Justice Roger B. Taney. 

Maryland law, like the law in most slave 

societies, provided enslaved people with 

procedures to assert and establish that they 

were unlawfully held in bondage. The 

successful claimants generally advanced 

two primary theories of relief. Manumission 

suit claimants alleged that their masters freed

them or one of their ancestors, and freedom 

suit claimants contended that they could not 
be enslaved under the applicable law.8

When the United States gained its 

independence, in most states only Africans 

or those with African female ancestors could 

lawfully be enslaved. Many Maryland 

freedom suits arose, however, because its 

legislature in 1664 adopted its first law 

intended to deter “ freeborn English women”  

from marrying “ Negro slaves.” This law 

enslaved “ freeborn women” who married 

“ any slave” for the term of their husbands’ 

lives. It also provided that the children of 

these marriages were to follow  their fathers’ 

condition, except for those already bom, 

who were to serve until they were “ thirty 

years of age and no longer.” This act was 

amended in 1681, but 1692, 1715, and 1728 

laws subjected both white women and their 

mixed-race children to fixed terms of 

servitude. This punishment of children for 

their parents’ perceived indiscretions was 

repealed in 1796. These laws, and others 

freeing slaves illegally imported into Mary­

land, spawned freedom suits in which 

litigants claimed that they were no longer 
legally enslaved.9

Many of these freedom and manumission 

suit claimants relied on hearsay evidence to 

prove that they had non-African or free black 

maternal ancestors. Hearsay evidence, by the 

late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, 

was defined as an assertion offered at a trial or 

hearing to prove the truth of  the matter asserted 

by a person who was not testifying at the trial 

or hearing and who thus could not be cross 

examined. This hearsay evidence often was 

the only proof available to enslaved litigants, 

in part because the testimony of slaves and free 

blacks against whites generally was for­
bidden.10 The early Southern courts used the 

common law hearsay exception permitting 

evidence of family history, reputation, or 

pedigree. They allowed anyone who knew a 

freedom claimant’s family to offer hearsay 

evidence of both the identities of the
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Gabriel Duvall (left) and Francis Scott Key (right) were both Maryland lawyers who owned slaves and litigated 

on behalf of slaves  for their freedom . Many  of these  freedom  and m anum ission suit claim ants relied on hearsay 

evidence to prove that they had non-African or free black m aternal ancestors. One of Key's m any cases for 

enslaved litigants included  a successful 1828  freedom  suit filed  against Duvall on behalf of a  fam ily  of Duvall’s 

own slaves. Duvall never publicly condem ned slavery, unlike Key, who called slavery “a great m oral and 

political evil am ongst us."tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

claim ant’ s fam ily m e m be rs and the re p u tatio n 

o r ge ne ral u nde rs tanding am o ng p e o p le in the 

re le vant co m m u nity o f tho s e fam ily m e m be rs’ 

race and s e rvile o r fre e s tatu s . This e vide nce 
was uniquely relevant in freedom suits.11

Duvall relied on this expansive hearsay 

exception in early reported Maryland freedom 

suits, including WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM a h o n e y v. A s h to n )2 Duvall 

started that case on October 18,1791, by filing  

a freedom petition for Charles Mahoney 

against Father John Ashton, who claimed 

Mahoney was his slave. Ashton was an 

influential Jesuit priest who was among 

the founders of Georgetown College, now 

Georgetown University. By 1790 he also had 
eighty-two slaves under his command.13 

Duvall based Mahoney’s case on a broad 

reading of  Lord Mansfield’s landmark decision 
in S o m e r s e t v . S te w a r t)4 Duvall alleged that 

Mahoney was the great-great grandson of Ann 

Joice, who was freed in the 1670s by the laws of 

England when Lord Baltimore brought her

from Barbados to England and then to Mary­

land. Duvall began a four-and-one-half-year 

search for evidence, and Jonathan Roberts 

Wilmer succeeded Duvall as Mahoney’s 

lawyer when Duvall became a General Court 

judge in 1796. The case languished in Mary­

land’s courts for almost eleven years. It was 

tried before juries three times. Maryland’s 

General Court and Court of Appeals issued 

decisions permitting both sides to introduce 

hearsay pedigree and reputation evidence 

about Ann Joice from non-family members. 

The jury in the second trial, which was held in 

June 1799, found for Mahoney, apparently 

based upon Mahoney’ s hearsay pedigree and 

reputation evidence, but the Court of Appeals 

reversed this verdict. Another jury in Octo­

ber 1802 found for Ashton, apparently because 

they were convinced by Ashton’s hearsay 

pedigree and reputation evidence, which 

included the depositions of Samuel Douglass 

and Thomas Lane.15
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Altho u gh this libe ral he ars ay ru le was 

no t be ne ficial to Maho ne y in co u r t, As hto n 

m anu m itte d Char le s and Patr ick Maho ne y in 

1804. One year later he freed their younger 

brother Daniel Mahoney. The Mahoney 

family members “ were so grateful for 

Duvall’ s assistance that Charles’s brother 

Patrick christened his son Gabriel.” 16

Duvall and Philip Barton Key in 

October 1791 filed another freedom petition 

with the General Court against Ashton on 

behalf of Edward (Ned) Queen, who alleged 

that he was the son of Phillis, whose mother, 

known as Mary Queen, was born a free 

person. Ashton admitted that Mary Queen 

was Edward’s grandmother but alleged that 

she always was enslaved. Mary Queen was 

sold for a term of years to James Carroll, a 

successful planter and businessman. His 

home plantation, Fingual, was in Anne 

Arundel County on Maryland’ s western 

shore. Carroll was a Catholic single man 

when he died in 1729. His will  left most of 

his property and slaves to the Catholic 
Church.17

At the May 13, 1794 trial, the lawyers 

for both sides relied on hearsay evidence 

confirming or denying Mary’s free status. 

Edward Queen’s case included four hearsay 

depositions. Richard Disney, who was 

seventy-five years old when he gave his 

May 14, 1792 deposition, stated that he 

knew Phillis and her sister Nanny Cooper 

since his childhood. He described Phillis as 

“ a mulatto”  and said that Nanny Cooper was 

“ as black as most negroes,” but he did not 

remember their mother. Disney also said he 

knew James Carroll and Fingual “ very 

well[.] ” His late mother was a midwife. 

She said that Nanny was the first child she 

delivered and that “ it was a shame that the 

mother of Phillis and Nanny was [sic] kept 

in slavery[.]” Disney recalled being told a 

story about Captain Larkin bringing “ a fine 

Lady from London,”  and that nobody would 

buy her until Carroll did so. Disney was 

referring to Thomas Larkin (1673-1731), the

son of early Maryland settler John Larkin 

(1615-1702). Disney also heard John Jiams, 

an overseer, say that “ Phillis ought to be 

free[.]” Disney worked at Fingual when 

Lewis Lee, who was many years older than 

Disney, was Carroll’ s overseer. Disney 

heard Lee say that “ Phillis ought to be 

free, and Phillis then lived in a house by 
herself[.]” 18 Thomas Warfield stated that, in 

1783, he was working as an overseer in 

Anne Arundel County. He heard the late 

John Jiams, the late Reverend John Car­

rick’ s overseer, say that Phillis’ s mother 

Mary Queen was free when Captain Larkin 

brought her to the county, that Mary was 

sold for seven years, and that Mary “ was as 

free as he was if  she had her right[.]” He 

recalled that Mary Queen “ afterwards 

belonged to James Carrick who lived in 

Fingal in Anne Arundel County.” James 

Carrick later left his plantation and personal 

property to the Catholic Church, according 

to Warfield, who also said that Phillis had a 

“yellow” complexion and “ appears to be a 
bright mulatto[.]” 19 George Davis asserted 

that, “ between twenty one and twenty two 

years”  before his May 23, 1793 deposition, a 

man named Lewis Lee told him that Edward 

“ ought to be free for his grandmother was a 

free woman[.]” 2°

Caleb Clarke was forty-seven years old 

when he was deposed on October 23, 1793. 

He was a member of the Duvall family. His 

mother Mary Clarke, who had died about 

eight years before the deposition when she 

was sixty-nine years old, was a daughter of 

Marsh Mareen Duvall, who was a son of 

Mareen Duvall, the family’s immigrant 

ancestor. Caleb Clarke described Phillis 

as “ a mulatto woman who lives with . . . 

Ashton[.]” He recalled hearing his mother 

speak of “ a yellow woman called Mary 

Queen [who] was brought to the County by 

Captain [Thomas] Larkin,” whose father 

John was Mareen Duvall’ s friend and 

neighbor. Thomas Larkin frequently visited 

Marsh Mareen Duvall’s house, as did James
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On October 15, 1791, Duvall signed this petition for Edward Queen in his case before the Maryland General 

Court, writing that Queen “hum bly sheweth that he is held in slavery by the Revd. John Ashton altho he is 

inform ed he is entitled  to  his  freedom  being  descended from  a freewom an, viz, being  the  son  of Phillis who  was 

the daughter of Mary Queen com m only called Queen Mary, a freewom an. He therefore prays your honours to 

direct Sum m ons to issue against the said John Ashton returnable im m ediately to  answer the prem ises; &  that 

your honours, the  facts being  found, will adjudge your petitioner to be free. And he will pray &  so  forth.” Many 

witnesses presented hearsay evidence and the court ruled to grant Queen his freedom in 1794.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Carr ick, who “ owned” Mary Queen. Caleb 

Clarke said his mother “ often in conversa­

tion”  said “ that her father had often heard ... 

[James] Carrick and Mary Queen quarrelling 

and wrangling about her freedom[.]” In 

these arguments, James Carrick would say to 

Mary Queen “ poh! have patience you will  be 

free by and by, or you will  get your freedom, 

by and by, or words to that effect, and would 

promise what he would do for her[.]”  Caleb 

also heard his mother’s older sisters Anne 

Carrick (who was married to John Carrick) 

and Susanna Fowler tell this story. James 

Carrick did not free Mary Queen; instead, 

Caleb said she “ was left or given ... to 

Anthony Carrick and sent across the Bay to 

him.” 21

The jury on May 23, 1794 found for 

Edward and the court’s judgment freed him. 

Many Queen family members later won 

freedom judgments based on Edward 
Queen’s success.22

Marshall vs. Duvall on the Hearsay Rule

Other Joice and Queen family members 

later filed freedom suits with the Circuit Court 

of the District of Columbia. They relied on 

much of the same hearsay evidence that the 

Maryland courts admitted. However, the 

Circuit Court advanced a more exacting 

hearsay rule beginning with its 1808 decision 
in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ o ic e v. A le x a n d e r ?3 The court permitted
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Francis Sco tt Ke y to u s e Tho m as Lane’ s 

de p o s itio n o n be half o f Ke y’s s lave o wne r 

clie nt, Ro be rt Ale xande r, to de fe at the 

fre e do m claim o f Cle m Jo ice , who was 

ano the r de s ce nde nt o f Ann Jo ice . Bu t the 

co u r t als o s u s taine d Ke y’ s o bje ctio n to 

Jo ice’s lawy e r’s questions about Ann Joice’ s 

“ general reputation of the neighbourhood”  

and “ whether she was a free white woman.”  

The court ruled “ that evidence of general 

reputation of a fact, can only be given when 

the reputation was among free white persons 

who are dead, or presumed from the length of 
time to be dead.” 24

The United States Supreme Court also 

adopted a more restrictive version of 

this hearsay rule exception, over Justice 

Duvall’s dissent, beginning with Chief 

Justice John Marshall’s opinion in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM im a 

Q u e e n v. H e p b u r n .2 5 Francis Scott Key 

initiated that case in January 1810 with a 

petition filed with the Circuit Court of the 

District of Columbia for Washington 

County. He alleged that John Hepburn 

illegally held in slavery Minor or Mina 

Queen and her daughter Louisa. The 

official case reports spelled Mina’ s name 

Mima. Key also filed petitions at the same 

time against other defendants who claimed 

Priscilla, Alexis, and Hester Queen as their 

slaves. Mina’s trial was held in late 

June 1810, when the judges were William  

Cranch, Nicholas Fitzhugh, and Bruckner 

Thurston. Key presented depositions from 

Edward Queen’ s case to prove that the 

claimants’ ancestor, Mary Queen, was a 

free woman who was sold for a seven-year 

term of service. Key read to the jury part of 

Caleb Clarke’s deposition. But the court 

sustained Hepburn’s objection to Clarke’ s 

statement of what his mother told him she 

was told by her father Marsh Mareen 
Duvall.26 Key read, without objection, 

Benjamin Duvall’ s deposition containing 

the declaration of Mary Queen, Mina’ s 

great grandmother. Benjamin was the 

name of Gabriel Duvall’ s father and his

great uncle. The court also permitted 

Hepburn’s lawyer to read depositions in 

response asserting that Mary was a slave. 

But the Court did not permit Key to read 

from the deposition of Freeders Ryland 

relaying Mary Queen’s declarations about 

her residence, place of birth, and condi­

tion. The court also denied Key’ s request 

to read all of the depositions of Richard 

Disney, Thomas Warfield, and George 

Davis, although the court allowed the 

jury to hear, over Hepburn’s objection, 

the portion of Davis’s deposition contain­

ing Lewis Lee’s statement that Edward 
Queen’s grandmother was a free woman.27

The Court permitted Key to read Richard 

Disney’s hearsay deposition stating what 

Disney said he heard others say about Mary 

Queen but instructed the jury that if  they 

found that Disney gave evidence from what 

was communicated to him many years after 

the fact “ without its [sic] appearing by whom 

or in what manner the same was communi­

cated to him,”  then the evidence “ is incom­

petent to prove either the existence of such 

report and noise or the truth of it[.] ”  The Court 

also allowed Key to read the part of Thomas 

Warfield’s deposition that included John 

Jiams’s assertions but again instructed the 

jury that if  they “ find from the evidence that 

these declarations of Capt[.] John Jiams . . . 

were founded on hearsay or report, commu­

nicated to him many years after the importa­

tion and sale of the said Mary Queen without 

its appearing by whom or in what manner 

such communication was made to him; then 

his said declarations are not competent 
evidence in this cause.” 28

The jury’s verdict was for Hepburn. Key 

filed an appeal to the United States Supreme 

Court. He and James S. Morsell argued that 

the Maryland courts had in the past admitted 

hearsay evidence when enslaved people sued 

for their freedom and that if  the courts were to 

exclude this evidence future freedom suits 

will  likely fail. John Law and Walter Jones 

argued for Hepburn that the courts should
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ap p ly the co m m o n law he ars ay ru le with 
equal force to these suits.29

Chief Justice Marshall’ s majority opin­

ion affirmed the Circuit Court’ s judgment 

with the “ general principle”  that he applied to 

all of  the evidence rulings on appeal; “ hearsay 

evidence is incompetent to establish any 

specific fact, which ... is in its nature 

susceptible of being proved by witnesses who 

speak from their own knowledge.” He also 

directed the courts to enforce the evidence 

rules of general application when enslaved 

people sued for their liberty:

However the feelings of the indi­

vidual may be interested on the part 

of a person claiming freedom, the 

court cannot perceive any legal 

distinction between the assertion of 

this and of any other right, which 

will  justify the application of a rule 

of evidence to cases of this descrip­

tion which would be inapplicable to 

general cases in which the right to 

property may be asserted.

He quoted a “ great judge”  who stressed 

how the “ rules of evidence are of vast 

importance to all orders and degrees of 

men: our lives, our liberty, and our property 

are all concerned in support of these rules,”  
which reflect the “ wisdom of the ages[.]” 30

Marshall acknowledged hearsay rule 

exceptions that “ are said to be as old as the 

rule itself[,]”  including “ cases of pedigree, of 

prescription, of custom, and in some cases 

of boundary.”  He also referred to “ matters of 

general and public history which may be 

received without that full proof which is 

necessary for the establishment of a private 

fact.”  But he found that these exceptions did 

not apply to the hearsay evidence of Mary 

Queen’s reputed free status as the plaintiffs’ 

ancestor. He questioned the reliability of 

hearsay evidence and stated that the court 

“ was not inclined to extend the exceptions 

further than they have already been 

carried.” 31

Justice Duvall’s dissenting opinion ap­

pealed to both precedent and public policy. 

He wrote that, under Maryland law, it was:

for many years settled that on a 

petition for freedom where the 

petitioner claims from an ancestor 

who has been dead for a great 

length of time, the issue may be 

proved by hearsay evidence, if  the 

fact is of such antiquity that living  

testimony cannot be procured. 

Such was the opinion of the judges 

of the [Gjeneral Court of Mary­

land, and their decision was af­

firmed by the unanimous opinion of 

the judges of the High Court of 

Appeals in the last resort, after full  

argument by the ablest counsel at 

the bar. I think the decision was 

correct. Hearsay evidence was 

admitted upon the same principle, 

upon which it is admitted to prove a 

custom, pedigree and the bound­

aries of land; —because from the 

antiquity of the transactions to 

which these subjects may have 

reference, it is impossible to pro­

duce living testimony. To exclude 

hearsay in such cases, would leave 

the party interested without rem­

edy. It was decided also that the 

issue could not be prejudiced by the 

neglect or omission of the ancestor. 

If  the ancestor neglected to claim 

her right, the issue could not be 

bound by length of time, it being a 

natural inherent right. It appears to 

me that the reason for admitting 

hearsay evidence upon a question 

of freedom is much stronger than in 

cases of pedigree or in controver­

sies relative to the boundaries 

of land. It will be universally 

admitted that the right to freedom 

is more important than the right of 

property.32
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Du vall als o no te d that “ people of color 

from their helpless condition under the 

uncontrolled authority of a master, are entitled 

to all reasonable protection.”  He predicted that 

the majority’s decision “ cuts up by the root all 

claims of  this kind, and puts a final end to them, 

unless the claim should arise from a fact of 

recent date, and such a case will seldom, 

perhaps never, occur.” 33 Marshall reaffirmed 

the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM im a Q u e e n rule in a very brief 1816 

opinion. Duvall did not file an opinion 

dissenting from that decision affirming the 
dismissal of a freedom suit.34

Scholars have debated how best to 

understand Marshall’s decisions in these 

cases. Was he “ imposing the slaveholder’ s 

values on the hearsay rule,”  or was he “ simply 

applying the technical rules of evidence in 

accordance with the English precedents he 
cites” ?35 The answer is not clear, but Duvall’ s 

dissenting opinion suggests that he and 

Marshall may have had different slaveholder 

values. It also is unclear why M im a Q u e e n v. 

H e p b u r n was the only case in which Duvall 

filed a dissenting opinion, although he later 

dissented without an opinion in T r u s te e s o f 

D a r tm o u th C o l le g e v. W o o d w a r d .3 6 Duvall 

served on the Court during the era that 

produced the lowest percentage of dissenting 

or concurring opinions—only seven percent. 

This dissenting opinion’s singularity suggests 

how important it must have been to Duvall.37

Duvall’s Hearsay Rule 

Preva  i Is— Eventua  I ly

The Southern courts at first offered 

mixed responses to Marshall’ s hearsay rule. 

However, the majority of the reported 

decisions in freedom and manumission suits 

eventually adopted Duvall’s broader pedigree 

exception. For example, the Maryland Court 

of Appeals followed M im a Q u e e n 

and rejected evidence of the claimants’ 

maternal ancestors’ general reputation while

permitting evidence “ identifying an ancestor 

from whom the pedigree is attempted to be 
traced[.]” 38 In contrast, the Tennessee Su­

preme Court of Errors and Appeals in 

V a u g h a n v. P h e h ev > adopted Duvall’s ap­

proach. Phebe, who was bom in Virginia, 

offered proof that her mother Beck “ was 

always called an Indian by descentj.]”  

Phebe’s great grandmother Murene “ was a 

copper color,” and, it was said, she “ was 

always reputed an Indian, and was free[.]”  

Phebe also presented evidence that other 

family members won their freedom, includ­

ing her maternal aunt Tab’ s Virginia Superior 

Court freedom judgment, which was sup­

ported by proof that Tab was a descendent of 

Murene. Justice Henry Crabb’s opinion for 

the court noted that “ [sjlavery, in our sense of 

the word, is not known in England.” He 

therefore applied the hearsay rule and 

exceptions in view of the realities of slavery, 

stating that Marshall’s hearsay decisions do 

not have “ the approbation of our judgments, 

and we must dissent from them.” Accord­

ingly, Crabb held that hearsay evidence of the 

“pedigree or common reputation as to 

freedom”  of Phebe and her maternal ances­

tors was admissible, unlike hearsay “ evidence 

of several family members having recovered 

their freedom by due course of law[,]”  which 

should have been proven with court 
records.40

This broader pedigree exception was a 

mixed blessing for freedom and manumission 

suit claimants, however, because slave 

owners also used the rule to offer hearsay 

evidence of the claimants’ maternal ances­

tors’ alleged enslaved status. Charles Maho­

ney’s eleven-year freedom suit illustrates this 

point, as does the Kentucky Court of Appeals 

1839 decision in C h a n c e l lo r v. M il ly  V  The 

plaintiff  in that case was Milly,  “ apparently a 

white woman, about forty years old,” who 

had been treated as a slave from her birth. She 

filed a freedom suit, relying on her white color 

as the only evidence supporting her claim. 

The trial judge held that the defendant could
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Justice Duvall’s only dissenting opinion on the Suprem e Court, which he filed in Mima Queen v. Hepburn 

(1813), contradicted Chief Justice John Marshall's version of the hearsay rule, which Duvall believed would  

deny “reasonable protection" to “people of color.” Francis Scott Key had initiated that case in January 1810  

with  a petition  filed  with  the Circuit Court of the District of Colum bia (see above). Duvall m ust have  felt strongly 

about his dissent as he served on the Suprem e Court during the era that produced the lowest percentage of 

dissenting or concurring opinions— only seven percent.
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no t re bu t the p re s u m p tio n o f fre e do m that 

aro s e fro m Milly ’s white co lo r with he ars ay 

e vide nce o ffe re d “ to prove that, in the family 

in which she was born and reared from 

infancy, [Milly]  had ever been called and 

reputed the child of a woman of color, who 

was a slave and the property of the family.”  

The Court of Appeals opinion by Chief 

Justice George Robertson reversed a judg­

ment for Milly,  holding that the trial judge 

should have allowed the jury to hear the 

defendant’s reputation evidence because, “ [a] 

fter the lapse of forty years, such a fact would 

scarcely ever be susceptible of any other 

proof than that of reputation.” Robertson 

“perceive[d] no reason” to exclude the 

evidence “ in a suit for freedom, as well as 

in all other suits in which proof of pedigree 

becomes material.”  He also observed that the 

courts would permit reputation evidence in 

Milly ’s favor “ if  her reputed mother had been 

free; and that which she might have proved to 

create a presumption in her favor, her 

adversary should be permitted to show 

against her.” 42

The majority of the United States courts 

in other types of cases initially adopted 

Marshall’s more restrictive hearsay exception 

limiting both the scope of hearsay pedigree 

evidence and the identity of those who could 

testify, while a minority of jurisdictions, 

including some Southern states, continued to 

follow Duvall’s broader rule. Evidence law 

commentators also criticized the more re­
strictive majority rule.43 Duvall’s more 

liberal version eventually was included in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
F e d e r a l R u le s o f E v id e n c e 803(19) and 804 

(b)(4)(B), and it now is the prevailing rule 

nationwide. This is not to suggest that Duvall 

should be added to the list of the leading 

evidence law theorists. Nor does his only 

dissenting opinion rank among the most 

important in the Court’s history. Yet a 

dissenting opinion’ s significance can be 

evaluated only over time, and many dissent­

ing Justices eventually win the argument 

years in the future.44

Duvall and the Im plied Manum ission 

Doctrine

Duvall’s other slavery law opinion, L e 

G r a n d v . D a m a l l?5 also is significant because 

the Court adopted the implied manumission 

doctrine to affirm Nicholas DamalTs manu­

mission by Bennett Damall—his father and 

owner. Future Chief Justice Roger B. Taney 

was the lawyer for the appellant, Claudius F. 

Le Grand, in what one commentator called “ [p] 

robably the friendliest case decided by the 
Court... ,” 46 Bennett Damall was a member of 

a prominent family in Anne Arundel County, 

Maryland. Nicholas and his brother Henry 

were the sons of Bennett and Susanna, a slave 

owned by Bennett. Bennett’s August 4, 1810, 

will  devised seven tracts of lands to Nicholas, 

including one 596-acre parcel in a larger tract 

that was called Portland Manor. Bennett’s will 

also referred to manumission deeds that he 

executed in 1805 and in 1810, which included 

Nicholas among the slaves to be freed. (These 

deeds, however, were not exhibits in the case.) 

Bennett later signed two codicils to his will.  

The last was dated January 20, 1814, and was 

proved before the register of wills eleven days 

later. Bennett apparently died on January 23, 

1814, when Nicholas was only about ten or 
eleven years old.47

After Bennett died, Nicholas and Henry 

were sent to Pennsylvania by their then 

guardian John Mercer to study under the care 

of Benjamin Tucker, a Quaker who ran a 

school near Philadelphia. Robert Welch, as 

the later guardian for Nicholas, on July 17, 

1824, filed a petition with the Maryland 

Chancery Court seeking permission to sell 

part of Portland Manor for Nicholas because 

Nicholas did not wish to own the land, 

which was being worked by enslaved labor. 

The Chancellor appointed commissioners 

who valued the land at $13,495 (almost 

$300,000 in 2017 dollars) and recommended 

the sale. Welch was appointed trustee to sell 

the land, but the sale was not completed 

before Nicholas came of age.48
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In Duvall’s other slavery law  opinion, Le Grand v. Darnall(1829), the Court adopted the im plied m anum ission 

doctrine to affirm Nicholas Darnall’s m anum ission by Bennett Darnall— his father and owner. Above is a 

m iniature titled “Three Young Scholars Seated around a Table” : Nicholas is at left, and his brother, Henry, at 

right. In the center is Richard Bennett Darnell, their first cousin.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Afte r Nicho las achie ve d le gal age , he 

e nte re d into a co ntract o n Ap r il 26, 1826, to 

sell Portland Manor to Le Grand for $13,112, 

payable in six annual installments with 

interest. Le Grand signed notes and Nicholas 

executed a bond agreeing to transfer title 

upon payment. Le Grand also agreed to 

care for several “ old and infirm ”  slaves who 

lived on the property. In return, Nicholas 

permitted Le Grand to continue to use twelve 

named slaves for four years. Nicholas filed a 

manumission deed freeing these slaves 

effective May 4, 1830.49 Le Grand entered 

into possession under this land sale contract. 

Later, however, doubts were suggested to 

Nicholas about his title’s legality because a 

provision in a 1796 Maryland law permitted 

masters to free slaves who were “ under the 

age of forty-five years, and able to work and

gain a sufficient maintenance and livelihood, 

at the time the freedom given shall com­
mence.” 50 The Maryland Court of Appeals in 

1823, in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a m il to n v . C r a g g ,51 had interpreted 

this statute to prohibit the manumission of a 

young child. Nicholas deposited Le Grand’ s 

first $3,000 payment to be held by Benjamin 

Tucker, subject to an examination into the 

title to Portland Manor. Bennett Darnall’ s 

heir-at-law then claimed the land based on 

H a m il to n v . C r a g g and threatened to sue. 

Le Grand, further alarmed about the validity 

of his title, refused to make any more 

payments. Nicholas responded with a suit 

against Le Grand in the United States Circuit 

Court for the District of Maryland, most 

likely alleging that the Court had diversity of 

citizenship jurisdiction. Nicholas obtained a 

judgment against Le Grand for the second
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p ay m e nt. Le Grand re s p o nde d with a bill o f 

co m p laint in equity against Nicholas, which 

also was filed in the Circuit Court in 

Maryland. Le Grand obtained a preliminary 

injunction against any further proceedings at 

law by alleging that Nicholas was not more 

than ten years of  age when his father died, was 

unable to work and gain a sufficient mainte­

nance and livelihood, and thus was not free 

under Maryland’ s laws. Nicholas answered 

that he was able to work and gain a sufficient 

livelihood and maintenance when his father 

died.52

Le Grand’ s equity bill, however, sought 

to confirm Nicholas Damall’s manumission 

and Le Grand’s title. John Mercer and Robert 

Welch testified at the trial that Nicholas was 

about eleven years old when his father died. 

They said Nicholas was “ a fine, healthy, 

intelligent boy, able by his work to maintain 

himself.”  And Dr. James Stewart and Samuel 

Moore stated “ that boys of eleven in Mary­

land are able to support themselves by their 

own labour, and specified] the kind of work 

in which they may be usefully employed.” 53

The trial court found that this undisputed 

evidence confirmed that the manumission 

was valid. The court thus dissolved the 

injunction and dismissed Le Grand’ s equity 

bill. Le Grand filed an appeal to the United 

States Supreme Court, but his lawyer Taney 

“ submitted the case without argument; stat­

ing, that it had been brought up merely on 

account of its great importance to [Damall]; 

which rendered it desirable that the opinion of 

the [Sjupreme [Cjourt should be had on the 

matters in controversy.” 54 In contrast, Dar- 

nall’ s lawyer Stewart argued at length, 

stating, “ It is proper to say, that the whole 

of these proceedings have been amicable that 

Le Grand is willing  to pay if  his title is a safe 

one, and that Darnall does not wish Le Grand 

to pay unless he can make a good title to him.”  

Stewart further asserted, “ By the [Maryland] 

act of 1796, chap. 67, sec. 13, slaves may 

be manumitted in Maryland by last will;  

provided they be under forty-five years of

age, and able to work and gain a sufficient 

maintenance and livelihood; at the time the 
freedom given shall commence.” 55 He con­

tended that Nicholas was freed by Bennett’ s 

will, according to the Maryland Court of 

Appeals decision in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a l l  v . M u ll in ,5 6 which 

“ decided that a devise of property real or 

personal, by a master to his slave, entitles the 

slave to his freedom, by necessary implica­

tion.” 57 He also distinguished H a m il to n v. 

G r a g g5 5 arguing that before that decision “ it 

had been generally supposed”  that the Mary­

land statute

was intended to guard against the 

manumission of slaves who, al­

though under forty-five years of 

age, were suffering under incurable 

diseases or constitutional infirmities 

which would most probably always 

disable them from maintaining 

themselves by their own labour, 

and make them a charge upon the 

public. It had not been generally 

supposed to apply to the case of 

children for whose maintenance 

provision could perhaps always be 

made by binding them to serve as 

apprentices, and especially was 

considered inapplicable to those 

children for whose support abundant 

provision was made by the testator 

who gave the freedom.

Stewart thus concluded that the proof 

offered at trial confirmed that Nicholas 

Damall was entitled to his freedom when 
his father died.59

Duvall’s opinion affirming the Circuit 

Court’s judgment asserted that “ [f]our re­

spectable witnesses” from the neighborhood 

testified that when Bennett died “Nicholas was 

well grown, healthy and intelligent, and of 

good bodily and mental capacity: that he and 

his brother Henry could readily have found 

employment, either as house servant boys, or 

on a farm, or as apprentices; and that they were 

able to work and gain a livelihood.”
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Acco rdingly , Du vall co nclu de d that Nicho las 

late r co nve y e d go o d title to Le Grand. 

Du vall’s re as o ning co ns is ts o f his s tate m e nt 

that the Mary land Co u rt o f Ap p e als , in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a l l  v . 

M u ll in ,  “ decided, that a devise of  property real 

or personal by a master to his slave, entitles the 

slave to his freedom by necessary implication. 

This Court entertains the same opinion.” He 

also expressed no opinion “ as to the correct­

ness of the decision of the court of appeals in 

the case of Hamilton vs. Cragg. It is unneces­

sary in reference to the case under consider­

ation.” 60 Duvall thus validated Bennett 

Damall’s manumission of Nicholas Damall.

With his title confirmed, Le Grand later 

sold Portland Manor and in 1836 moved to 

Louisiana, where he became a wealthy 
planter and slave owner.61 In that year the 

Court applied Duvall’s pro-manumission 

approach to the age limits in Maryland’s 

1796 act and affirmed a judgment enforcing a 

manumission deed freeing Sarah Ann Allen 

and her two young children. Justice James M. 

Wayne’ s opinion held that the children’ s 

manumission did not offend the statute’ s 

purpose because Allen was “ able, by her 
labour [sic], to maintain her offspring^]” 62

The Southern Courts Reject Im plied 

Manum ission

Duvall’ s endorsement of the implied 

manumission doctrine is significant because 

this doctrine permitted lawmakers and judges 

to express in their actions any inclinations 

they had in favor of liberty when they 

interpreted ambiguous evidence of the mas­

ters’ intentions to free their slaves. Roman 

law by the time of Justinian in 531 A.D. 

applied this doctrine of implied or tacit 

manumission to free slaves, as did the 

thirteenth-century Spanish law L a s S ie te 
P a r t id a s and the 1685 French C o d e N o ir .6 3 

Nevertheless, no statute in the Southern 

United States enacted this rule. In their 

decisions, the Southern courts also refused

to favor freedom over slavery by applying 

this doctrine in doubtful cases, holding 

instead that “ [a] slave cannot take by descent, 
there being no inheritable blood.” 64 Even the 

Louisiana Civil Code, following the 1724 

C o d e N o ir that was adopted for Louisiana, 

stated that a master’s intention to free a slave 

by will  “ must be express and formal, and shall 

not be implied by any other circumstances of 

the testament, such as a legacy, an institution 

of heir, testamentary executorship or other 

dispositions of this nature, which in such 

case, shall be considered as if  they had not 

been made.” 65

A close reading of H a l l  v . M u ll in  also 

suggests that Duvall was not hostile to 

manumission because he may indeed have 

extended its holding interpreting the same 

Maryland law that was at issue in L e G r a n d . 

Henry L. Hall’s 1817 will bequeathed to 

Dolly Mullin  two young slaves named Joan 

and Aaron and a life tenancy in 141 acres of 

land, with the remainder after Dolly ’ s death to 

go to her son Henry Mullin and his heirs. 

Hall’ s will mentioned by name his other 

slaves, whom he devised to other named 

beneficiaries, and it contained a residuary 

clause declaring that Hall set “ all the 

remainder part of my negroes free.” Hall 

apparently believed that Dolly was free when 

he wrote his will  because, in 1810, he had sold 

Dolly to her father, Basil, who a month later 

executed Dolly’s manumission deed. Hall 

also believed that the 1803 will  of his father 

Benjamin Hall had freed “ my carpenter, 

called old Basil.” But Basil was older than 

forty-five when Benjamin Hall died. If  Basil 

remained a slave, he could not buy and then 
free Dolly.66 The Maryland Court of Appeals 

majority opinion by Judge John Johnson 

nonetheless held that Henry Hall’ s will  freed 

Dolly because Henry intended “ that none of 

his slaves should remain slaves after his 

death, other than those he named and 
bequeathed as slaves[.]” 67 Johnson also 

declared that “ without the aid of the residuary 

clause [Dolly]  would have a right to freedom,
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u nde r tho s e p arts o f the will by which 

p ro p e r ty was give n to her; her freedom by 

implication is indispensably necessary to give 

efficacy to those clauses of the will. ”  Chief 

Judge Jeremiah Chase’s concurring opinion 

stated: “ The testator imagined Dolly  was free; 

she was not free, but a slave, at the time the 

will  was made, and being a slave, the will 

operated to give her freedom, and the lands 
devised to her.” 68

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a l!  holding, therefore, was based, 

at least in part, on Henry L. Hall’ s mistaken 

belief that Basil was legally freed or on the 

effect of the residuary manumission clause in 

Henry’s will. The judges also may have 

been more willing  to award freedom claims 

than other slave state judges who rejected the 

implied manumission doctrine because it was 

contrary to law or public policy. The one 

exception is the dictum in South Carolina 

Justice John B. O’Neall’s opinion in G u i l­

le m e tte v . H a r p e r ,6 9 which endorsed the 

implied manumission doctrine. This was 

not a freedom or manumission suit, although 

it involved the interpretation of the will  of 

Edward Quinn, a native of Ireland, whose 

slaves included Patrick E. Quinn. As in H a l l , 

Edward’s devise of property to Patrick was 

not the only evidence supporting the conclu­

sion that he intended to free Patrick. The other 

South Carolina cases decided before and after 

G u i l le m e tte held that bequests to slaves 
were void.70 O’Neall, moreover, was unique 

among Southern antebellum judges because 

he resisted the anti-manumission trend. 

He even published a book calling for slave 

law reforms— including liberal manumission 

laws—which he thought would best protect 

and defend slavery.71

Duvall, Taney, and Dred Scott

Duvall’s L e G r a n d opinion endorsing the 

implied manumission doctrine, like the dicta 

in H a l l and G u i l le m e tte , was a “ decided 

novelty” in the U.S. Southern slavery law.72

Duvall also did not question the Circuit 

Court’s diversity of citizenship jurisdiction 

under article 3, section 2 of the United States 

Constitution, which extends the federal 

judicial power “ to Controversies . .. between 

Citizens of different States.” Indeed, Nich­

olas Darnell’ s right as a Pennsylvania citizen 

to sue Maryland citizen Claudius Le Grand in 

federal court was the foundation for the 

“ friendly” rulings in law and equity that 

resulted in what in today’s practice would be 

a declaratory judgment establishing the 

parties’ rights under the Maryland statute 

and their agreement. Le Grand’ s equity bill  

implicitly  admitted that Damall was a citizen 

of another state against whom Le Grand had a 

controversy that could be adjudicated in the 
federal courts.73 Although no reported deci­

sion had explicitly held that free blacks could 

file diversity suits in the federal courts, L e 

G r a n d v . D a m a l l was not the first antebellum 

interracial federal diversity case. In 1793, 

Peter Elkay, an African American from 

Stockbridge, Massachusetts, had successfully 

sued two white Connecticut defendants who 

kidnapped Elkay’ s daughters. Stanton D. 

Krauss noted that many newspapers reported 

Elkay’ s $250 judgment, but Krauss found no 

evidence that members of the founding 

generation publicly criticized the federal 

court’s exercise of interracial diversity 
jurisdiction.74

In contrast, Le Grand’ s lawyer Taney, 

later as Chief Justice, closed the federal 

courthouse door to African-Americans when, 

in his S c o tt v. S a n d fo r d1 5 opinion, he included 

a section declaring that the founding genera­

tion intended to exclude African Americans 

from United States citizenship. Montgomery 

Blair, a well-connected Missouri free-soil 

Democrat who represented the Scotts before 

the Supreme Court, had cited the L e G r a n d 

decision and Taney’s participation as Le 

Grand’ s counsel to support the Scotts’ right to 

sue in diversity for their freedom. This 

argument no doubt prompted Taney to 

explain at some length why he believed he
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was no t be ing inco ns is te nt whe n he de nie d 

the r ight to s u e u nde r the co ns titu tio n’ s 

dive rs ity ju r is dictio n clau s e to e ns lave d 

litigants like Dre d Sco tt and his fam ily and 

to fre e p e o p le who s e ance s to rs we re im p o rte d 
in the Afr ican s lave trade .76 Taney foreshad­

owed his interpretation in legal opinions that 

he authored in 1832 while serving as Andrew 

Jackson’s Attorney General, and Taney 

repeated these views in an 1840 opinion for 

the Circuit Court for the District of 

Maryland.77

Conclusion

When Gabriel Duvall resigned from the 

Supreme Court, he sent a January 15, 1835 

letter that is lost to history; this epitomizes 

his relative obscurity as a Justice. John 

Marshall’ s reply letter, which was not 

published in full until 2006, expressed his 

“ regret at the separation that has taken 

place[.]”  Marshall offered some insight into 

Duvall’s personality by acknowledging “ the 

cordiality with which we have proceeded 

together in the performance of our official 

duties, and the fidelity with which you have 

discharged the part which has devolved to 

you,” while praising Duvall’s “private vir­
tues, and the purity of [his] public life .... ” 78 

After Duvall died in 1844, Joseph Story 

remembered Duvall’s “ irbanity [sic], his 

courtesy, his gentle manner, his firm  integrity 

and undependence [sic], and his sound 

judgment,”  although not his contributions to 
the Court’ s body of precedent.79 Like most of 

the Justices of his day, Duvall, who filed 

few opinions, played a supporting role to 

Marshall. Yet Duvall’s two Supreme Court 

slavery opinions provided enslaved litigants 

with potential legal pathways to freedom. 

“ These are not bad opinions to be remem­
bered by.” 80

Duvall’ s work as a lawyer and his 

slavery law judicial opinions pose interesting 

contrasts to the actions and views of his

fellow Maryland slave owners Francis Scott 

Key and Roger B. Taney. Duvall’s advocacy 

for Charles Mahoney and Ned Queen was a 

model for Key, whose many cases for 

enslaved litigants included a successful 

1828 freedom suit that Key filed against 

Duvall on behalf of a family of Duvall’s own 
slaves.81 Duvall never publicly condemned 

slavery, unlike Key, who called slavery “ a 

great moral and political evil amongst us”  and 

said that “ duty, honor and interest call upon us 

to prepare the way for its removal.”  But Key 

made these statements while prosecuting 

Reuben Crandall for “ publishing libels tend­

ing to excite sedition among [Washington’s] 
slaves and free colored persons ... .” 82 While 

Duvall was a Justice, Key argued before the 

Supreme Court for the liberation and return to 

Africa of the alleged slaves found aboard the 
slave ship WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA n te lo p e *3 John Noonan called 

Duvall the Justice with “ the smallest reputa­

tion”  among those who decided the A n te lo p e 

case, but he cited Duvall’s M im a Q u e e n 

dissenting opinion to support his suggestion 

that Duvall was one of the three Justices who 

adopted Key’ s argument that the Africans 

claimed as slaves were presumed to be free 

people, thus requiring the claimants to prove 
their alleged ownership.84 Key also testified 

before a congressional committee advocating 

legislation to prevent the kidnapping of 

free blacks into slavery, but he opposed 

slavery’s immediate abolition and supported 

the colonization in Africa of free African 

Americans.85

Taney alone among the three freed all of 

his slaves during his lifetime, excluding those 

whom he contended could not provide for 

themselves. Moreover, in 1818, while success­

fully  defending Reverend Jacob Gruber on the 

charge of conspiracy to raise a slave insurrec­

tion, Taney called slavery an “ evil” to be 
“gradually, wiped away[.]” 86 But Taney also 

supported colonization. And his D r e d S c o tt 

opinion later declared that all free and enslaved 

African Americans were people without rights 

under the United States Constitution.
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In co ntras t, Du vall e xp re s s e d no re s e rvatio ns 

whe n the fe de ral co u r ts e xe rcis e d dive rs ity o f 

citize ns hip ju r is dictio n to e s tablis h Nicho las 

Dam all’s le gal r ights as a m ixe d race Unite d 

State s citize n. This p e rm its u s to wo nde r 

whe the r Du vall wo u ld have dis s e nte d fro m 

Tane y’ s o p inio n de ny ing this le gal r ight to 

Afr ican Am e r icans , as he dis s e nte d whe n he 

tho u ght that Jo hn Mars hall de nie d “ reasonable 
protection”  to “ people of color.” 87
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G A R Y  P E T E R S O NtsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In what has be co m e kno wn as an WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA l le n 

charge , a tr ial ju dge ge ts to u gh with ju ro rs 

who be lie ve the y canno t agre e . Ju ro rs in the 

m ino r ity are to ld to re co ns ide r whe the r the ir 

vie ws are s o u nd, give n the gre ate r nu m be r o f 

ju ro rs array e d agains t the m . De live re d with 

the r ight e m p has is and to ne , s u ch an 

ins tru ctio n can bre ak a ju ry de adlo ck. The 

A l le n charge gains its nam e fro m A l le n v . 

U n ite d S ta te s ,1 an 1896 Supreme Court 

opinion that upheld such a charge. Nearly a 

century later, the Court praised the A l le n 

opinion’ s reasoning as “ beyond dispute.” 2 

Today, the A l le n charge remains a staple of 

modem federal trial practice.

Yet there was more to Allen’ s case than 

the A l le n charge. Alexander Allen was a poor 

black teenager convicted of murder. He was 

one of many whom the federal court in Fort 

Smith, Arkansas, sentenced to hang. After a 

harrowing series of trials and appeals, Allen 

ended up in the Supreme Court, sentenced to 

die, with no lawyer to represent him. By the 

1890s, the Court had spent over a century 

deciding cases brought to it by lawyers. It 

now faced a new kind of appeal, brought by 

condemned prisoners who, like Allen, were 

too poor to hire a lawyer. This paper explores

how Allen’s case unfolded, and how the 

Supreme Court handled his appeals.

A Shooting in Farm Country

Alexander Allen was fifteen years old 

and black. During the spring of 1892, he ran 

away from his home and family in Kansas and 

spent three weeks living and working on a 

farm on the edge of Indian Territory. The 

farm, near Coffeyville, Kansas, was tended 

by William Marks, a former slave.3 Two 

white boys, George and Willie  Erne, lived on 

the farm next to the Marks place. A third 

white boy, Phillip Henson, lived nearby. 

Henson was eighteen years old. George Erne 

was fifteen, and his brother Willie was 
thirteen.4

One Saturday morning in May, William  

Marks hitched up a wagon and went to town 

with a load of hay. He left Allen in charge of 

the farm. As Allen was doing chores in the 

farmyard, Henson and the Ernes approached. 

Each of the white boys carried a long stick.5 

In the exchange that followed, Allen drew a 

pistol and fired several shots. Henson was hit 

in the side and back, and died within minutes.
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Alexander Allen was a black teenager convicted of m urder who was too poor to hire a lawyer. The Suprem e 

Court’s 1896 decision in his case upheld the right of a trial judge to adm onish jurors in the m inority to 

reconsider their views. In what has becom e known as an Allen charge, such an instruction can be used to 

break a jury deadlock.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Ge o rge Erne was hit o nce in the arm . Alle n 

fle d bu t was arre s te d in a ne arby Kans as to wn 

late r that day . The re was s o m e talk o f 

ly nching Alle n, bu t no thing cam e o f it.6

During each of  Allen’s trials, the govern­

ment’s main witnesses were the two Erne 

boys. They recalled walking to a nearby 

fishing lake with Henson that Saturday. As 

the boys neared the Marks farm, they saw 

Allen, whom they barely knew. Allen told 

them to halt, hit Henson in the face with his 

fist, and then began shooting at them without 
provocation.7

During the same trials, the defense called 

two black boys, Harvey Marks and his older 

brother James. Harvey was age twelve when 

the shooting happened, and James was 

thirteen. Both worked on the Marks farm 

with Allen, and told a much different story.8 

James Marks described hunting for some 

escaped horses with Allen a few days before 

the shooting. The pair met up with Henson 

and the Ernes on Vinegar Creek, near the 

Marks farm. When Allen asked the white 

boys what they were doing there, Henson 

responded that they were “ killing God

damned niggers.” Allen asked the white 

boys where to cross the creek but chose not 

to cross where Henson wanted them to. In 

response, Henson spewed out curses and 

threats and hurled clubs at the black boys. 

They parted company with an ominous 

promise from Henson to “ settle this” with 
Allen the next weekend.9

On Saturday, Harvey Marks was working 

with Allen at the Marks farm. Not long after 

William Marks left for town, Henson and the 

Ernes showed up in the Marks farmyard, armed 

with sticks. Henson told Allen that he had 

“ come to kill  a damned nigger.” Henson and 

George Eme then began beating Allen with 

their sticks. As the beating continued, Allen 

produced a pistol and shot both Henson and 

George Eme. The younger Eme boy, Willie, 
though carrying a stick, was not harmed.10

Allen was not kin to the Marks family. 

He was just a hired hand who stopped to work 

at their place for a few weeks before 
continuing his travels.11 Because they hardly 

knew Allen, members of the Marks family 

had little reason to lie for his benefit. The Eme 

boys, on the other hand, had been in the
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m iddle o f the e xchange that re s u lte d in 

He ns o n’s de ath. If  the y he lp e d to p ro vo ke 

the s ho o ting, the y had go o d re as o n fo r try ing 

to hide the ir invo lve m e nt.

A ke y is s u e was whe re the s ho o tings 

o ccu rre d. The Erne bo y s te s tifie d that the  

s ho o tings hap p e ne d in the m iddle o f a whe at 

fie ld o n the ir farm , ju s t o ve r a fe nce fro m the 

ne ighbo r ing Marks p lace . Harve y Marks , o n 

the o the r hand, te s tifie d that the s ho o ting 

o ccu rre d in the y ard o f the Marks farm , whe re 

Alle n live d and wo rke d.12 If  the Marks boys 

were believed, Allen shot in response to a 

vicious attack fed by race hatred. His crime, if  

there was one, was probably manslaughter. 

On the other hand, if  the Erne boys were 

believed, Allen was guilty of murder.

Allen ’s First Trial

Prosecution Begins in the Parker Court. 

Because the shootings happened within Indian 

Territory, they were subj ect to federal criminal 

law. The United States Circuit Court for the 

Western District of Arkansas, sitting in Fort 

Smith, had jurisdiction over Allen’s case. The 

sole resident judge in the Fort Smith district 

was Isaac C. Parker, the famed hanging judge 

of western lore. Parker’s jurisdiction included 

a large swath of Indian Territory, where law 

enforcement was thin and violent crime 

commonplace. With no local courts to prose­

cute these crimes, those charged were brought 
to Fort Smith for trial.13

Fort Smith was a raw border city on the 

western edge of Arkansas. Sitting at the 

gateway to Indian Territory, the city was 

filled with hotels, saloons, and lawyers. All  

owed much of their business to Parker’ s 

court. Parker kept up with a huge and ever- 

increasing caseload by holding court six days 

a week, often late into the night. He spent 

about one-third of his time in the courtroom 

presiding over jury trials for murder.14 Parker 

was a judicial celebrity of the day, probably 

better known to the public than members of

the Supreme Court. Stories of crime and 

punishment from his court ran regularly in 

newspapers across the country, often with a 

box score of the judge’s record-setting 

numbers of death sentences and executions. 

In Fort Smith, the judge’ s door was always 
open to reporters.15

In June 1892, Allen was transferred from 

Kansas to the crowded federal jail in Fort 

Smith. Due to the court’s crush of criminal 

business, Allen’ s case did not reach a grand 

jury for another five months. He was finally 

indicted for murder in November 1892. It 

took Parker another two and one-half months 

to receive Allen’ s plea of not guilty.16

Defense Counsel Is Named and the 

Trial Begins. Most of those charged with 

capital crimes in Parker’s court were able to 

hire lawyers. For those who could not do so, 

federal law guaranteed them court-appointed 

counsel. Parker spread these appointments 

among the Fort Smith bar’s criminal practi­

tioners, often naming multiple lawyers to a 

single case. Appointed lawyers received no 

pay for their work.17

With no money for a lawyer, Allen 

asked Parker to appoint him one. In 

response, the judge named C.J. Frederick 

of Fort Smith to the case. A Mississippi 

native, Frederick was forty-three years old, 

with seventeen years of legal experience. He 

graduated from the one-year law program at 

Tennessee’s Cumberland University in 1876 

and launched his law practice in Ripley, 

Mississippi, the same year. During the early 

1880s, Frederick served a term in the 

Mississippi legislature and another term as 

county school superintendent.18

In 1887, Frederick moved from Mis­

sissippi to Fort Smith, to share in the bonanza 

of legal work that Parker’s court brought to 

the city. Frederick specialized in criminal 

cases, and his peers rated his legal ability as 

first class. He defended his first murder case 

in Parker’s court in 1889 and won an 

acquittal. His competent work brought him 

more clients. In 1892, the year before Allen’ s
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firs t tr ial, Fre de r ick tr ie d s e ve n m u rde r cas e s 

to ju r ie s in the Fo rt Sm ith fe de ral co u r t.19 

Allen was fortunate to get a lawyer of such 

skill.

Parker scheduled Allen’s first trial for 

February 10, 1893, just ten days after 

appointing Frederick. The lawyer moved 

quickly to secure subpoenas for four mem­

bers of the Marks family. All  appeared as 

defense witnesses at the trial. Allen himself 

testified as well, and said that he acted in self- 

defense.20 After two days of testimony, 

Parker began the phase of the trial that is 

most closely identified with his unique style 

of judging: the jury charge. In his charge, 

Parker spoke directly to jurors and told them 

about the law that would govern their 

deliberations.

The Parker Jury Charges. One striking 

feature of Judge Parker’ s jury charges was 

their extraordinary length. The typical Parker 

murder charge was five times the length of the 

murder charges given by other federal judges

of the day.21 Parker might need two hours or 

more to deliver such a charge orally. While 

other judges were content to simply list the 

elements of murder and manslaughter for 

jurors, Parker preferred to illustrate these 

legal principles with extended discussions of 

past murder cases from other courts in both 

the United States and England. Parker 

brought his points home with lengthy 

quotations from legal treatises and appellate 

court opinions. Rather than provide jurors 

with a single definition of a term like “ malice 

aforethought,” Parker would offer them a 
half-dozen different definitions.22

But the Parker jury charges were not just 

long: they were also strongly slanted toward 

the prosecution. Parker liked to remind jurors 

about specific facts of the case they had just 

heard, often repeatedly and at length. But the 

only facts that Parker ever mentioned were 

those that favored the prosecution’ s theory of 

the case. In many cases, Parker’s jury charge 
was virtually an argument for conviction.23
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While Parke r’s charge s warm ly e m brace d the  

p ro s e cu tio n’s p ro o f, e vide nce fro m the de­

fense was another matter. If a defendant 

testified, Parker questioned whether anyone on 

trial for murder could be believed. If a 

defendant called alibi witnesses, Parker would 

remind the jury about how often alibis were 

procured by fraud. If  the defense called an 

expert witness, Parker would denounce such 

witnesses as paid charlatans. And character 

witnesses called by the defense always drew 
special scorn from Judge Parker.24 No matter 

what the defense, the judge was always ready 

to belittle it in his charge.

Assistant Attorney General Edward 

Whitney represented the government in 

more appeals from Parker’s court than 

anyone else. As Whitney saw it, Parker was 

biased and bloodthirsty. In an internal Justice 

Department memorandum, Whitney wrote 

that Parker “ seems to have deemed it his duty 

to stop anarchy in the Indian Territory by 

hanging as many residents of that Territory as 

he can, and therefore to strain every point 

against the prisoner and give him as little 

benefit of the law as possible. It also seems to 

be a matter of pride to convict the prisoner.” 25

Judge Parker and Self-Defense. The 

“ bloody wilds of the Indian country,” as 
the judge termed them,26 were places where 

many carried firearms, and shootings were 

frequent. Claims of self-defense were made in 

over half of the homicide cases eventually 

appealed from Parker’ s court. The judge’ s 

starting point on self-defense was the English 

common law, which was not always receptive 

to such claims. That law, developed long 

before repeating firearms, assumed that one 

faced with danger could often avoid it, if  only 

by running away. But such antiquated 

doctrine was a poor match for conditions 

within Indian Territory, where death could 
follow instantly from a hail of gunfire.27

Parker embroidered the English common 

law with various refinements of his own 

making, all working against the accused. For 

example, a killing  that was too brutal would

not qualify for self-defense. Self-defense was 

available only to men who were good, and not 

to those who were bad. An accused’ s 

testimony, standing alone, was not enough 

to show self-defense. Threats by the deceased, 

rather than showing a reason for defending 

oneself, could be proof of the accused’s spite 
and ill  will. 28 In Parker’s court, evidence of 

self-defense could easily transmute into proof 

of murder.

Solicitor General Holmes Conrad was 

the lawyer who represented the government 

in each of Allen’s appeals. Conrad privately 

confided that Parker’s jury charges on self- 

defense were “ wrong in their whole structure 

from beginning to end.” According to 

Conrad, Parker’s ideas about self-defense 

were the product of “ mediaeval doctrines,”  
rather than modern-day law.29

The Verdict. Parker’s charge to Allen’s 

jury included a standard discussion of the 

elements of self-defense.30 The tone and 

balance of the charge was relatively mild 

when compared to Parker’ s more typical 

output. The judge may well have entertained 

some doubts as to Allen’s guilt. With the jurors 

charged, Parker sent them off to deliberate. 

They returned the next day with a verdict 

finding Allen guilty of murder. But they 

qualified their verdict with a request for mercy, 

asking both the judge and the President to 
spare Allen’ s life, “ owing to his age.” 31

Death was the only possible punishment 

for murder at the time. Neither judge nor jury 

had discretion to impose any lesser 

sentence.32 With no authority to grant mercy, 

Parker sentenced Allen to hang. Frederick 

responded by filing the papers needed to 

launch an appeal of Allen’s conviction to the 
Supreme Court.33

The New Right of Appeal for the 

Condem ned

When Allen was sentenced in 1893, an 

appeal was still a relatively new step under
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fe de ral law. Fo r o ve r a ce ntu ry , no ap p e al had 

be e n p o s s ible fo r tho s e co nvicte d o f fe de ral 

cr im e s in circu it co u r ts . This change d in 

1889, when Congress first allowed appeals to 

the Supreme Court by those sentenced to 

die.34 The 1889 legislation had been spon­

sored by the Arkansas congressional delega­

tion and was squarely aimed at the 

uncomfortably large number of death sen­

tences coming from Parker’s court. The 

appeals went straight to the Supreme Court, 

bypassing the courts of appeal set up by 
Congress in 1891.35 While Parker remained 

on the bench, the lion’s share of the new 

federal capital appeals, over seventy percent, 

would originate in his district.

This new class of appeals presented the 

Court with few of the constitutional questions 

that would occupy so much of its docket in 

decades to come. Instead, the cases involved 

the kinds of practical problems that judges 

and lawyers faced in capital trials of the day: 

matters of criminal law, trial procedure, and 

evidence. The right of self-defense was one 

such issue, but there were many others. With 

few criminal law precedents of its own, the 

Court had much to decide.

The Suprem e Court and Judge Parker

The Court that would hear Allen’s appeal 

enjoyed a remarkable degree of unanimity on 

the headline issues of the day. Its Justices 

were deeply conservative and were ardent 

defenders of property rights, freedom of 

contract, and limited government. Often, 

their decisions favored business and the 
wealthy.36 But these Justices often found 

themselves divided on the capital cases that 

reached them from Parker’s court.

Justice David J. Brewer was Parker’s 

staunchest defender on the Court. Like 

Parker, Brewer was a Republican. He arrived 

at the Supreme Court with fifteen years of 

experience as a trial judge in Kansas. He had 

known Parker while serving as circuit judge

for the Eighth Circuit, which included 

Arkansas. Parker enthusiastically endorsed 

Brewer for elevation to the Supreme Court, 

and then launched his own aggressive bid to 

succeed Brewer as circuit judge.37 As federal 

circuit judges heard high-dollar civil cases 

involving railroads, corporations, and banks, 

Parker, with his focus on murder and hanging, 

may not have seemed the ideal match for such 

a position. Brewer did not reciprocate 

Parker’ s support, someone else succeeded 

Brewer as circuit judge, and Parker stayed 

behind in Fort Smith.38

On the economic issues that filled much 

of its docket, Brewer was one of the Court’s 

leaders. He wrote key opinions in such fields 

as labor, antitrust and state business regula­

tion.39 But in the area of criminal justice, 

Brewer fell decidedly out of the Court’s 

mainstream, to a degree verging on eccen­

tricity. Brewer hated the idea of appeals in 

criminal cases, and urged their abolition in his 

writings and speeches. He believed that such 

appeals delayed justice, encouraged crime 

and endangered the public. In appeals from 

Parker’ s court, his voting usually reflected 

these attitudes. According to vote tallies kept 

by one Justice, Brewer voted to reverse 

Parker in only three of the thirty-four capital 

cases on which he sat, for a reversal rate just 
under nine percent.40

Justice Henry B. Brown, from Michigan, 

had been Brewer’s undergraduate classmate 

at Yale. Like Brewer, Brown was relatively 

young, a Republican, and an experienced trial 

judge. Also like Brewer, Brown thought that 

criminal appeals frustrated justice and led to 

lynchings. But while Brown usually sup­

ported Parker, his support was less categori­

cal than Brewer’s. In twenty-seven percent of 

the capital appeals in which he participated, 

Brown voted to reverse Parker. Brown wrote 

more opinions for the Court in criminal cases 

from Parker’s court than any other Justice: ten 

in all.41

Justice Rufus W. Peckham, a Democrat, 

joined the Court in early 1896, late in the
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The Suprem e Court (pictured in 1894) would reverse nearly seventy percent of the capital convictions com ing 
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Co u rt’s Parke r e ra. A  Ne w Yo rke r , Pe ckham 

had e xp e r ie nce as a p ro s e cu to r , tr ial ju dge , 

and ap p e llate ju dge . Alo ng with Bre we r, he 

was o ne o f the Co u rt’ s inte lle ctu al s tars , who 

wo u ld au tho r m any o f its m o s t im p o rtant 

o p inio ns . In Parke r cas e s , Pe ckham p ro ve d a 

s o lid ally fo r Bre we r and Bro wn, vo ting to 

re ve rs e in o nly e ighte e n p e rce nt o f cap ital 
ap p e als .42

Four older Justices were far more 

skeptical about Parker and his judging. The 

leader of this group was Justice George 

Shiras, Jr., a Republican who voted to reverse 

Parker in over seventy-six percent of his 

capital cases. Before joining the Court, Shiras 

had been a successful lawyer for business 

interests in Pittsburgh. His friends included 

steel magnate Andrew Carnegie, a mover 

behind Shiras’s appointment to the Court. 

Although Shiras had not served as a trial

judge, he seemed to hold higher expectations 

for trial courts than many of his colleagues. 

For Shiras, Parker’ s judging often failed to 
pass muster.43

Shiras was usually joined by the Court’ s 

three most senior members, Stephen J. Field, 

John Marshall Harlan, and Horace Gray. 

Field was a Democrat, while Harlan and Gray 

were Republicans. In capital cases, these 

veteran appellate jurists voted to reverse 

Parker about sixty-five percent of the time. 

Although Field was Brewer’s uncle, their 

kinship seldom produced agreement in cases 
from Parker’s court.44

Chief Justice Melville W. Fuller and 

Justice Edward D. White, both Democrats, 

were most likely to tip the balance between 

affirmance and reversal in the Court’s Parker 

cases. The Shiras group was often, but not 

always, able to attract one or more of their
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vo te s and fo rm a m ajo r ity fo r re ve rs al. Be fo re 

jo ining the Co u rt, Fu lle r had be e n a bu s ine s s 

lawy e r in Chicago . White , the y o u nge s t o f the 

Ju s tice s and a fu tu re Chie f Ju s tice , had be e n a 

Unite d State s Se nato r fro m Lo u is iana. Ne ithe r 

had be e n a tr ial ju dge . In cap ital ap p e als , Fu lle r 

vo te d to re ve rs e Parke r fifty -o ne p e rce nt o f the 

tim e , while White’ s re ve rs al vo ting rate  
ap p ro ache d fifty -e ight p e rce nt.45

Ultimately, the Court would reverse 

nearly seventy percent of the capital con­

victions coming from Parker’s court. Doubts 

about the guilt of the condemned, and the 

fairness of the trial, seemed to drive many of 

these reversals, even though the Court’ s 

opinions would often assign other reasons 

for these outcomes.

Allen ’s First Appeal

Volunteer Counsel. The Justices 

seemed to pay more attention to the merits 

of their Parker cases than to the mechanics of 

how these cases reached them. Advocacy 

before the Court was a particular problem, 

because none of those appealing could afford 
lawyers.46 Would these prisoners receive 

lawyers and, if  so, where would they come 

from? For the first few years of the new 

appeal system, the Justices had little need to 

address this issue. Trial lawyers usually 

stepped forward to continue representing 

their condemned clients on appeal, even 

though no statute required them to do so. But 

appeal work by these lawyers was strictly a 

matter of charity, and such charity was bound 

to find limits.

Like most of his Fort Smith colleagues, 

C.J. Frederick volunteered to continue rep­

resenting his client on his first trip to the 

Supreme Court. But Frederick faced a 

problem in pursuing Allen’s appeal: he was 

not a member of the Supreme Court’s bar. 

Only members of that bar could represent 

clients in the Supreme Court. While bar 

membership was open to any licensed lawyer

with at least three years experience, admis­

sion required a trip to Washington and 

attendance at a formal Court session. Few 

lawyers practicing on the western frontier had 

the time or resources to take these steps, 

particularly for a charity client.47

A measure of help came from Augustus 

Garland, a Washington lawyer and former 

United States Senator and Attorney General. 

Garland offered to lend his name as Supreme 

Court counsel to the condemned prisoners 

appealing from Parker’s court. Garland’ s 

involvement would be limited to use of his 

name, however. The actual legal work for the 

appeal would be done by the trial lawyer back 

in Fort Smith. Frederick and several other 

Fort Smith lawyers took Garland up on his 
offer.48

In Allen’s appeal, Frederick prepared an 

eight-page brief under Garland’s name, had it 

printed, and sent twenty-five copies to the 

Supreme Court in Washington. The brief 

cited no court decisions or legal authorities 

and made only the sparest of legal arguments, 

but it did provide the relevant facts of Allen’ s 

case and alerted the Court that Allen was 

challenging Parker’s jury charge on self- 

defense.49

The government’ s response brief, with 

detailed arguments and case citations, was a 

far more polished and scholarly product than 

Frederick’s. It was prepared by Holmes 

Conrad, then an Assistant Attorney General. 

Conrad regretted the “ turgid and somewhat 

sophomoric rhetoric”  of Parker’s jury charge, 

but contended that it was nonetheless legally 

sound.511

The Conference Vote. When the Supreme 

Court called Allen’s appeal for argument on 

November 16, 1893, its Bench was two 

members short. Justice Blatchford had died 

the summer before, and his seat was still 

vacant. Justice Harlan was also absent. No 

lawyer appeared to argue either side of Allen’ s 

case, and it was submitted on the printed briefs 

and record of what had transpired in the trial 

court.51
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Ju s tice Har lan s ho we d u p at the Co u rt’ s 

Satu rday co nfe re nce and vo te d o n Alle n’ s 

cas e . The initial p o ll o f the Ju s tice s p ro du ce d 

a tie . Chie f Ju s tice Fu lle r and Ju s tice s Fie ld, 

Har lan, and Shiras favo re d re ve rs al, while 

Ju s tice s Gray , Bre we r, Bro wn, and Jacks o n 

favo re d affirm ance . Ju s tice Gray s hifte d his 

vo te afte r the tie was anno u nce d, p ro du cing 

five vo te s fo r re ve rs al. Alle n wo u ld have 

ano the r tr ial.

The First Allen Opinion. Chie f Ju s tice 

Fu lle r wro te the Co u rt’s firs t WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA l le n o p inio n, 

which o p e ne d by cr iticizing Parke r’s charge 

o n the age o f cr im inal re s p o ns ibility . Parke r 

to ld Alle n’ s ju ry that a child be co m e s 

p re s u m p tive ly re s p o ns ible fo r his cr im e s at 

age e le ve n. In fact, the co rre ct age o f 

acco u ntability was fo u r te e n. The Co u rt 

de cline d to re s t its ru ling o n this e rro r , 

ho we ve r, be cau s e it fo u nd a m o re s e r io u s flaw 

in Parke r’ s charge o n s e lf-de fe ns e .52

Parker had opened his self-defense 

charge with a rhetorical question. He asked 

about when a man might sit as a judge passing 

on the law, a jury passing on the facts, and an 

executioner carrying out a decision. He then 

answered that question with his standard 

instructions on self-defense. The Court’ s 

opinion found no fault in Parker’ s answer, 

but ruled that his question required reversal. 

According to the Court, Parker’ s question 

might have led jurors to believe that one 

claiming self-defense must act with the same 

deliberation as a judge or juror in a trial.53 

Those under deadly attack must sometimes 

make quick decisions about how to respond. 

As the A l le n opinion noted, those decisions 

must be made far more swiftly than those 

faced by a judge or jury. Parker’s rhetorical 

reference to judge and jury was unnecessary 

and, considered in isolation, perhaps confus­

ing. But no one found fault with Parker’ s 

separate description of the elements of self- 

defense, so Allen’s jury may not have been 

misled.

Justice Brewer wrote a short dissenting 

opinion that Justice Brown joined. According

to Brewer, the references in Parker’ s charge 

to the roles of judge, jury, and executioner 

were “ strictly and accurately true.”  Because 

the charge required no “ period of long 

deliberation”  for self-defense, it was legally 

sound. Brewer added that it was “morally 

certain” that the Erne boys were telling the 

truth, and that Allen and the Marks boys were 

lying. Because Allen was guilty of murder, in 

Brewer’s view, there was no reason to 
reverse his conviction.54 Brewer seems right 

in his textual analysis of Parker’s charge on 

self-defense, even though it failed to per­

suade the Court’s majority. Brewer was 

wrong, however, in his insistence on the 

Ernes’ truthfulness. It was for jurors, not 

Justices, to decide whom to believe. In a fair 

trial, a jury might well conclude that 

members of the Marks family were more 

believable.

Allen ’s Second Trial

Allen’s second trial was held in 

May 1894. Once again, C.J. Frederick served 

as defense counsel. Members of the Marks 

family testified as defense witnesses, as did 

Allen himself. For Allen, this second trip to 

the witness stand was a disaster.

Though the broad outline of Allen’s 

testimony remained the same as before, his 

account at the second trial differed from 

the first on a number of significant details. 

The prosecutor discredited Allen with these 

differences. Moreover, Allen offered his 

jury a wildly implausible tale about his 

arrest, claiming that he dodged multiple 

bullets and narrowly escaped death.55 In the 

Fort Smith jail, Allen was housed in a tier of 

cells known as “murderer’s row.” 56 His 

courtroom tale of bravado sounds like 

something a callow young man might 

have concocted to impress his older and 

more hardened jailhouse peers. Allen 

seemed oblivious as to how his jurors might 

react to such a story.
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Alle n’ s s e co nd tr ial co ns u m e d fo u r day s . 

Parke r’s s e co nd ju ry charge , like his firs t, was 

re lative ly s u bdu e d. Alle n’s ju ro rs s o o n 

re tu rne d a s e co nd ve rdict o f m u rde r, this 

tim e with no re co m m e ndatio n fo r m e rcy . 

Parke r o nce again s e nte nce d Alle n to hang.57

Allen ’s Second Appeal

Allen Loses His Lawyer. Frederick 

prepared and filed the documents needed to 

launch Allen’ s second appeal. This time, 

however, Frederick declined to accompany 

the case to the Supreme Court. As the appeals 

in Allen’s case multiplied, Frederick could 

not afford to continue handling them without 
pay.58 He was kept busy enough with the 

unpaid trial work that Parker assigned to him. 

Time spent on charity appeals, like Allen’s, 

was time taken away from feeding Freder­

ick’ s family. Such a stance was not unusual. 

From mid-1894 onward, nearly two-thirds of 

the capital appeals taken from Fort Smith 

would go to the Supreme Court without a 

lawyer. These cases were something new for 

a court accustomed to hearing appeals framed 

by opposing advocates.

Some precedent existed for appointing 

appellate counsel for lawyerless prisoners. In 

1891, the Court requested a Washington 

member of its bar to file a brief for a 

condemned Texas prisoner whose lawyer 
had become incapacitated by illness.59 The 

Court might have invoked similar authority to 

recruit lawyers for those appealing from Fort 

Smith, but it did not do so. Instead, it chose to 

leave these prisoners unrepresented. It would 

decide these cases using only the brief filed by 

the Justice Department and whatever else it 

might discern from the record of proceedings 

in the trial court. The Court seems to have 

believed that, with care, it could still do justice 
in these one-lawyer cases.60

This stopgap system worked reasonably 

well for Allen on his second trip to the Court. 

The government’ s brief was again written by

Holmes Conrad, now elevated to Solicitor 

General, the second-ranking position in the 
Justice Department.61 Without a lawyer, 

Allen filed no brief of his own. When the 

Court called the case for argument on 

March 4, 1895, no one appeared to argue 

either side, and the case was submitted on the 
printed record and the government’s brief.62

The Conference Vote. The Court that 

was to decide Allen’s second appeal was once 

again short a member. Justice White had filled 

the vacant seat of Justice Blatchford, but 

Justice Howell Jackson was now ailing and 

unable to sit. At  their first conference vote, the 

Justices once again found themselves tied. 

Justices Field, Harlan, Shiras, and White 

favored reversing Allen’s conviction. Chief 

Justice Fuller and Justices Brewer, Brown 

and Gray favored affirmance. Two weeks 

later, Chief Justice Fuller changed his vote, 

producing five votes for reversal.63 The only 

public dissenter was Justice Brewer, who 

filed no opinion. Though he had no lawyer, 

Allen’s luck had held. He would have another 

trial.

The Second Allen Opinion. Justice 

Shiras wrote the Court’s second WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA l le n 

opinion. That opinion first addressed Parker’s 

treatment of the white boys’ sticks. Parker 

told the jury that, if  Allen was assaulted with 

these sticks, and if  they were not deadly 

weapons, there was no right of self-defense. 

The Court disagreed. Even if  a stick was not 

deadly p e r s e , it could become deadly in a 

fight. Conditioning the right of self-defense 

on whether a stick was a deadly weapon was 

wrong, said the Court. It was for the jury to 

decide whether self-defense existed under 

such circumstances, and Parker’s instruction 

prevented that.64

The Court found a second reason for 

reversal in Parker’ s handling of Allen’ s 

arming himself with a gun. Parker told the 

jury that manslaughter could exist i f  Allen 

had not armed himself with a deadly weapon 

before any assault with sticks began. This 

instruction was found to be wrong because of
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the e vide nce o f He ns o n’s p r io r thre ats . If  

cre dite d, that e vide nce gave Alle n a 

le gitim ate de fe ns ive re as o n fo r arm ing 
him s e lf.65 The Court had previously reversed 

two other murder convictions where Parker 

had told jurors that a defendant’s arming of 

himself with a deadly weapon showed 

murder, and not manslaughter. The Court 

disagreed: when an accused armed himself 

for self-defense, it was not proof of murder.66 

The second Allen decision followed easily 

from this line of authority.

Allen ’s Third Trial

Allen’s third trial was scheduled for the 

August 1895 jury term of the Fort Smith 

court. Parker usually vacationed during the 

first part of the August term, and delayed 

opening court until October. This year, 

however, the term was so crowded with cases 

that he cancelled his vacation and opened 

court on August 5. As Parker charged the 

term’s grand jurors, his frustration with the 

Supreme Court was on display. While never 

mentioning the Court by name, Parker 

denounced appellate courts that ignored the 

merits of cases and encouraged a system of 

law practice that was “ entirely in favor of the 

criminal and against the cause of right.” 67

The Telltale Sticks. Parker tried eighty- 

six jury trials over the next seven and one-half 

weeks; he finally reached Allen’s case on 

Thursday, September 26. C.J. Frederick 

returned as Allen’ s court-appointed counsel; 

he focused his defense more closely than 

before on the sticks that each of the white 

boys had carried. Although the Erne boys had 

fishing poles, they did not bring them on their 

fishing trip that Saturday. Instead, they 

brought sticks.68 And where these sticks 

were found was difficult  to square with their 

story of an unprovoked attack by Allen.

Magdalene Erne, mother of the Ernes, 

said she found only one stick in the field 

where Henson had fallen. William Marks,

grandfather of the Marks boys, said he 

found the other two sticks in the yard of the 

Marks farm. A deputy marshal who visited 

the scene confirmed each adult’s 
testimony.69 The locations of the sticks 

suggested that the Erne boys were lying 

about what had happened with Allen. If  

Henson and the Ernes were attacked without 

provocation in an open field, then how did 

two of their sticks find their way across a 

fence and into the yard of the Marks farm, 

where Allen lived?

Burned by his last experience on the 

witness stand, Allen did not testify at his third 

trial. However, Harvey Marks appeared once 

again, and told of seeing Henson and the 

Ernes attack Allen with their sticks in the yard 

of the Marks farm. As they were beating 

Allen on the ground, Allen drew his pistol and 

started firing.70

Parker began instructing Allen’s jury at 

9:00 a.m. on Saturday morning and needed 

two full hours to do so. This time, Parker 

pulled out the stops in his charge. Under the 

guise of telling jurors what evidence they 

might consider, Parker gave repeated and 

lengthy emphasis to the Erne boys’ story 

while making only scant reference to Harvey 

Marks’s account of what had happened.71 

The judge seemed more determined than 

before to gain a murder conviction.

Parker sent Allen’ s jury out at 11:00 a.m. 

Saturday morning and immediately started 

another murder trial, this time for John 

Brown. Like Allen’s case, the Brown case 

had twice been reversed by the Supreme 

Court and was back for a third trial. Frederick 

turned up again in the Brown trial, this time as 

Brown’s court-appointed counsel. It  would be 

Frederick’s fifth capital jury trial within a 

single week.72

Breaking a Deadlock. At 5:30 p.m. 

Saturday afternoon, Parker adjourned 

Brown’s trial for the day.73 Allen’s jury still 

had not reached a verdict. Whether Allen’s 

jurors told Parker they were deadlocked is 

uncertain. But there can be no doubt that the
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ju dge did no t care to try Alle n’ s cas e a fo u r th 

time: he had too many other cases to hear. 

Parker concluded that Allen’s jurors needed 

some prodding.

With Brown’ s jury gone, Parker brought 

Allen’ s jury back and delivered the verdict- 

urging instruction that has come to be known 

as the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA l le n charge. The instruction was 

drawn almost verbatim from T h o m p s o n o n 

T r ia ls , a well-known legal treatise of the 

day. 74 Parker ended his lengthy quotation 

from Thompson with a single sentence of his 

own: “ A juror has not the right to take the 

position that he will  no longer discuss the case 

and go off  and sulk, but it is his duty to discuss 

it with his fellows, and have due deference to 

their opinions.” 75 The likely targets of the 

verdict-urging charge were two black jurors, 

Frank Green and Nathan Hayes. During their 

term as jurors, Green and Hayes had served 

together on two other juries that ended in 

mistrials due to jury disagreement. These 

were the only mistrials of  the ninety-two trials 

that Parker conducted during their term of 

service.76

Allen’s jurors retired for further delib­

erations, but reached no verdict on Satur­

day. They probably deliberated on Sunday, 

September 29, as well, but reached no 

verdict. The jurors returned on Monday, as 

the Brown trial continued in the courtroom. 

After an hour, Parker halted the Brown trial 

and brought back the Allen jury. Some of 

the jurors wanted further instruction on 

mans laughter, which carried a maximum 

sentence of ten years imprisonment.77 

Parker first repeated his prior instructions 

on mans laughter. He then launched into a 

one-sided recitation of the prosecution’ s 

evidence against Allen. Parker recounted 

the Erne boys’ story in great detail, while 

again ignoring the evidence of Harvey 

Marks. If  the Ernes’ story was true, he said, 

it showed “ a condition of brutality, of 

savageism” that would preclude a finding 

of manslaughter: “ there could be no 
manslaughter in it.” 78

Parker ended his charge by telling jurors 

that, if the Ernes’ testimony was correct, 

“ Phillip Henson and these little boys... were 

rightfully in the field .... They had a right to 

cross the field. They had a right to go fishing. 

There is no wrong in that.” If  that were the 

state of the case, Parker said, then Allen’s 

“ repeated firing and killing ” could not be 

manslaughter. Soon, Allen’s jury returned 

with a guilty verdict for murder, with no 

recommendation for mercy. Parker again 

sentenced Allen to hang.79

Parker’ s one-sided charge to Allen’s jury 

had the tone and balance of a prosecutor’s 

closing argument. When some jurors balked 

at a murder verdict, the judge delivered a 

series of increasingly emphatic supplemental 

charges aimed at browbeating them into 

submission. The last effectively told jurors 

that no verdict other than murder was 

possible. It was the sort of trial that an appeal 

was made for.

Allen ’s Third Appeal

C.J. Frederick prepared the papers 

needed to launch Allen’s third appeal. As 

in the second appeal, Frederick bowed out 

from accompanying Allen’s case to the 

Supreme Court. Once again, Allen was left 

on his own.

The Jury Charge on Retreat. As before, 

self-defense was central to Allen’s third 

appeal. Parker had charged Allen’s jury that 

one who is attacked may defend himself only 

if  he first uses “ all the means in his power”  to 
retreat from the attacker.80 Even if  jurors 

believed that Allen had been attacked by 

Henson and the Ernes, this part of the charge 

blocked a finding of self-defense. Rather than 

running away, Allen had stood his ground.

Parker had given the same retreat 

instruction at each of Allen’s prior trials, 

as he had in every one of his other reported 

trials in which self-defense was claimed. 

But since Allen’ s last appeal, the Supreme
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Solicitor General Holm es Conrad was  the lawyer who  represented the  governm ent in each of Allen ’s  appeals. He 

chose  to  exclude Parker's jury  charge  from  the  record in  the  third  appeal because he  said it would  cost too  m uch 

to print. Allen was lawyerless, so  there was no objection. Above is an 1895 photo of Conrad (left) and Attorney 

General Judson Harm on, with senior Justice Departm ent officials standing behind them .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Co u rt had drawn the s o u ndne s s o f that 

ins tru ctio n into question. In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e a r d v . U n ite d 

S ta te s , the Court ruled that a defendant 

could stand his ground and defend without 

retreating, if  attacked on his own premises. 

With two Justices not voting, the Court was 

unanimous in B e a r d . Even Justice Brewer, 

Parker’ s most steadfast supporter, concurred 
in the B e a r d reversal.81

In Allen’s third trial, Harvey Marks 

testified that the shooting happened after 

Allen was attacked on his own premises: the 

yard of the Marks farm, where Allen lived.82 

If  jurors believed Marks, Allen was under no 

duty to retreat, and the judge’ s instruction was 

wrong under B e a r d . Moreover, even if  jurors 

believed that the shooting happened in the 

neighboring wheat field, as the Ernes 

claimed, Allen still had a legal basis for

standing his ground. In two other cases where 

killings had n o t happened on the defendants’ 

premises, Parker delivered the same instruc­

tion requiring retreat, and in both cases, the 

Justice Department confessed error in the 
Supreme Court.83

In T h o r n to n v. U n ite d S ta te s , the 

defendant was attacked on a public street. 

In D a v e n p o r t v . U n ite d S ta te s , the defendant 

was attacked at the home of the person he 

killed. In each case, Solicitor General 

Conrad conceded that, although the defen­

dant was not on his own premises, the 

retreat instruction was still wrong under the 
B e a r d decision.84 The Court accepted the 

government’s twin confessions of error and 

reversed each defendant’s conviction. Be­

cause the reversals were ordered by the 

Chief Justice, and not voted on in
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co nfe re nce , s o m e o f the Ju s tice s m ay no t 

have be e n aware o f the m .

Give n WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e a r d , T h o r n to n , and D a v e n p o r t , 

it ap p e are d that Alle n had a s tro ng cas e fo r 

re ve rs al o f his co nvictio n—even stronger 

than in his first two appeals. But Allen faced 

two serious handicaps. First, he had no 

lawyer. Second, Solicitor General Conrad 

was determined not to lose Allen’s case a 

third time in the Supreme Court.

The Solicitor General Responds. Be­

cause all those appealing from Parker’s court 

were poor, the Justice Department routinely 

paid for printing the record of the trial court 

proceedings, including the jury charge. Once 

printed, a copy of the record was distributed 

to each of the Justices. But in Allen’s third 

appeal, Conrad chose to exclude Parker’s jury 

charge from the printed record. According to 

Conrad, the jury charge would cost too much 
to print.85 Conrad’s printing choice was 

remarkable because all of Allen’s challenges 
to his conviction related to the jury charge.86 

While a single unprinted copy of that charge 

was on file  with the Supreme Court’ s clerk, no 

Justice was likely to look at it. Without 

Parker’ s jury charge in the printed record, the 

Justices would know only what Conrad’ s 

brief might tell them about it.

Conrad filed a six-page brief that was 

wholly silent about Harvey Marks’ s testi­

mony and the rest of the evidence at Allen’ s 

trial. The brief made only the slightest 

reference to the jury charge on retreat and 

said nothing at all about B e a r d , D a v e n p o r t , 

and T h o r n to n . Instead, Conrad blandly 

assured the Justices that Parker’s jury 
charge was legally sound.87 These assur­

ances were flatly inconsistent with the twin 

confessions of error Conrad had signed just 

months before in the D a v e n p o r t and 

T h o r n to n cases. But with no lawyer to 

file a brief, Allen could not point out the 

contradiction.

The Conference Vote. The Court called 

Allen’s appeal for argument on October 23, 

1896. The ailing Justice Jackson had died the

preceding summer, and Justice Peckham was 

now sitting in his place. Justice Brewer was 

absent. When no one appeared to argue for 

either side, the case was submitted on 

Conrad’s brief for the government and the 
trial record.88

In conference, the Justices immediately 

noticed the absence of Parker’s jury charge 

from the record provided by the Solicitor 

General. Their first action was to delay voting 

until the charge could be printed in full. The 

cost, which Conrad had bemoaned as exces­

sive, was $51.26. With the jury charge before 

them, the Justices took up Allen’s case once 

again at their conference on Saturday, 

November 7.89

All nine Justices, including Justice 

Brewer, voted on Allen’s case. Justices 

Brown and Peckham joined Brewer in voting 

to affirm, while Justices Shiras, Field, Harlan, 

and Gray voted to reverse. This division left 

the outcome in the hands of the Court’ s two 

swing voters, Chief Justice Fuller and Justice 

White, both of whom sided with the Brewer 

group. With five votes to affirm, Allen had 
lost his final appeal.90

The murder case of John Brown, decided 

at the same conference, shows where Allen’s 

case might have gone with a lawyer’s help. 

Another veteran of multiple trials in Parker’s 

court, Brown often seemed to be shadowing 

Allen as their cases journeyed between Fort 

Smith and Washington. Both men claimed 

self-defense, and each of their appeals turned 

on Parker’s jury charge. Brown’s case was the 

more aggravated, with two deceased victims. 

Though neither man had a lawyer for his final 

appeal, Brown had the better luck—or at least 

an opposing lawyer less determined to win at 

any cost.

The lineup of Justices in the two cases 

was almost identical. Justices Brewer, 

Brown, and Peckham favored affirmance, 

for both, while Justices Shiras, Field, Harlan 

and Gray favored reversal for both. Chief 

Justice Fuller sided with the Brewer group, as 

he had in Allen’s case. But Justice White,
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who vo te d to affirm in Alle n’ s cas e , vo te d to 
re ve rs e in Bro wn’s .91 As a result, Brown’ s 

life was spared. On remand, Brown would 

agree to plead guilty to manslaughter in 

exchange for a sentence of one year and one 

day in prison.92 In the meantime, Allen was 

headed to the hangman.

The Third Allen Opinion. The Chief 

Justice assigned Justice Brown to write the 

Court’s final WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA l le n opinion, which was 

released a month later. In a practice now 

known as “ graveyard dissent,” the four 

Justices who had dissented at conference 

made no public note of their disagreement.93

The opinion is a prime example of the 

perils of deciding a case where only one side 

has a lawyer. It opened by chiding Allen for 

not filing  a brief: the Court confided that it had 

been “ somewhat embarrassed” by Allen’ s 

dereliction.94 Of course, Allen was nineteen 

years old, in jail, and waiting to be hung. To 

file a brief, he needed a lawyer. But he had no 

money to hire a lawyer, and no lawyer had 

volunteered to help him. If  the Supreme Court 

did not appoint a lawyer for Allen, from 

where did it expect Allen’s brief to come

After considering and rejecting several 

other challenges to the charge, the Court’ s 

opinion turned to Parker’s instruction on the 

duty to retreat. That instruction was legally 

sound, said the Court. The opinion reasoned 

that B e a r d did not control in Allen’s case, 

because B e a r d involved a defendant attacked 
“ upon his own premises.” 93 The opinion then 

moved on to several other complaints about 

Parker’s charge, including the verdict-urging 

instruction best remembered today. All of 

these challenges were rejected.

The opinion’s discussion of the retreat 

charge made no mention of witness Harvey 

Marks, who testified at trial that Allen was 

indeed attacked upon his own premises: the 

farm where he lived and worked.96 Unfortu­

nately for Allen, the Court had received no 

information about Harvey Marks’ s testimony 

from the solicitor general’s brief, which 

wholly omitted any description of the

evidence at Allen’s trial. The opinion also 

ignored the Court’s own decisions in 

D a v e n p o r t and T h o r n to n . There, defendants 

who were attacked away from their premises 

received new trials, based on the same retreat 

instruction given to Allen’s jury. In time, the 

Court would recognize the unsoundness of its 

departure from the path charted in D a v e n p o r t 

and T h o r n to n , but not soon enough to do 

Allen any good.97

In sum, the most important point about 

the third A l le n decision is that Allen had no 

lawyer. Without a lawyer, Allen had no way 

to provide the Court with the facts and law 

needed to produce a sound decision. The 

Solicitor General, weary of losing to Allen 

in the Supreme Court, did everything 

possible to hide the relevant facts and law 

from the Court. As a result, Allen’s murder 

conviction was affirmed, when it should 

have been reversed.

The Court Holds Back Its Mandate. 

After deciding an appeal, the Supreme 

Court’ s normal practice was to issue a 
mandate thirty days after its decision.98 

That mandate summarized the Court’s judg­

ment and formally returned the case to the 

court from which it originated. For Allen, the 

mandate would have meant a new, and final, 

execution date. But the Supreme Court did 

not follow its normal procedure with Allen.

On December 21, two weeks after the 

Court’s decision was announced, Chief 

Justice Fuller issued an order postponing 

the A l le n mandate for sixty days. Near the end 

of that period, the Chief Justice told the 

Court’s clerk to continue holding the A l le n 
mandate until further notice.99 As this was 

happening, the country was making ready for 

a new President. The month before the 

Court’ s A l le n decision, William McKinley, 

a Republican, won the 1896 general election. 

The Democratic incumbent, Grover 

Cleveland, would surrender his office to 

McKinley in March 1897.

Why did the Court withhold its mandate? 

It appears that some of the Justices were
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u nco m fo r table with the re s u lt re ache d in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
A l le n , at le as t ins o far as it required Allen’ s 

execution. The Court held its mandate so 

that some of its members could seek execu­

tive clemency for Allen while President 

Cleveland remained in office. Cleveland 

had been relatively generous with clemency, 

while McKinley’s position was unknown.

Christm as at the W hite House, 

and Com m utation

On Christmas day, 1896, President 

Cleveland hosted a holiday celebration in 

the White House library for his three young 

daughters. Invited guests included the chil­

dren of his Cabinet members. Attorney 

General Judson Harmon brought his daugh­

ter.100 Amid the festivities around the 

Christmas tree, the President spoke to 

Hannon about Alexander Allen. The Presi­

dent thought Allen might deserve executive 

clemency, and he asked Harmon to look into 

it. Harmon’s Justice Department advised the 

President on clemency.

Harmon rarely involved himself in 

clemency matters, and the President’ s 

inquiry about Allen must have come as a 

complete surprise. But Harmon swiftly went 

to work on Allen’s case the next day. 

Although Allen had not submitted the written 

application normally needed to launch the 

clemency process, the Attorney General 

proceeded as if  he had. Harmon wrote James 

Read, the federal prosecutor in Fort Smith, 

and asked for his views about clemency for 

Allen. Normally, Parker would have been 

consulted as well, but the judge had died 

shortly before the Supreme Court announced 

its final A l le n decision.101

Read responded on New Year’ s Day. He 

said that he had never intended to insist on 

death for Allen and that life imprisonment 

should be a sufficient punishment. While 

acknowledging Allen’ s youth, Read noted 

that Allen had been “ one of the most unruly

prisoners we ever had in the jail,’ ’ had made 

“ numerous assaults”  on other prisoners, and 

had been in “ some very desperate fights”  with 

them. Read hoped that a long prison term for 
Allen would cause him to reform.102

Two days later, the Justice Depart­

ment’ s pardon attorney sent a file containing 

Read’ s report to the President. A  cover letter 

mentioned the Attorney General’ s “ conver­

sation with you on Christmas-day in refer­

ence to . . . Alexander Allen, a negro 

boy.” 103 The thin file sent to the President 

was wholly silent about any of the facts of 

Allen’ s offense. Nor did it include any 

recommendation from the Justice Depart­

ment concerning clemency. Because the 

idea of clemency for Allen had come from 

the President, the facts and recommendation 

normally furnished probably seemed unnec­

essary. The President kept Allen’s file for 

over a month. Two weeks before leaving 

office, Cleveland commuted Allen’s sen­

tence to life imprisonment. The President 

wrote on Allen’s file that he was following 

the “ recommendation and desire of mem­

bers of the Supreme Court,” as well as 

prosecutor Read’s advice.104

Who were the members of the Supreme 

Court who interceded for Allen? Neither 

Cleveland’s papers nor the records of the 

Justice Department reveal their identities. But 

it seems likely that one of them was Chief 

Justice Fuller, an appointee and friend of the 
President.105 Only the Chief Justice had 

the kind of presidential access that would 

have been needed to bypass normal clemency 

procedures for Allen. The Chief Justice had 

initiated a similar bid for clemency nearly two 

years earlier in the case of Willie Johnson, 

another man sentenced to hang by Parker. 

Justice Brewer, who had written the opinion 

affirming Johnson’s conviction, lent his name 

to Fuller’s effort. After a long delay instigated 

by Parker, the President finally commuted 

Johnson’ s sentence just a few days before his 

Christmas encounter with the Attorney 
General.106
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With Alle n’s de ath s e nte nce s e t as ide , 

the Su p re m e Co u rt o rde re d that the 

Pre s ide nt’s co m m u tatio n be give n e ffe ct. 

Be fo re the cas e co u ld fo rm ally re tu rn to 

Fo rt Sm ith, Parke r’s s u cce s s o r had alre ady 

s e nte nce d Alle n to life im p r is o nm e nt in the 

Ohio State Pe nite ntiary in Co lu m bu s . Alle n 

wo u ld s tay in Ohio fo r e ight y e ars , afte r 

which he was m o ve d to the ne wly o p e ne d 
fe de ral p e nite ntiary in Atlanta.107

Allen remained in Atlanta for fourteen 

years, and there were few bright spots 

during his time there. At five feet, three 

inches in height, Allen’s stature and youth 

put him at risk for unwanted sexual attention 

from other prisoners. In July 1908, Allen 

struck another Atlanta inmate in the head 

with a hammer. He later told prison officials 

that the man had once tried to sodomize 

him.108 As punishment, the warden ordered 

Allen to wear a twelve-pound ball on a two 

and one-half foot chain locked to his leg. 

The ball and chain stayed on Allen’s leg for 

a year, but the episode would haunt him 

for much longer. Classified as a violent 

prisoner, Allen would be refused parole, and 

an application for further presidential clem­

ency was denied.109

Julian Hawthorne was a journalist and 

son of the novelist Nathaniel Hawthorne. He 

served a one-year sentence for mail fraud in 

the Atlanta prison while Allen was there. 

After being released in 1914, Hawthorne 

wrote a book about his prison experiences. 

The book describes an unnamed fellow 

prisoner who was sentenced to death as a 

boy and whose sentence was later commuted 

to life imprisonment.110

Hawthorne says that this fellow prisoner 

deserved a whole chapter to himself. How­

ever, “ his horoscope is still too cloudy to 

make it safe to tell his story.”  According to 

Hawthorne, “ the best service I can do him 

now is to give him silence.”  Hawthorne does 

provide one additional clue about this

prisoner’s identity: he carried “ terrible scars 

of severities practised upon him for trying to 

resist wrongs which no manly man could 
tamely endure.” 111 As a boy, Allen received a 

death sentence, later commuted. Allen also 

would have been scarred by wearing a 

twelve-pound ball and chain on his leg for 

a year. It thus seems highly likely that Allen 

was the prisoner whom Hawthorne was 

describing. No other inmate then at Atlanta 

matches Hawthorne’s description.

Hawthorne characterizes the unnamed 

prisoner as a “ warm-hearted, generous, high 

minded man,” even though prison experts 

might have termed him a desperate criminal. 

According to Hawthorne, the man’ s story was 

worthy of literature: “ A  Balzac might find in 

him a more human and lovable WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAV a u tr i r r , a 

Victor Hugo could make him the hero of 

another L e s M is e r a b le s . . . 1 2

In 1915, the prison physician at Atlanta 

found that Allen was suffering from a painful 

kidney condition that would eventually need 

surgery, including possible removal of his 

kidney. Allen spent much of the year in the 

prison hospital. He was finally paroled on 

New Year’s Eve, 1919, after more than 
twenty-seven years in confinement.113

Allen made his way back to Indian 

Territory, now Oklahoma. In the city of 

Muskogee, he worked as a laborer in a lumber 

yard. He met a younger woman, and they 

married in December 1922. But his health 

soon failed him. Nine months after marrying, 

Allen died of shock in a Muskogee hospital 

following an abdominal operation. He was 

forty-five years old.114

Conclusion

Today, Allen’ s case is remembered for 

the verdict-urging jury charge that the 

Supreme Court upheld. But the Court that 

made this decision did not understand the 

importance of lawyers for the soundness of its 

rulings. To reach the right result, lawyers



A CLOSER LOOK AT ALLEN 45tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

we re ne e de d to argu e bo th s ide s o f an ap p e al, 

e ve n if  o ne s ide was to o p o o r to hire o ne . The 

ne e d fo r co u ns e l was m agnifie d whe n the 

Co u rt fo u nd its e lf clo s e ly divide d, as it was in 

e ach o f Alle n’s ap p e als .

Witho u t the lawy e r he ne e de d, Alle n was 

le ft to the m e rcy o f a So licito r Ge ne ral who tr ie d 

to ke e p the Ju s tice s in the dark abo u t what 

m atte re d m o s t in the ap p e al. Alle n s u rvive d, bu t 

o nly bare ly . Bu t fo r an o u tgo ing Pre s ide nt’ s 

cle m e ncy , he wo u ld have hu ng. The balance o f 

his s ho r t life was little m o re than a living he ll.

This dis m al o u tco m e s e e m s to have had 

little im p act o n the Co u rt and its p ractice s . 

Altho u gh the flo o d o f cap ital ap p e als fro m Fo rt 

Sm ith e nde d in 1897, the Court continued to 

hear a few such appeals from elsewhere until 

1911.115 To the very end, the Court made no 

effort to appoint counsel for those prisoners 

too poor to hire a lawyer. In one of the last of 

these cases, the Court’s opinion seemed 

almost wistful about the lawyer who never 

appeared: “ [W]e should have been glad to 

have had the assistance of counsel for plaintiff 

in error ... 16 The Court seemed unable to

grasp that its own failure to appoint counsel 

was the reason for counsel’s absence.

Change did not come until the 1930s, after 

Charles Evans Hughes became Chief Justice. 

Hughes had been president of New York’ s 

Legal Aid Society, and he took an active 

interest in the legal problems of the poor. In 

1935, the Hughes Court started appointing 

counsel for lawyerless parties in those cases it 

chose to hear on the merits.117 This practice 

continued under Hughes’ successors.

Counsel on appeal eventually came to be 

seen by the Court as something more than a 

luxury for the wealthy. In 1963, the Court 

found that the Constitution guaranteed ap­

pointed counsel to those who, like Allen, 

were appealing as of right from a criminal 
conviction.118 Forty years after Allen’s death, 

the Court finally shut the door on the kind of 

lawyerless appeal that it provided to Allen, 

and then left him to lose.
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To day , fe w activitie s o r trans actio ns 

are o u ts ide the re ach o f the fe de ral 

go ve rnm e nt. This fact has no t alway s 

be e n s o . This is e s p e cially tru e with re s p e ct 

to no n-e co no m ic activitie s that o n the ir 

face do no t ap p e ar to p ro du ce any s u bs tan­

tial effect on interstate commerce. We take 

for granted that the federal government has 

the authority to regulate the price of a 

commodity, protect the collective bargain­

ing rights of workers, establish a national 

minimum wage, and prohibit all manner of 

substances.

The point of intersection between these 

regulated and prohibited, economic and 

non-economic, activities and transactions 

is that they do in fact, either directly or in 

the aggregate, produce a substantial effect 

on interstate commerce. This effect and 

Congress’ s specific grant of authority to 
regulate “ commerce among the states” 1 has

allowed the federal government to enact 

such broad provisions since 1937. This now- 

familiar formulation of the scope of federal 

power with respect to interstate commerce is 

a relatively recent conception. It can be 

traced back to a line of cases that began at 

the turn of the twentieth century with WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ite d 
S ta te s v. E .C . K n ig h t C o .2 and culminated in 

the decisions of N L R B v . J o n e s &  L a u g h l in 
S te e l C o . in 1937,3 U n ite d S ta te s v . D a r b y in

1941.4 and ultimately W ic k a r d v. F i lb u r n  in

1942.5

Article I, § 8, cl. 3 of the Constitution 

grants Congress the sole authority “ to regu­

late commerce with foreign nations, and 

among the several states, and with the Indian 
tribes.” 6 Consequently, the scope of federal 

power in pursuance of its Commerce Clause 

authority is largely a product of how the 

Supreme Court interprets the word “ com­

merce” and the phrase “ among the several 

states.”  Throughout time, the Court’s defini­

tion or conception of interstate commerce,
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and consequently the scope of the federal 

commerce power, shifted. This shift in 

judicial philosophy or interpretation was 

from one of formalist notions of commerce, 

using clearly definable categories of eco­

nomic activity, to a more pragmatic or 

realistic view of commerce and the scope of 

federal authority necessary to preserve it. 

This realist view sought to remove technical 

conceptions of commerce and instead to 

focus on the effect of an activity on interstate 

commerce, regardless of whether the activity 

technically fit into a category such as 

“ commerce”  or “ manufacture.”  The influence 

of American Legal Realism on the Supreme 

Court’s Commerce Clause jurisprudence was 

largely responsible for the shift away from the 

so-called “ mechanical”  jurisprudence, epito­

mized in the Court’s decision in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE .C . K n ig h t, 

to a more realist view, which focused on the 

needs of society and the actual affect on 

commerce.

The shift in the Supreme Court’ s 

judicial philosophy allowed conceptions 

of federal power under the Commerce 

Clause to change from limited, clearly 

discernable categories of economic activ­

ity that largely ignore the circumstances of 

the case to a more expansive view of what 

commerce means drawn from the course of 

business. This progression from legal 

formalism to legal realism in the Supreme 

Court’ s judicial philosophy was influenced 

by the tenets of the American Legal 

Realism of Karl Llewellyn, along with 

his peers and predecessors. This move­

ment shifted theory away from pure 

logical deduction and intellectual vacuums 

and attempted to move law into a role 

where it would be flexible and account for 

its effects on society. The Supreme 

Court’ s shift injudicial philosophy helped 

to produce its most expansive view of 

federal power under the Commerce Clause 

in the case of W ic k a r d v . F i lb u r n , which 

was simply a continuation of the Court’ s 

prior case law.

Case Law Prior to Wickard v. Filburn

At the turn of the twentieth century, the 

Supreme Court issued its decision in 

U .S . v. E .C . K n ig h t. The language of the 
opinion is the epitome of legal formalism.7 

E . C . K n ig h t draws a clear picture of the scope 

of federal commerce power. However, as the 

Court was asked to interpret the scope of this 

power in the face of changing circumstances 

throughout the next forty years, the Justices, 

even as early as 1905, encountered difficulties 

in applying this formal logic consistently. In 

1937, amidst a severe economic depression, 

President Franklin D. Roosevelt proposed a 

Court reorganization plan that would have 

given the President authority to appoint a new 

Justice for each current Justice over the age of 

seventy. There were six Justices over seventy, 

which would have brought the total number 
of Justice to fifteen.8 In that same year, the 

Supreme Court issued a landmark decision in 

N L R B v. J o n e s &  L a u g h l in S te e l C o . J o n e s &  

L a u g h l in S te e l C o . represented a fundamental 

shift in the Supreme Court’s interpretation of 

the scope of Congressional commerce power. 

The Court’ s Commerce Clause jurisprudence 

became more concerned with actual practice 

and experience. It no longer rigidly catego­

rized economic activities into either “ com­

merce”  or “ production”  and did not shield its 

eyes to the reality of economic life.

U .S . v . E .C . K n ig h t dealt with a combi­

nation of corporations that constituted a 

national sugar monopoly. The Sherman 

Anti-trust Act, adopted only five years earlier, 

was being challenged on the grounds that the 

Commerce Clause did not give Congress the 

authority it sought to exercise. In an 8-1 

decision, the Court pronounced, “ Commerce 

succeeds to manufacture and is not part of 
it.” 9 The Justices drew a clear distinction 

between commerce and manufacturing, using 

traditional definitions of those words to do so. 

The Court acknowledged that a monopoly, 

with its virtual control over disposition of a 

commodity, affects commerce, but the
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Justices were unwilling to concede federal 

authority when the effect on interstate 

commerce was only incidental to the activity 

of manufacturing. The Court was unim­

pressed with the substantial impact of a 

complete monopoly on a necessary of life, 

such as sugar, and dismissed such consider­

ations by referring to them as incidental and 

indirect. Ultimately, the Court held that there 

was a clear difference between commerce and 

manufacturing or production and that Con­

gress had no authority to regulate a 

manufacturing monopoly because commerce 

and manufacturing were distinct economic 

activities. The federal government has au­

thority over commerce only because the 

Constitution mentions commerce. The Con­

stitution is silent as to federal power over 

manufacturing and therefore the federal 

government has no power over such 

activities.

Chief Justice Melville W. Fuller quoted 

the language of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK id d v. P e a r s o n " ’ for what 

is a common distinction between commerce 

and manufacture. The Court decreed that 

“ no distinction is more popular to the 

common mind . . . than that between 

manufacture and commerce.” 11 For the 

Court in K id d , the distinction between 

commerce and manufacture was clear: 

commerce constituted the acts of buying, 

selling and transporting those goods that had 

already been manufactured.12 The fact that 

manufactured goods would eventually be­

come part of a commercial transaction, such 

as transporting said goods, did not make the 

activity of manufacturing itself an object of 

federal commerce power.

The rigid categorization of the eco­

nomic activities at issue in E .C . K n ig h t as 

either commerce or manufacture is a classic 

example of legal formalism. Christopher 

Columbus Langdell was the Dean of 

Harvard Law School in 1870 and, to 

legitimize the scholarly study of law, he 

began his quest to characterize law as a 
science.13 This view would later be called

mechanical or formal jurisprudence by its 

detractors, but in the late nineteenth and 

early twentieth centuries, it dominated the 

landscape of legal philosophy. Formal 

jurisprudence placed conformity to logic, 

uniformity, and predictability as the goals 

for judicial decision making and legal 

thought. Langdell used the Socratic Method 

and emphasized the approach of distilling 

universal legal axioms from rigorous study 

of prior case decisions. John Chipman Gray, 

a contemporary of Langdell’s, even as early 

as 1883 was criticizing Langdell’ s formal 

approach to law in saying, “ the idols of the 

cave which a school bred lawyer is sure to 

substitute for facts”  is better for intellectual 

gymnastics and that a school where the 

majority of professors and students eschew 

interaction with the actual facts, it is sure to 

be on its way to ruin.14 Many of the methods 

currently in use in every law school around 

the country have their roots in Langdell’ s 

approach to legal learning.

In the 1905 case of S w if t &  C o . v . U n ite d 

S ta te s , the Supreme Court upheld the Sher­

man Anti-trust Act, as applied to prohibit a 

price-fixing scheme engaged in by indepen­

dent meat dealers, as a legitimate exercise of 

federal commerce power.15 Justice Oliver 

Wendell Holmes, Jr., wrote for a unanimous 

Court that there was a clear distinction 

between the situation involved in this case 

and the one at issue in E . C . K n ig h t. Holmes 

used the formalistic language of E .C . K n ig h t 

when he characterized the object of  this price­

fixing scheme, specifically to fix prices 

among independent meat dealers with respect 

to sales in interstate commerce, as directly 

affecting interstate commerce. S w if t &  C o . 

appears to be consistent with E .C . K n ig h t in 

its language and application of the traditional 

notions of commerce and manufacturing. But 

Holmes seems to have rested his conclusion 

that the effect upon commerce in this case is 

direct on the fact that “ commerce among the 

states is not a technical legal conception, but a 

practical one, drawn from the course of
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business,” 16 Holmes laid the foundation from 

which the substantial effects doctrine grew by 

focusing on the effect rather than the 

character or nature of the activity in question.

Holmes was also a contemporary of 

Langdell and Gray’s. He used lines of 

argument like Gray’s and was a vocal 

opponent of Langdell’s legal science ap­

proach. Holmes had radical ideas regarding 

his view of the law for his time. Whereas his 

contemporaries preferred clear and distinct 

legal doctrines, syllogistic reasoning, and 

predictability in the law, Holmes believed 

these preferences were the problem. Holmes 

expressed his view of what the law WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAis in his 

1881 treatise T h e C o m m o n L a w , where he 

made his now-famous statement, “ The life of 

the law has not been logic, it has been 

experience.” 17 Much like Gray, Holmes 

believed understanding the facts of a case 

was of the greatest import and what a court 

d o e s in fact is the law.

At the 1897 dedication ceremony of the 

new hall of the Boston University School of 

Law, Holmes delivered a speech that would 

become one of his most famous essays, “ The 
Path of the Law.” 18 In this essay, Holmes 

attempted to divorce the widely held view 

that morality and law were the same, and to 

accomplish this, he showed how the law was 

viewed from the perspective of the bad man. 

The bad man only cares for material 

consequences and considerations. Whether 

his actions are moral are irrelevant to him, if  

they are legal. Holmes did not believe the bad 

man cared for legal axioms or deductions but 

simply wanted to know what the courts would 

do in fact; Holmes believed “ the prophecies 

of what courts will  do in fact, and nothing 
more pretentious, are what I mean by law.” 19 

Nine years after Holmes tried to focus the 

analysis of the scope of federal commerce 

power on the reality of normal experience in 

S w if t &  C o ., the Supreme Court issued its 
decision in T h e S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s .2 0 

There the Court analyzed the Interstate 

Commerce Commission’s authority to

require railroads to charge substantially 

similar rates for intrastate and interstate 

traffic. A limitation on the scope of federal 

power was that the rates charged for interstate 

and intrastate traffic had to be substantially 

the same when the distances traveled were 

substantially similar. The Court relied on 

formal notions of commerce, stating that the 

carriers at issue are “ instruments of interstate 

commerce.” 21 But drawing upon normal 

experience and common sense, Justice 

Hughes rejected the idea that federal author­

ity over interstate commerce does not extend 

to those activities that have “ such a close and 

substantial relation to interstate traffic that the 

control [of those activities] is essential or 

appropriate to the security of that traffic . . . 

” 22 In other words, the setting of a price is not 

commerce in the technical sense of the word; 

the facts of experience tell the Court that 

setting different rates for interstate and 

intrastate traffic traveling a similar distance 

would restrain interstate commerce in a way 

that d o e s make such transactions the proper 

object of federal power. The Court was not 

going to adhere simply to a formal distinction 

to the point where it would lead to an 

absurdity and create a gap in the federal 

commerce power.

The next question the Court would have 

to answer was the degree to which an activity 

affected interstate commerce before it be­

came the object of federal power over 

interstate commerce. In 1918, four years 

after T h e S h r e v e p o r t R a te cases, in H a m m e r 

v. D a g e n h a r t the Court held that prohibiting 

articles of manufacture from interstate trans­

portation through federal commerce power 

was in fact an indirect attempt to standardize 

the ages of employees engaged in 

manufacturing and therefore unconstitu­
tional.23 Here the Court retreated to formal 

distinctions between the activities of com­

merce and manufacture or production, stating 

that the manufacture of a good is not 

commerce and, although Congress had 

authority to regulate interstate commerce, it
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could not use that authority to regulate the 

activities of a manufacturer indirectly. The 

fact that those goods, produced in defiance of 

the federal prohibition on child labor, would 

eventually require the instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce did not make those 

goods and consequently the manner in which 

they are produced the subject of federal 

authority over interstate commerce.24 In other 

words, the employment of child labor might 

have some impact upon interstate commerce 

because as a matter of logic, the goods 

produced by the firms that employ the 

children would eventually be transported 

using the instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce, but that impact was too indirect 

to be considered a legitimate exercise of the 

power to regulate interstate commerce.

The Court in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a m m e r was concerned 

with the fact that the federal act at issue in 

effect attempted to regulate manufacturing 

and the Court had already unequivocally held, 

in E .C . K n ig h t, that the federal government 

had no authority to regulate manufacturing or 

production. The majority in H a m m e r viewed 

the indirect attempt to regulate the minimum 

ages of employees by prohibiting the articles 

produced by such under-age workers from 

interstate transportation as just as impermis­

sible as Congress’s direct attempt to restrain 

the sugar monopoly at issue in E .C . K n ig h t. 

Once the Court had concluded that the 

regulation on transportation was an attempt 

to standardize the ages of workers across the 

nation, the formalistic distinction between 

commerce and manufacture applied with the 

same force as in prior decisions.

For Holmes, the issue was clear. He was 

concerned only with the character of the 

activity the regulation sought to reach, 

t r a n s p o r ta t io n , and the fact that child labor 

was clearly wrong and worthy of prohibi­
tion.25 He believed that Congress has specific 

power to regulate interstate commerce; one of 

the traditional aspects of commerce is 

transportation, as stated in E .C . K n ig h t; and 

the law at issue sought to prohibit certain

articles from using the instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce. Holmes concluded that 

reference to the prohibition’s indirect effects, 

when the prohibition was clearly within the 

scope of Congress’s commerce power, was 
immaterial.26

The Court’s majority opinion answered 

Holmes’s criticism and factually distin­

guished prior Commerce Clause cases in 

which the Court had upheld Congressional 

authority to prohibit certain articles from 
interstate transportation.27 The cases prior to 

H a m m e r established Congress’s power to 

prohibit from interstate transportation those 

articles that were harmful in and of them­
selves.28 For the majority in H a m m e r , the 

harmful nature of the prohibited articles was 

the crucial element that allowed Congress to 

prohibit such articles from interstate com­

merce. By contrast, the articles produced by 

underage workers were not harmful in and of 

themselves. Therefore, the harm Congress 

sought to curb in this instance was not the 

flow of harmful products among the states, 

but rather the general harm produced by 

employing underage workers.

Between 1918 and 1935, the Supreme 

Court had little to say about the scope of 

federal power over interstate commerce. But 

in 1935, while the American economy was in 

the grips of the Great Depression, the Court 

issued its decision in S c h e c h te r P o u lt r y 

C o r p . v. U n ite d S ta te s (the Sick Chicken 
Case).29 In S c h e c h te r , the Court held that the 

federal government could not regulate the 

number of hours per workday nor the wages 

of workers employed in local slaughter­

houses. The Court’s conclusion that Congress 

did not have the authority it sought to exercise 

in this case hinged upon the degree of effect 

the transactions in question, the setting of 

hours and wages of slaughterhouse employ­
ees, produced upon interstate commerce.30 

The Court relied on formalistic line-drawing 

and declared that, “ in determining how far the 

federal government may go in controlling 

intrastate transactions upon the ground that
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Jones & Laughlin determ ined that the proper test for the scope of federal com m erce authority, whether the 

activity was traditionally understood as com m erce or m anufacture, was “necessarily one of degree.” After the 

decision was handed down it becam e clear that the invocation of “production” or “m anufacture” would no 

longer save an industry from  the reach of federal regulation, if the activities subject to the regulation had a 

“close and intim ate" effect on interstate com m erce. Above is the Jones & Laughlin plant, which was the ninth  

biggest producer of steel when the case was heard in 1937.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

they ‘affect’ interstate commerce, there is a 

necessary and well-established distinction 
between direct and indirect effects.” 31 The 

Court concluded that the transactions in 

question had “ no direct relation to interstate 

commerce.” 32

For the Court in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS c h e c h te r P o u lt r y , the 

wages and prices of intrastate workers were 

not one of the traditionally defined trans­

actions that comprised “ commerce” and 

therefore had no direct relation to interstate 

commerce. Borrowing from the formalistic 

language of its prior opinions, the Court in 

S c h e c h te r P o u lt r y was still concerned with 

clear distinctions between indirect and direct. 

It seemed unlikely the Court would find any 

in-state transactions to have the “ substantial 

effect”  on interstate commerce necessary to

justify a legitimate exercise of federal 

authority, unless the act was commercial in 

nature.

After S w if t , the S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s , 

and S c h e c h te r , it appeared that if  Congress 

wished to regulate intrastate activity, the 

activity must bear a direct and substantial 

relationship to some traditional aspect of 

interstate commerce. The intrastate activity at 

issue in S w if t was subject to Congressional 

commerce power because the impact of the 

activity was to constrain prices of goods 

moving in interstate commerce. Activity  that 

constrains the price of goods within interstate 

commerce produces a direct effect on the 

same. The fact that intrastate activity could be 

part and parcel of traditional commerce, 

specifically buying and selling in S w if t ,
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further increased the degree of connection 

and impact local and interstate activities had 

on each other.

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s presented a 

slight twist on the facts present in S w if t . S w if t 

concerned meat packers all signing contracts 

to set the price of meat in-state, and the Court 

held there was a direct and substantial impact 

on commerce among the states from a wholly 

in-state activity. While the railroads in the 

S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s did not have agree­

ments to fix  prices among themselves, the very 

fact that they charged differing rates for traffic 

going the same distance based on whether it 

was in-state or between states produced a 

direct and substantial effect on commerce 

among the states. The intrastate activity in the 

S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s was concerned with 

transportation, traditionally understood as an 

aspect of commerce so that the effect of an 

aspect of intrastate commerce on in te r s ta te 

commerce was substantial and direct.

S c h e c h te r further delineated those intra­

state activities the Court would interpret as 

bearing such a close and substantial relationship 

to interstate commerce as to subject them to 

Congress’s commerce power. The intrastate 

activity Congress sought to regulate in this 

instance was not an aspect of the traditional 

formulation of commerce, but neither was it 

part of manufacturing. Wages and workday 

hours were the two activities subject to 

regulation, and neither fit  neatly into the formal 

categories of commerce or manufacture. In 

S c h e c h te r , the Court justified its conclusion by 

stating that whatever effect of wages and 

number of hours worked on prices in interstate 

commerce was too remote or indirect.

The Court’s 1937 decision in N L R B v . 

J o n e s &  L a u g h l in S te e l C o .3 3 appeared to be a 

fundamental shift in its Commerce Clause 

jurisprudence. Prior to the case, the Court had 

rejected Congress’s attempt to regulate 

manufacturing indirectly through its com­

merce power or to regulate directly those 

in-state activities that did not substantially 

affect interstate commerce. It seemed likely

the Court would not allow Congress to 

preserve workers’ collective bargaining 

rights, as such a right was clearly not part 

of the traditional definition of commerce to 

which the Court had adhered in the past. The 

Court shied away from deciding the scope of 

federal commerce power by reference to rigid 

categories and exclusively focused on the 

effects among the states that preserving 

workers’ collective bargaining rights would 

have.

Unlike the Court’s prior opinion in E .C . 

K n ig h t, the Court in J o n e s &  L a u g h l in 

determined that the proper test for the scope 

of federal commerce authority, whether the 

activity was traditionally understood as 

commerce or manufacture, was “ necessarily 

one of degree.” 34 Under the Court’ s analysis, 

the realities of the circumstances were always 

to be considered. In prior decisions, the Court 

was unwilling to continue the inquiry into the 

legitimacy of a federal regulation once it 

concluded that the regulation concerned those 

activities that comprised manufacture or 

production. After J o n e s , it was clear that 

the invocation of “ production”  or “ manufac­

ture”  would no longer save an industry from 

the reach of federal regulation, if  the activities 

subject to the regulation had a “ close and 

intimate” effect on interstate commerce.

A large portion of the J o n e s &  L a u g h l in 

opinion is concerned with analyzing just how 

much an effect the failure to protect the right 

of workers to self-organize would produce 

upon interstate commerce. The steel pro­

ducer-respondent argued that, whatever im­

pact on commerce among the states its 

alleged unfair labor practices might produce, 

the practices were nonetheless cut off from 

the “ stream of commerce”  by its manufactur­

ing operations. The Court made plain that 

references to the character of an activity in 

question would no longer be dispositive. The 

fact that the manufacturer in this case had 

operations all over the United States gave the 

Court ammunition to conclude that a labor 

strike at the producer’s manufacturing facility
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would clearly lead to a direct and substantial 

effect on interstate commerce. The Court’s 

opinion viewed interstate commerce as a 

practical consideration drawn from the 

“ course of business.”  After WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ o n e s , it became 

“ equally true that interferences with that 

commerce must be appraised by judgment 

that does not ignore actual experience.” 35

Before the stage for F i lb u r n  could be set, 

the Court had to resolve a major hurdle to 

more expansive federal power under the 

Commerce Clause. Could Congress directly 

exert its power over interstate commerce and, 

in doing so, indirectly regulate those activities 

of production and manufacture as it had 

attempted to do in H a m m e r v . D a g e n h a r f ! 
U .S . v . D a r b y3 6 resolutely answered this 

question in the affirmative and in the same 

stroke expressly overruled the Court’s hold­

ing in H a m m e r . The Court held that, when 

intrastate activities bear such a close and 

substantial relationship to interstate com­

merce that they produce an effect on interstate 

commerce, those activities are subject to 

federal power under the Commerce Clause. 

The out-of-state effects of local activity are 

the criterion of analysis as to whether federal 

power over commerce is properly exerted, not 

the particular category or character of the 

activity to which it belongs.

After J o n e s &  L a u g h l in and D a r b y , it 

became increasingly clear that the Court’s 

litmus test for determining the proper scope of 

federal commerce power was shifting. In 

1895, if  the character of the activity was such 

that it could be deemed manufacturing or 

production, then Congress clearly did not have 

authority to regulate such activity. The first 

dispositive inquiry for the Court in that case 

was whether the activity in question was 

manufacture or commerce. If  the activity was 

manufacture, it was local and a matter of local 

regulation to be left to the States. If  it was 

commerce, then the activity must be of  a nature 

such that it was “ among the several states”  for 

it to be a proper object of federal power under 

the Commerce Clause. Meandering its way

through the early twentieth century, this case 

law prior to W ic k a r d produced substantial 

changes in how the scope of federal commerce 

power was interpreted and it is necessary to 

recap its trajectory.

In 1905, Justice Holmes gave the legal 

realist a new tool of analysis in the Commerce 

Clause context when he first introduced the 

concept of looking at the effects an activity 

had on interstate commerce. S w if t &  C o . still 

maintained an element of legal formalism, in 

that the activity in question was found to 

affect interstate commerce because the activ­

ity itself was part of commerce. T h e S h r e v e­

p o r t R a te C a s e s added the “ substantial”  

language to the test of out-of-state effects 

of in-state activity. The fact that the activity in 

question was itself an aspect of a traditional 

definition of commerce (transportation) in­

dicates that the Court had not yet completely 

left behind its formalistic tendencies, but its 

focus on the effects of an activity on 

commerce among the states signaled that a 

deeper contextual analysis was gaining hold. 

H a m m e r was a sharp break from the 

substantial effects test the Court adopted in 

S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s , in that once the Court 

had decided the regulation was an indirect 

attempt to regulate manufacturing, the at­

tempted exercise of federal power was held 

unconstitutional. Like the decision in E .C . 

K n ig h t, the Court relied heavily on the 

character or nature of the activity not being 

commerce to claim that Congress did not 

have the authority it sought to exercise. In 

S c h e c h te r , the Court analyzed the effect of  the 

activity in question, but summarily concluded 

that the effect was “ indirect” and therefore 

not substantial and thus was outside the scope 

of federal commerce power. This indirect 

effect was based on supposition that wages 

and hours worked were not themselves 

aspects of a traditional definition of com­

merce and therefore could not have a 

substantial effect on interstate commerce. 

J o n e s &  L a u g h l in S te e l C o . and D a r b y both 

made clear that the degree of affect the
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activity produced on interstate commerce was 

the proper test for determining the scope of 

federal commerce power and, in doing so, 

allowed the Supreme Court’s Commerce 

Clause jurisprudence to embrace broader 

federal regulations on commerce.

Historical Background to Wickard 

v. Filburn

The year WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH a m m e r v . D a g e n h a r t was 

decided, World War I ended. It was 1918, 

Germany had surrendered, and the Treaty of 

Versailles imposed harsh financial repara­

tions. By 1931, Germany would be facing 

default on its reparation obligations to France 

and Great Britain, and Germany also owed 

approximately $2 billion in short term loans 

to American banks. It  had to borrow money to

fund its governmental activities beginning in 

1918, because such a large portion of its 

national income went to repaying war 

reparations. American and German interests 

aligned because a default by Germany would 

cause domestic economic problems in Amer­

ica. Germany, like many other nations at the 

time, enacted tariffs and import controls to 

protect domestic goods as well as promote 

full  employment. These tariffs in conjunction 

with German subsidy of domestic grain 

production all but closed the German market 

to American wheat exports.37

The war effort had also taken its financial 

toll on Great Britain. After liquidating its vast 

reserves, Great Britain borrowed huge sums 

from United States banks to fund its efforts 

during World War I. In 1931, British Prime 

Minister Ramsay McDonald attempted to 

induce President Hoover to forgive some

Congress passed the Agricultural Adjustm ent Act of 1938 to control the price of wheat flowing through 

interstate com m erce by establishing “farm  m arketing quotas” to prevent the excess surplus and shortage of 

wheat. The Act granted the Secretary of Agriculture the authority to declare a quota in any m arketing year in 

which it appeared that the total supply of wheat would exceed the com bined international and dom estic 

consum ption by thirty-five percent. All wheat farm s in the nation over fifteen acres were included in the quota 

system .
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of Britain’s war debt by linking forgiveness of 

American debt to British forgiveness of German 

war reparations. McDonald believed that if  he 

assured Roosevelt that Britain would forgive 

German war reparations, America would 

forgive the war debt Britain amassed during 

the conflict. 1931 also saw Britain’s abandon­

ment of the gold standard, which caused the 

value of the British pound to devalue signifi­

cantly relative to currencies that remained on the 

gold standard, such as the American dollar.

By 1932, Chancellor of the Exchequer 

Neville Chamberlain “ rammed a protection­

ist”  economic policy through the government 

at the expense of American wheat exports. 

British preferences for their colonial exports, 

protectionist tariffs, and their abandonment of 

the gold standard all combined to bring 

British imports of American wheat to 

“ virtually nil” in 1932.38 A key aspect to 

Chamberlain’s 1932 economic policy was a 

preference for Imperial exports. Only five 

years earlier in 1927, Britain had imported 

four billion pounds of wheat at a value of 

approximately $106 million dollars.

Reciprocal protectionist tariffs were 

erected all around the world during this period. 

This was especially true concerning quotas 

and import restrictions on wheat. With these 

tariffs in place, American wheat farmers 

effectively had no foreign markets into which 

to offload their production surpluses. The 

various international tariffs depressed demand 

for American wheat exports by artificially 

increasing theirprice. Without an international 

market, the American domestic wheat surplus 

grew significantly and further caused domestic 

commodity prices to fall as domestic demand 

stagnated, a result of the demand for wheat 

being relatively inelastic. With inelastic 

demand, changes in price do not generally 

affect demand for the good. In addition to 

wheat, another inelastic good is oil, the price of 

which does not generally increase or decrease 

a person’s consumption and therefore demand 

stays constant. “ Necessaries of life” tend to 

have inelastic demand.

The inelasticity of wheat, combined with 

an ever-mounting wheat surplus, spurred 

Congress to pass the Agricultural Adjustment 

Act of 1938, which sought to control the price 

of wheat flowing through interstate commerce 

by establishing “ farm marketing quotas” to 

prevent the excess surplus and shortage of 

wheat.39 The Act granted the Secretary of 

Agriculture the authority to declare a quota in 

any marketing year in which it appeared that 

the total supply of wheat would exceed the 

combined international and domestic con­

sumption by thirty-five percent. All wheat 

farms in the nation over fifteen acres were 

included in the quota system.

As the marketing year began on July 1, if  

the Secretary of Agriculture were to declare 

that the supply would exceed demand by 

thirty-five percent, he had to do so no later than 

the May 15 prior to July 1. The Act required 

that between the date the Secretary proclaimed 

the existence of excess supply of wheat and 

June 10, a referendum had to be conducted of 

farmers who were affected by the declared 

quota. In effect, these provisions combined to 

allow the Secretary to impose the marketing 

quota, and consequently the penalty for 

marketing over quota, well after the crop 

had been planted, as wheat farmers had 

planted their crop during the winter preceding 

the spring in which the Secretary announced 

the existence of  a surplus, if  any. The impact of 

these provisions on farmers was presumably 

lessened by allowing the farmers affected to 

use a referendum to approve or disapprove of 

the terms of the marketing quota.

In the U.S. District Court: Filburn 

v. Helke

Between 1938 and 1940, no marketing 

quotas were enforced by the Secretary of 

Agriculture, although he had announced the 

national acreage allotment for those marketing 

years. On May 13, 1940, Secretary of Agricul­

ture Claude R. Wickard announced the national
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acreage allotment for the 1941 wheat crop. For 

that crop, Roscoe Filbum was allotted 11.1 

acres at a normal yield of 20.1 bushels per acre. 

In the winter of 1940, he planted twenty-three 

acres and harvested 462 bushels, 239 bushels 

over his quota. Unlike the previous years where 

the Secretary had not followed through on 

enforcing the marketing quota, on May 9,1941, 

Secretary Wickard found that the total supply of 

wheat as of July 1, 1941, would exceed 

domestic consumption and exports by the 

required thirty-five percent and thus proclaimed 

the marketing quota in effect for the 1941-1942 

marketing year. At the time Filbum planted his 

winter wheat crop on 11.9 acres, which was 

over his acreage allotment, the penalty for 

producing over the marketing quota was fifteen 

cents per bushel for wheat that was WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa c tu a l ly 

marketed. Thus, wheat produced over quota 

and used on the faim for seed, feed, and food 

were not subject to the fifleen-cent penalty 

because they were not actually marketed or 

intended for interstate commerce.40

On May 19, 1941, around 11:30 a.m., 

Secretary Wickard gave a radio address entitled 

“Wheat Farmers and the Battle for Democ­

racy.”  He informed the farmers that the quota 

for the July 1,1941 marketing year was in effect 

and that they would be given the chance to vote 
in a referendum on May 31.41 The loans, and 

consequently the penalties of the Act, were 

conditioned on a two-thirds affirmative vote by 

the fanners affected by the quotas. In essence, if  

wheat farmers did not want to take their chances 

with the forty-cent per bushel world price and 

maintain their government subsidy, they had to 

approve the referendum. Wickard also men­

tioned a House and Senate bill  currently being 

considered in Congress that would increase the 

subsidy amounts, but he failed to mention that 

this increase would also increase the penalty for 

exceeding the quota. In the winter of 1940, 

when the farmers had planted their 1941 crop, 

the world situation looked to be such that, as 

World War II  was raging in Europe, the world 

market would be able to absorb any excess 

surplus and no marketing quota would be

enforced. Unfortunately, the war had not 

increased world demand enough to avoid the 

need to impose the quota, and thus total supply 

would exceed demand by thirty-five percent in 

July 1941. On May 31, 1941, the referendum 

passed by a vote of eighty-one percent in favor 

to nineteen percent opposed. More than 

559,000 farmers voted in the referendum.42

In the days intervening between Secretary 

Wickard’s May 19 radio address and the May 31 

referendum, the bill  to which he had referred was 

passed on May 26, 1941, five days before the 

referendum. The bill amended the original 

Agricultural Adjustment Act of 1938 in a few 

very significant ways. The amendment increased 

the Ioan amount from sixty-four cents per bushel 

to ninety-eight cents per bushel, while it also 

increased the penalty for wheat marketed over 

quota from fifteen cents per bushel to forty-nine 

cents per bushel. The May 26 amendment 

defined all wheat produced in excess of  the quota 

as “ available for marketing”  and thus subject to 

the new forty-nine cent penalty, regardless of 

whether it was in fact placed into the market, and 

also included wheat retained on the farm for 
home consumption.43 The amendment also 

empowered local counties to place a lien on 

the farmer’s entire wheat crop until the penalty 

was paid or the farmer turned over the portion of 

his crop that was in excess of the quota to the 

Secretary of Agriculture. By storing the wheat in 

a manner proscribed by the Secretary or turning 

the excess crop over to him, the farmer could 

avoid paying the marketing penalty.

In July 1941, Roscoe Filbum went to the 

County Agricultural Conservation Committee 

to obtain the marketing card the federal 

government required if he were to sell his 

wheat in the open market. The committee was 

charged with administering the Agricultural 

Adjustment Act in Filbum’s home county— 

Montgomery County, Ohio—and they assessed 

the forty-nine cents per bushel penalty on his 

239 excess bushels, a total of $117.11, and 
refused to issue him his marketing card;44 a lien 

was also placed on his entire crop in favor of  the 

United States until such penalty was paid.
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Filbum could not place the excess bushels into 

the market and thereby avoid the penalty for 

going over quota, although, as he might have 

thought, the regulation was one on the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
m a r k e t in g of wheat and not its production. 

But the May 26, 1941, amendment of the Act 

meant that all the wheat a farmer produced over 

his marketing quota was defined as “ available 

for marketing”  and subject to the penalty. This 

led Filburn to sue the county committee in 

the U.S. District Court for the Southern District 

of Ohio, where he challenged the constitution­

ality of the penalty levied against him.

District Judge John H. Druffle wrote for the 

three-judge district court that had been con­

vened to decide the case. His opinion for the 

court, which divided 2-1 in F i lb u r n v. H e lk e , 

was strangely devoid of any mention of the

legitimacy of the Agricultural Adjustment Act 

as applied to Congress’s commerce power. 

Instead, the judge focused on what he consid­
ered to be the “ equities of the case.” 45 He 

concluded that, due to the representations made 

by Secretary of Agriculture Wickard in his 

May 19 radio address, some of those who voted 

in favor of  the measure might have been induced 

to vote against their interests, and consequently 

the Act, as amended, was void as applied against 

those misled farmers. In other words, the 

requisite two-thirds vote would not have voted 

in the affirmative but for the Secretary’s 

unintentionally misleading statements, and 

thus the increased penalty of forty-nine cents 

per bushel could not be enforced against 

Filbum. The judge opined that “ it would seem 

that the equities of the situation demanded that

Roscoe Curtiss Filburn had a ninety-five-acre farm  near Dayton, Ohio, where, in 1940, he planted  twenty-three 

acres of wheat that was to be used to m ake bread for his fam ily, feed his livestock, and provide seed for the 

following season. However, Filburn  was only  allotted  to  plant 11.1 acresof wheatat ayieldof 20.1 bushels per 

acre and in July 1941 the extra planting (11.9 acres) yielded 239 bushels of wheat. He was fined forty-nine 

cents per bushel ($117.11) but refused to pay. The U.S. district court ruled in his favor, lim iting the fine to 

fifteen cents per bushel. However, the Secretary of Agriculture, Claude W ickard, appealed this decision to 

the U.S. Suprem e Court.
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the Secretary forewarn the farmers that in 

accepting the benefits of increased parity loans 

they were also subjecting themselves to higher 
penalties.” 46 The court enjoined the county 

committee from collecting the penalty over and 

above the original fifteen cents per bushel, from 

placing a lien on Filbum’ s entire crop, and from 

collecting the penalty unless and until the excess 

crop was actually marketed, in accordance with 

the terms of the original Act.

Circuit Judge Florence Allen dissented. 

Either by close inspection of the Supreme 

Court’s newly authored opinions in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ o n e s &  

L a u g h l in and D a r b y or clairvoyance, she 

divined the future conclusion of the case. Still 

weary of the Supreme Court’s decisions prior 

to J o n e s &  L a u g h l in , Judge Allen character­

ized the Act as purporting only to control sale 

and use, not production.47 She observed that 

Congress, through its commerce power, had 

the authority to regulate prices in interstate 

commerce and the fact that Congress at­

tempted to regulate price through supply 

controls did not make illegitimate the means 

to achieve a permissible end. She continued by 

arguing that once it had been decided that 

Congress had the ability to reach an activity 

through exercise of its commerce power, the 

method by which Congress chose to regulate 

said activity is not for the court to decide. 

Judge Allen concluded that the local activities 

of wheat farmers affect interstate commerce 

and that controls on the supply flowing 

through interstate commerce was a means 

reasonably adapted to the end of normalizing 

wheat prices in interstate commerce. Although 

she was out-voted in the district court, Judge 

Allen was to have nine other Justices on her 

side although she did not yet know that.

In the Suprem e Court: Wickard v. 

Filburn

In the district court, Judge Druffel was 

concerned about the influence of Secretary 

Wickard’ s unintentionally misleading

statements on farmers voting in the referen­

dum on May 31, 1941. In the Supreme Court, 

the Justices found no evidence in the record 

on which the district judge could have based 

this contention, and they declared his holding 
to be “manifest error.” 48 The Court then 

turned its attention to the 800-pound gorilla in 

the room—whether the Agricultural Adjust­

ment Act of 1938, as amended, was a proper 

exercise of Congress’ s commerce power.

The Court believed the question regard­

ing the scope of federal power present in the 

F i lb u r n case merited little consideration but 

for the fact that the Act extended federal 

regulation to a product never intended for 

interstate commerce. Absent the presence of 

this fact, the Court would have considered its 

decision in D a r b y to be controlling. D a r b y 

held that intrastate activity that resulted in 

products intended for interstate commerce, 

such as wheat farming, affected interstate 

commerce to a degree that subjected that 
intrastate activity to federal power.49 The fact 

that Roscoe Filburn never intended to intro­

duce his excess 239 bushels of wheat into the 

stream of interstate commerce and yet was 

still subject to the m a r k e t in g penalty made it 

appear that the Act in effect regulated 

production and consumption of wheat. This 

troubled the government counsel in F i lb u r n  

given that E .C . K n ig h t was still good law. 

Consequently, he argued in the alternative 

that the Act was a “ necessary and proper”  

means of exercising federal commerce 

power. The facts of this case served to 

distinguish the case from D a r b y to a degree 

that required thoughtful analysis by Justice 

Robert H. Jackson.

Justice Jackson acknowledged the source of 

trepidation in the government counsel’s insis­

tence that the Act only regulated sale and use, not 

production or consumption. With an air of 

dismissiveness, Jackson restricted this source of 

fear to simply “a few dicta and decisions” in 

which the Court had found the character of the 

regulated activity to be “ manufacture” or 

“production” and therefore beyond federal
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W hen Filburn ’s case  cam e before the  three-judge U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, Florence 

Allen dissented from the court's holding and wrote that Congress, through its com m erce power, had the 

authority to regulate prices in interstate com m erce and the fact that Congress attem pted to regulate price 

through supply controls did not m ake illegitim ate the m eans to  achieve a perm issible end. The Suprem e Court 

would essentially take her view  when it heard the Wickard v. Filburn case in 1942.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

reach. He also conceded the fact that, with all the 

deference that had been granted to Congress in 

pursuance of its commerce power, no prior 

Supreme Court decision addressed federal 

authority to regulate activities where no part of 

the product was intended for interstate com­

merce. In a single sentence, Jackson implicitly  

overruled WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE .C . K n ig h t while reaffirming the 

“ substantial effects”  analysis first enunciated in 

S w if t &  C o . and T h e S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s . 

Jackson proclaimed that “ questions of the power 

of Congress are not to be decided by reference to 

a n y formula which would give controlling force 

to nomenclature such as ‘production’ or ‘ indi­

rect’ and foreclose consideration of the actual 

effect of the activity in question upon interstate 

commerce.” 50

Justice Jackson cited S w if t &  C o . and 

Holmes’ s desire to focus on the effect of an 

activity on interstate commerce to determine 

the proper scope of federal power. Next, he

invoked T h e S h r e v e p o r t R a te C a s e s , which 

allowed federal regulation of intrastate activ­

ity that produced “ substantial economic 

effects” on interstate commerce. In light of 

these prior decisions, Jackson concluded for 

the Court that recognition of the relevance of 

economic effects had “ made the mechanical 

application of legal formulas no longer 

feasible.” This view of how to interpret the 

scope of federal authority properly under the 

Commerce Clause was the final blow against 

a formalist approach to the legal question at 

issue. No longer would reference to the 

character of the activity, such as “ local” or 

“ production,” be a safe harbor for those 

seeking to avoid federal regulation. Only an 

activity’s insubstantial effect on commerce 

among the states would save it from federal 
reach, regardless of how local it was.51

To determine the actual effect of wheat 

consumed on the farm from which it was
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harvested on interstate commerce, the Court 

analyzed the economics of  the international and 

domestic wheat markets. Nations that tradition­

ally imported wheat were now producing more 

of  their own wheat domestically, and the import 

restrictions, along with trade barriers they had 

erected, combined to depress the demand 

for U.S. wheat exports. The loss of reliable 

international markets to export excess domestic 

supply of wheat resulted in a dramatic increase 

of domestic supply. With demand for wheat 

being relatively constant irrespective of the 

price, or inelastic, a dramatic increase in supply 

resulted in significant price decreases of wheat 

in the interstate market. Consumption of wheat 

on the farm where grown accounted for more 

than twenty percent of the average production 

for a given year, while the total amount of  wheat 

consumed nationally as food or used for 

reseeding was a relatively constant percentage 

of the total average production. Wheat con­

sumed on the farm where it was grown 

presented the most variable factor in the 

national demand for wheat. Given that increas­

ing demand increased the price just as surely as 

does decreasing the supply of  a good, regulation 

of wheat consumed on the farm where grown 

would positively affect price. The Court found 

that, by defining the wheat produced over quota 

as ’ ’available for marketing,” regardless of 

whether the wheat in fact reached the market, 

Congress had attempted to increase demand for 

wheat. Consequently, the price would increase 

as farmers had to resort to the open market to 

meet their own needs for personal consumption 

on the farm. The facts that Congress clearly had 

the authority to regulate commodity prices in 

interstate commerce and that increases in 

demand positively affected price allowed the 

Court to conclude that the Act was a permissi­

ble exercise of the federal commerce power.

One question remained in this case, 

whether Roscoe Filbum’s individual act of 

abstention from the market by consuming his 

own wheat produced a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAs u b s ta n t ia l economic 

effect on price such that his activity is subject 

to federal regulation. In answering this

question, the Court in F i lb u r n pioneered 

what would lay the foundation for the modem 

federal government. Although Filbum’s con­

tribution to the total demand for wheat was 

trivial in isolation, the contribution by those 

farmers situated like Filburn was, as a matter 

of law, substantial and within the ambit of 
federal control.52 In other words, the Court 

was saying that it will  not simply look at the 

individual effect an activity had on interstate 

commerce to determine the scope of federal 

authority. Instead, it will  analyze the impact of 

the activity in the aggregate to determine if  it is 

a proper object of federal commerce power.

Ultimately, F i lb u r n is a victory for legal 

realism. By adding the aggregate impact 

analysis to the substantial effects doctrine, the 

Supreme Court’s Commerce Clause jurispru­

dence changed forever. F i lb u r n  foreclosed any 

notion that characterizing an activity as “ local”  

or “production”  or trying to describe its effects 

as “ indirect”  would decide the proper scope of 

federal commerce power. After the decision in 

F i lb u r n , the Court would not only look at the 

degree of impact of a single instance of the 

activity in question but, instead, analyze the 

degree of effect, in the aggregate, the activity 

would produce on interstate commerce.

The “Substantial Effects” Doctrine 

post-Filburn

1964 saw the Supreme Court apply the 

“ substantial effects”  doctrine when it upheld 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as a legitimate 

exercise of federal commerce power in H e a r t 
o f  A tla n ta M o te l , In c . v. U n ite d S ta te s5 3 and 

K a tz e n b a c h v . M c C lu n g .5 4 In both cases, the 

Court reaffirmed the aggregation principle 

seen in F i lb u r n and assessed the degree of 

effect of the activity on interstate commerce, 

concluding that a single act of discrimination 

may not affect interstate commerce substan­

tially, but, taken together, these acts of 

discrimination would substantially affect 

interstate commerce. In M a r y la n d v . W ir tz ,5 5
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the Court again relied on WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF i lb u r n ’ s aggrega­

tion principle to uphold federal regulation, 

holding that the Fair Labor Standards Act, 

first upheld as constitutional in U .S . v. D a r b y , 

was applicable to those hospitals, institutions, 

and schools that were operated by state and 

local governments. W ir tz concluded that 

trivial effects of individual instances of 

conduct do not relieve the conduct from 

federal regulation once the aggregate impact 

is found substantial.56 These cases under­

score the wide latitude granted to the federal 

government in pursuance of its commerce 

power in the years immediately following 

F i lb u r n and helped to cement the role the 

aggregation principle would play in the 

Court’s substantial effects doctrine.

However, more recently, the aggregation 

principle of  F i lb u r n  has perhaps found its upper 

limit of applicability within the substantial 

effects doctrine. In 1995, the Supreme Court 
decided U n ite d S ta te s v. L o p e z ,5 1 which held 

the Gun-Free School Zones Act of 1990 to be 

unconstitutional. The Act made it a federal 

crime to possess a firearm within the bounds of 

a school zone. The Court in L o p e z acknowl­

edged the wide latitude granted to Congress in 

pursuance of its commerce power by the 

Court’s prior Commerce Clause decisions 

and identified W ic k a r d v . F i lb u r n as the most 
expansive interpretation of federal power.58 

Yet, in holding the Act unconstitutional, the 

Court noted that the activity of possessing a 

firearm in a school zone was not economic in 

nature in any sense of the word. The Court went 

on to say that, in the absence of any legislative 

findings as to the degree of impact the activity 

had on interstate commerce, as a matter of law, 

the activity in question did not substantially 

affect interstate commerce. The Court’s focus­

ing on the character or nature of the activity to 

assess its degree of impact on interstate 

commerce makes it appear that the Court’s 

Commerce Clause jurisprudence is shifting 

back to a formal mode of analysis.

Five years after L o p e z , the Court held the 

Violence Against Women Act (VAWA)  to be

an unconstitutional exercise of federal com­

merce power in U n ite d S ta te s v . M o r r is o n .5 

The Court found that the activity that VAWA  

sought to prohibit was not economic in any 

way, just as it had in L o p e z . In other words, 

because gender-motivated crimes are not of 

an economic nature or character, the impact 

of such crimes on interstate commerce is not 

substantial, even in the aggregate, and 

therefore cannot be subject to federal regula­

tion. Unlike the situation in L o p e z , in 

M o r r is o n the Court had a plethora of 

legislative findings regarding the substantial 

effect on interstate commerce that violence 

against women produced. These findings 

were unpersuasive to the Court, which 

refused to extend federal commerce power 

solely on the basis that the legislature found 

that this type of violence substantially 

affected interstate commerce only in the 

aggregate. The Court concluded, “ We reject 

the argument that Congress may regulate 

noneconomic, violent criminal conduct based 

solely on that conduct’ s aggregate effect on 

interstate commerce.” 60

Thus, in the wake of L o p e z and M o r r i ­

s o n , the Supreme Court has placed a formal 

hurdle in the way of establishing the 

substantial effect conduct may have on 

interstate commerce. In analyzing the degree 

of effect, the Court placed the nature or 

character of the activity in question in a 

position of paramount importance. If the 

conduct is noneconomic in nature, it must 

produce a substantial effect on interstate 

commerce in an individual instance to be 

subject to federal commerce power. How­

ever, if  the effect of such conduct on interstate 

commerce is substantial only in the aggre­

gate, it will  no longer be subject to federal 

regulation under the Commerce Clause.

Conclusion

The scope of federal commerce power is a 

product of  the Supreme Court’s interpretation of
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the Commerce Clause. That interpretation has 

shifted throughout our nation’s history and, 

consequently, the scope of federal power has 

shifted with it. At the end of the nineteenth 

century, the Supreme Court interpreted the 

scope of federal commerce power very nar­

rowly and relied on traditional definitions of 

commerce and manufacture to create distinct 

categories of activities that could and could not 

be regulated by Congress. This interpretation of 

the scope of  federal commerce power is a classic 

example of legal formalism, in which historical 

definitions of commerce and manufacture are 

used and then those categories are applied in a 

logically deductive fashion. If  the activity is 

manufacture, it is not commerce, and therefore 

it is not subject to the federal commerce power.

As a shift occurred in the academic view 

of what legal philosophy ought to be, from 

Langdell and legal formalism to Holmes’s 

broader view, the Supreme Court issued its 

1905 decision in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU .S . v. S w if t &  C o , in which 

Justice Holmes placed his mark on the 

Court’s Commerce Clause jurisprudence by 

looking to the effects of activity and not 

simply its character. Between 1905 and 1935, 

the Supreme Court held a view of the federal 

commerce power that mixed elements of 

legal formalism and legal realism. The Court 

would only uphold an exercise of federal 

commerce power over in-state activities that 

themselves were part of the historical defini­

tion of commerce, such as buying, selling, or 

transportation. The in-state activities that fell 

outside the historical definition of commerce 

produced an indirect effect on interstate 

commerce and were therefore not subject to 

Congress’s power over interstate commerce. 

During this same period, the Court also 

viewed any attempt by Congress to regulate 

manufacturing, either directly or indirectly, 

to be patently unconstitutional because 

manufacturing was an in-state activity, 

clearly distinct from commerce, at best 

producing an indirect effect on it.

In 1937, the Court decided J o n e s &  

L a u g h l in , which discarded the view that only

those intrastate activities that comprised tradi­

tional commerce produced a substantial effect 

on interstate commerce and therefore were 

subject to federal regulation. The Court’ s 

decision focused analysis away from the 

character of the activity in question and toward 

the effect of the activity to determine whether 

the exercise of federal power was permissible. 

U .S . v. D a r b y followed in 1941, where the 

Court simply expanded the scope of those 

intrastate activities that produced a substantial 

effect on interstate commerce to include the 

wages and maximum work hours of employees 

engaged in production of goods for interstate 

commerce. The Court in D a r b y also concluded 

that the proper test for the scope of federal 

commerce power was the degree of effect 

produced on interstate commerce, regardless of 

the activities character. Only a year after D a r b y , 

W ic k a r d v. F i lb u r n was decided. It removed 

any doubt that the Court had abandoned its 

formalistic notions of the scope of federal 

commerce power in favor of a much more 

expansive interpretation that focused on effects 

rather than character. F i lb u r n added the 

aggregation principle to the substantial effects 

doctrine, thus further enlarging the number of 

activities that could be subject to federal 

regulation under the Commerce Clause. Not 

only would those activities that produce a 

substantial effect on interstate commerce in a 

single instance be subject to federal power, but 

this would also extend to those activities that 

produce a substantial effect on commerce in the 

aggregate.

F i lb u r n ''s aggregation principle paved the 

way for more federal legislation in pursuance 

of  its commerce power such as the Civil  Rights 

Act of 1964, and it also allowed the national 

minimum wage and maximum work hours 

provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act to 

be enforced on state and local government 

agencies. However, in more recent years, the 

aggregation principle has seemingly found an 

upper limit. In the Supreme Court’s decisions 

in L o p e z v . U n ite d S ta te s and U n ite d S ta te s v. 

M o r r is o n , the Court held that Congress may



66 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

not regulate non-economic in-state activity 

solely because that activity produces a 

substantial effect on interstate commerce in 

the aggregate. The fact that the Court is again 

looking to draw a clear line between those 

activities subject to federal power and those 

that are not is reminiscent of the Court’ s 

Commerce Clause jurisprudence in the late 

nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The 

Court has drawn a line using a clear distinction 

between economic and non-economic activity 

to prevent what it perceives as an attempt by 

Congress to exert a general police power. The 

Court has made clear that it will  continue to 

limit Congress’s ability to enact non-eco­

nomic legislation in pursuance of its com­

merce authority and, without Constitutional 

Amendment, the pendulum of power will  

swing towards the states.
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The Missing Justice in 

Coleman v. MillerJIHGFEDCBA

B A R R Y  C U S H M A N tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A  m y s te ry has s u rro u nde d the 1939 case 

of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o le m a n v. M il le r ) The case concerned 

the status of the proposed Child Labor 

Amendment, which Congress had passed in 

1924 but which had yet to be ratified by the 

requisite number of states. In January 1925, 

the Kansas state legislature had adopted a 

resolution rejecting the proposed amendment. 

In January 1937, however, the state senate 

had divided evenly on a resolution to ratify 

the amendment, and the state’ s Lieutenant 

Governor had cast the deciding vote in favor 

of ratification. The lower house then adopted 

a resolution of ratification. Members of the 

legislature, claiming that the Lieutenant 

Governor had no right to vote on the senate 

resolution, brought an action in mandamus 

seeking to restrain various state officers from 

taking steps to certify that the legislature had 

ratified the amendment. The petition also 

contended that the proposed amendment was 

stale and no longer subject to ratification 

because it had not been ratified within a 

reasonable time. The state supreme court 

found that the Lieutenant Governor had been

entitled to vote on the resolution, that the 

proposed amendment remained vital and 

subject to ratification, and that the legislature 

had ratified the amendment. That court 
therefore denied the writ of mandamus.2

The threshold question before the Su­

preme Court of the United States was whether 

the Court had jurisdiction over the contro­

versy. More particularly, the issue was 

whether the members of the state legislature 

who had brought the action had standing to 

seek a writ of c e r t io r a r i . In the published 

opinion, the Court split on this issue 5-4, with 

Justices Owen J. Roberts, Hugo L. Black, and 

William O. Douglas joining Felix Frankfurt­

er’s opinion maintaining that the Court lacked 

jurisdiction because the petitioners lacked 
standing.3 The numerical vote had been the 

same when the Justices met in Conference to 

deliberate on April  22, 1939, but the line-up 

had been different. On that occasion, Justice 

James C. McReynolds had taken the view that 

the Court lacked jurisdiction, while Roberts 

had voted to recognize jurisdiction. These 

two Justices switched places between the date
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of the Conference and the announcement of 

the Court’s decision.4

The second question was whether to 

affirm the judgment of the state court on the 

merits. Here the vote in the published 

decision was 7-2. Chief Justice Charles Evans 

Hughes’s opinion for the Court held that the 

question of whether the ratification of the 

amendment was effective in view of its earlier 

rejection by the state legislature was a 

political question to be determined by 
Congress.5 Hughes further opined that the 

question of whether the amendment had lost 

its vitality  through lapse of time was similarly 
non-justiciable.6 Roberts, Frankfurter, and 

Douglas joined Black’s concurring opinion, 

which underscored their view that Congress 

alone held exclusive power over the political 

process of constitutional amendment, and that 

the courts had no business pronouncing upon 
that process.7 McReynolds joined Justice 

Pierce Butler’ s dissent, which maintained 

that the proposed amendment was no longer 

subject to ratification because it had not 

been ratified within a reasonable time. 

Butler’ s opinion did not speak to the issue 

of the legislature’ s previous rejection of the 
proposed amendment.8 Here again, however, 

the ultimate vote was at variance with the 

Conference tally. At the Conference, McRey­

nolds had not voted on the merits, passing 

because of his view that the Court did not 

have jurisdiction of the case. Justices Harlan 

Fiske Stone and Roberts had been with Butler 

in dissent, though it appears from the question 

marks that Stone placed next to his and 

Roberts’s votes in his record of the Confer­

ence that their votes to reverse had been 
tentative.9 Stone ultimately joined Hughes on 

the merits, and Roberts ultimately joined 

Black. The deserted Butler had to be consoled 

by McReynolds’s election to join him in 

dissent.

There is nothing particularly mysterious 

about any of these events. But there was a 

third merits issue in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o le m a n , which was not 

disaggregated in the tallies recorded at the

April  22 Conference but that was given brief, 

separate treatment in Hughes’s opinion. The 

petitioners claimed that the Lieutenant 

Governor was not a part of the “ legislature”  

under the Kansas constitution as it had been 

construed by the state’ s highest court, and 

therefore he was not eligible under 

Article V of the federal Constitution to cast 

the deciding vote on ratification. And herein 

lies the mystery. For Hughes’s published 

opinion reported that “ [wjhether this conten­

tion presents a justiciable controversy, or a 

question which is political in its nature and 

hence not justiciable, is a question upon 

which the Court is equally divided and 

therefore the Court expresses no opinion 
upon that point.” 10

Scholars understandably have been puz­

zled by how a decision in which all nine of  the 

Justices participated could have been 

“ equally divided”  on this issue. Shortly after 

the decision was handed down, the Y a le L a w  

J o u r n a l published an anonymous Note, 

which Bennett Boskey later attributed to 
Yale Law Professor Harry Shulman,11 enti­

tled “ Sawing a Justice in Half.” 12 “ Opinions 

of the Supreme Court delivered in the last 

weeks of this Term,” the author wrote, 

“ exhibit a capacity in that Court for division 

sufficient to confound prophets and critics of 

all schools— legalistic, metaphysical, psy­

chological and economic. But the division in 

C o le m a n v . M il le r ,  recorded June 5th, should 
astonish even a Yogi magician.” 13 After 

surveying the various possibilities, the author 

concluded that

[ojnly Justices McReynolds and

Butler could properly refuse to 

consider the question; for they voted 

for the petitioners on other grounds 

and therefore could have found it 

unnecessary to pass upon additional 

reasons supporting the same conclu­

sion. Yet, failing to carry a majority 

on those grounds, they were under 

some duty to see whether they could
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Jam es C. McReynolds m issed the Court's final Conference on June 3, 1939 to return to his hom etown of 

Elkton, Kentucky (pictured is his  childhood hom e) to  attend “a fam ily reunion and celebration.” The Court had 

announced on May 1 that it would adjourn for the sum m er on May 29, and McReynolds stuck by his 

com m itm ent to attend the Elkton festivities.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

find a majority for their result on any 

of the other grounds urged.14

The still-perplexed author was left with a 

series of questions: “ What really did happen? 

Did a Justice refuse to vote on this issue? And 

if  he did, was it  because he could not make up 

his mind? Or is it possible to saw a Justice 

vertically in half during a conference and 
have him walk away whole?” 15

It would be more than half a century 

before an answer to these questions would 

find its way into print. In a conversation 

published in 2007, Boskey related that:

I later found out through Felix

Frankfurter what had really happened 

in that case. Justice McReynolds, who

was a very ornery Justice, used to go 

off  a little bit early before the end of 

the Term on vacation. And in this 

particular case, the point involved was 

a new point that came up after Justice 

McReynolds had gone off on vaca­

tion. And nobody was going to try and 

call him back—he would have told 

them, frankly, “ Go to hell.” He 

wouldn’ t have come back. So Hughes 

just said, “ On this issue, the Court is 

evenly divided.” 16

This Frankfurter/Boskey account never 

has been contradicted, but neither has it been 

corroborated. As I shall demonstrate, the 

Justices’ papers and contemporary news



70 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

reports make it possible to determine with a 

high degree of confidence that McReynolds 

was indeed absent from the final meeting 

during which the Justices met to deliberate on 

the case. Yet those sources also cast doubt on 

some aspects of the Frankfurter/Boskey 

account.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C o le m a n was delivered on the final 

opinion day of the Term, June 5, 1939. On 

May 30, Chief Justice Hughes wrote to his 

colleagues that “ [fjour opinions have been 

circulated” in C o le m a n— those written by 

Hughes, Black, Frankfurter, and Butler 

—“ and, in view of the shortness of time, it 

seems to me desirable that we should have a 

conference as soon as possible in order to 

determine whether an opinion can be written 

for the Court and, if so, what it shall 

decide. Accordingly, I ask that the brethren 

meet in conference tomorrow, Wednesday, 
at noon.” 17 We know that McReynolds was 

absent from the Court’s final session on 
June 5,18 and the docket books of his 

colleagues reveal that he also did not attend 

the Court’s final Conference on June 3.19 

McReynolds’s premature departure, though 

hardly commendable, may not, however, 

have been quite as irresponsible as the 

Frankfurter/Boskey account would suggest. 

The Court had announced on May 1 that it 

would adjourn for the summer on May 29,20 

and McReynolds, who was traveling to his 

birthplace for “ a family reunion and celebra­
tion,” 21 appears to have relied upon that 

announcement in making his plans.

On June 16, McReynolds’ s clerk for that 

Term, Milton Musser, wrote to his mother 

that “ [t]he Justice returned to Washington 

after having been away for two weeks visiting 

his old home in Kentucky.” 22 Musser’s letter 

does not supply specific dates of travel, but 

the W a s h in g to n P o s t reported on June 12 that 

McReynolds had left his boyhood home in 

Elkton the preceding day in order to attend the 

funeral of Judge Charles H. Robb on 
Tuesday, June 13.23 An absence of two 

weeks would place McReynolds’s departure

from Washington on May 30 or May 31. On 

June 2, 1939, the P a d u c a h S u n -D e m o c r a t 

ran a story with the headline “ Justice 

McReynolds Picks Elkton Visit over Fete 

for King.” With a dateline from Elkton on 

June 2, the story related that McReynolds had 

declined an invitation to meet the King and 

Queen of Great Britain at a June 8 garden 

party held at the British embassy in Wash­

ington “ because,”  as he told his interviewer in 

Elkton, “ I simply preferred to be here.” 24

This evidence alone would suggest that 

McReynolds probably had left Washington 

by the time that the Justices convened on 

May 31. The journey from Washington to 

Elkton is one of approximately 725 miles. 

McReynolds allocated two days for his 

return trip from Elkton to Washington for 

Judge Robb’s funeral, so he probably would 

have allocated the same amount of time for 

his transit from Washington to Elkton. 

McReynolds liked to travel in his 1929 

six-cylinder Buick couple convertible, and 

he may well have journeyed by car to Elkton 

that year. Though he was reportedly an 

aggressively fast driver, he would not have 

covered the distance from Washington to 

Elkton on the roads of 1939 in a single day. 

On a 1936 drive from Washington to West 

Point, for example, a journey of under 300 

miles, McReynolds allocated two days for 

transit, stopping for the first night at Delaware 

Water Gap, approximately 240 miles from 
Washington.25 A journey from Washington 

to Elkton by train likewise would have 

consumed more than a single day. Even in 

1947, the trip from Washington to Cincinnati 

on the Baltimore &  Ohio Railroad was one of 

eleven and one-half hours.26 The connecting 

train on the Louisville &  Nashville Railroad 

to Guthrie, Kentucky, which might have 

required an overnight stay in Cincinnati, 

would as late as 1958 still have consumed 
another six and one-half hours.27 McRey­

nolds would then have faced a ten-mile 

journey to Elkton on the Guthrie & Elkton 

Railroad or possibly transportation by
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In leaving town early, McReynolds declined an invitation to attend a garden party reception at the British 

Em bassy for King George VI and Queen Elizabeth. Pictured are the King, President Franklin D. Roosevelt, 

General Edwin M. W atson, Eleanor Roosevelt, and the Queen posing outside Union Station on June 8.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

automobile. Whether he traveled by car or by 

train, if McReynolds was in Elkton early 

enough on June 2 to grant an interview that 

would be published in Paducah’ s evening 

newspaper, then he probably would have 

departed Washington no later than May 31.

Any remaining doubt about McRey­

nolds’s presence at the May 31 Conference 

is removed, however, by the June 3 dateline 

edition of Drew Pearson and Robert S. 

Allen’s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW a s h in g to n M e r r y -G o -R o u n d col­

umn. Two days before the even division in 

C o le m a n was announced, the authors re­

ported that McReynolds would not be present 

with his hardworking colleagues for the 

Court’ s June 5 session because he would be 

“ taking things easy” in Elkton. “ The Court 

originally had fixed its adjournment date for 

May 29,” Pearson and Allen noted, but 

“ under the pressure of an extra heavy docket, 

Chief Justice Hughes added another week to

the term in order to clean up unfinished cases. 

Meanwhile McReynolds had arranged a 

reunion in Elkton and refused to change his 

plans notwithstanding the uncompleted cal­

endar. He sat with the court on May 29, but 

the next day packed his bag and started on his 

vacation while his colleagues remained at 
their desks.” 28

It appears clear, therefore, that McRey­

nolds was in fact the missing Justice in 

C o le m a n . Nevertheless, elements of the 

Frankfurter/Boskey report appear to be 

misleading. First, though McReynolds cer­

tainly was eminently capable of being “ very 

ornery”  or worse, the intimation that it  was his 

custom to leave for vacation before the 

conclusion of the Court’s Term appears to 

be an embellishment. He did so in 1939, to be 

sure, but an examination of the docket books 

from 1922 to 1940 reveals only one other 

instance in which McReynolds was absent
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from the final Conference.29 And as men­

tioned above, the 1939 instance was one in 

which the Court previously had announced 

plans to adjourn a week earlier. Surely it was 

at the very least “ ornery” to depart prior to 

the actual conclusion of the Term, but 

McReynolds may have been honoring com­

mitments that he had made in reliance on the 

Court’s earlier announcement.

Second, as Hughes surely knew when he 

sent out his May 30 letters to his colleagues 

calling for a Conference on WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o le m a n on 

May 31, McReynolds had just departed on a 

journey that would consume at least two days. 

If  Hughes knew by May 29 that he would call 

a special Conference on C o le m a n , he could 

have communicated (and perhaps did

communicate) that to McReynolds prior to 

the latter’s departure. But if  Hughes did not 

know this until May 30, the earliest that he 

could have reached McReynolds would have 

been upon the Justice’s arrival at his hotel on 

the evening of May 30, and perhaps not until 

his arrival in Elkton on May 31. Hughes 

clearly thought it necessary to resolve the 

remaining issues in C o le m a n before the 

Court’s regular Conference on June 3. Even 

had McReynolds returned to Washington as 

soon as he had heard from Hughes, he could 

not have been present for a Conference before 

June 1 if  he had been reached in transit on 

May 30, or June 3 if  reached in Elkton on 

May 31. It is not as if  McReynolds already 

was settled at a nearby vacation destination

Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes (left) felt com pelled to add another week to the Term to clean up 

unfinished cases, including the Coleman v. Miller case that centered on whether the Lieutenant Governor of 

Kansas had the right to vote to break a tie in the state senate on a resolution to ratify the Child Labor 

Am endm ent. Above are Hughes and McReynolds in May 1938 leaving Holy Trinity Church after attending the 

funeral of Frank Key Green, who had served as the Marshal of the Suprem e Court for twenty-three years.
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and could return to participate in the discus­

sion within what Hughes regarded as the 

necessary time frame. Hughes might have 

been able to contact McReynolds when he 

was either halfway to or had arrived in Elkton 

and asked him to return to discuss the 

question on which the Justices were evenly 

divided. And though McReynolds held 
Hughes in high regard,30 one cannot be 

certain that, under such circumstances, 

McReynolds would not have told the Chief 
Justice to “go to hell.” 31 But that is probably 

not why Hughes did not reach out to his 

departed colleague.

Because the question of whether the 

Lieutenant Governor was eligible to vote had 
been briefed and argued by the parties,32 and 

because the original draft of Hughes’s 

opinion had contained over five pages of 

text deciding the issue on the merits in favor 
of the officer’ s eligibility,33 that issue cannot 

have been “ a new point that came up”  so late 

in the deliberations. Instead, it appears that 

the precise issue of whether the Lieutenant 

Governor’s eligibility to vote presented a 

non-justiciable political question, which the 

parties had neither briefed nor argued, was “ a 

new point”  raised by one of the Justices late in 

the production of the opinions.

That Justice appears to have been Black, 

who wrote in the margin of his copy of 

Hughes’s draft opinion that the issue of the 

Lieutenant Governor’s eligibility  presented “ a 
political question for Congress,” 34 and scrib­

bled “by Congress though”  next to Hughes’ s 

assertion that the issue presented “ a federal 

question to be determined in deciding whether 

the ‘ legislature’ has acted as required by 

Article V.” 35 In his concurring opinion, which 

was joined by Roberts, Frankfurter, and 

Douglas, Black asserted that “ whether sub­

mission, WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAin te r v e n in g p r o c e d u r e or Congres­

sional determination of ratification conforms 

to the command of the Constitution, calls for 

decisions by a ‘political department’ of 

questions of a type which this Court has 
frequently designated ‘political.’ ” 36 Black

went on to disapprove of “ judicial review of 

or pronouncements ... as to whether duly 

authorized state officials have proceeded 

properly in ratifying or voting for ratification”  

as “ judicial interference” in “ matters that we 

believe were intrusted [sic] by the Constitution 

solely to the political branch of govern­

ment.” 37 The Amendment process, Black 

insisted, was “ ‘political’ in its entirety, from 

submission until an amendment becomes part 

of the Constitution, and is not subject to 

judicial guidance, control, or interference at 
any point.” 38

Hughes’ s draft opinion made clear that he 

disagreed with Black, Roberts, Frankfurter, 

and Douglas on the question of the justicia­

bility of the issue of the Lieutenant Gover­

nor’s eligibility, and it appears that Stone and 

Justice Stanley Reed agreed with him. Justice 

Butler’ s dissenting opinion closed by observ­

ing that the question of whether the issue of 

the proposed amendment’s vitality was non- 

justiciable “ was not raised by the parties or by 

the United States appearing as amicus curiae.”  

Neither had that question been suggested by 

the Court when it ordered re-argument. It 

therefore would be inappropriate, Butler 

opined, “ without hearing argument on the 

point,”  to hold that the Court lacked power to 

decide the question of whether the amend­
ment was no longer subject to ratification.39 

Though his opinion did not speak to the issue 

of the Lieutenant Governor’s eligibility, 

Butler may well have taken a similar view 

of the claim that the Court should declare 

that issue non-justiciable without appropriate 

briefing and argument. In any event, it  appears 

that Butler joined Hughes, Stone, and Reed in 

opposing those who supported Black’s posi­

tion, producing a 4-4 tie. It appears that 

McReynolds simply was not there to break the 

deadlock.

Even if  McReynolds had been present, 

however, it is not certain that he would have 

cast a vote on the issue. Douglas noted in his 

docket book that, at the April  22 Conference, 

“ McReynolds having voted to dismiss did not



74 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

vote on the merits.” 40 Even though he had lost 

on the jurisdictional issue, McReynolds 

nevertheless refused at Conference to engage 

the merits issues that his colleagues would of 

necessity address in view of the majority’ s 

holding that the petitioners had standing. As 

is suggested by the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAY a le L a w  J o u r n a l Note, 

McReynolds “ could properly refuse to 

consider the question” of the Lieutenant 

Governor’s eligibility  to vote on the Amend­

ment’s ratification in view of the fact that he 

had voted to rule in favor of the petitioners on 

other grounds. Even if  he was, as the Note 

author doubtfully intimated, “ under some 

duty” to “ find a majority for [his] result on 

any of the other grounds urged,” 41 he may 

have agreed with Hughes’s draft opinion that 

the Lieutenant Governor was in fact eligible 

to vote on ratification, and taking that position 

would not have changed the outcome of the 

case. In short, it may be that the irascible 

Justice, who had declined to vote on any of 

the merits issues at the original Conference, 

would similarly have refused to vote on the 

issue of the Lieutenant Governor’s eligibility  

had he been present for the later special 

Conference. McReynolds ultimately backed 

his friend Butler on the question of the 

proposed amendment’s vitality, and for this it 

was necessary that he change his Conference 

position-probably quite reluctantly, in light 

of what we know of his jurisdictional 
views42—on the threshold question of stand­

ing. But having thus disposed of the merits on 

the ground that the proposed amendment was 

no longer subject to ratification, McReynolds 

might not have thought it necessary or proper 

to reach the issue of the Lieutenant Gover­

nor’s eligibility. Indeed, the fact that Butler’ s 

dissenting opinion also did not speak to the 

issue of the Kansas legislature’s previous 

rejection of the proposed amendment may 

have been a concession made to conciliate 

McReynolds. McReynolds may have deter­

mined not to reach the merits of either of these 

issues before departing on May 30, and he 

may have made that determination known

before his departure. If  so, Hughes would 

have been fully aware of the futility of 

recalling McReynolds for the special Confer­

ence. Thus, it may not have mattered that 

McReynolds was in fact the missing Justice in 

C o le m a n v. M il le r .
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“How Do You Feel About W riting 
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Dissenting Vision for Am erica JIHGFEDCBA

C H A R L E S  L .  Z E L D E N tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

On Octo be r 2, 1967, with his family, 

friends, and admirers and President of the 

United States Lyndon B. Johnson in atten­

dance, Thurgood Marshall stood up in the 

chamber of the Supreme Court of the United 

States, put his hand on a Bible, and swore to 

“ administer justice without respect to persons, 

. . . [to] do equal right to the poor and to the 

rich, and that [he would] faithfully and 

impartially discharge and perform all the 

duties incumbent upon [him] . . . under the 

Constitution and laws of the United States.”  

With these words, Marshall became the 

nation’s newest, and first African American, 

Associate Justice of  the United States Supreme 

Court. A  clearly emotional Marshall confessed 

at the time how “ he wished his daddy could 

have been there.”  Still, Marshall added, he just 

knew that his father “was on some street comer 

in heaven shaking his finger and saying, ‘I  

knew my boy would do it.’” 1

Without doubt, this was one of  Marshall’ s 

proudest days. Only his victory as a lawyer inWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

B r o w n v . B o a r d o f E d u c a t io n (1954) came 

close to generating in him the feelings of 

accomplishment and professional vindication 

brought by his elevation to the Supreme Court. 

Marshall’ s ascent to the peak of the legal 

profession filled him with a profound feeling 

of satisfaction. As he later explained to 

biographer Carl T. Rowan, “ How did I feel? 

Hell, like any other lawyer in America would 

feel. Real proud—because there is no greater 

honor a lawyer can get. I felt especially great 

because I knew President Johnson was using 

me to say something important to the nation.” 2

Marshall’s feelings of pride and achieve­

ment did not last, however. As the ideological 

makeup of the Court and the political culture 

of the nation shifted over time to the right, 

Marshall increasingly became isolated from, 

and then marginalized by, his fellow Justices; 

with each passing year, a frustrated, angry, and 

often bitter Marshall saw the landmarks of his 

life ’s work—the social, political, economic, 

and constitutional changes that he had helped
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br ing abo u t at s u ch gre at co s t as the he ad o f the  

Natio nal As s o ciatio n fo r the Advance m e nt o f 

Co lo re d Pe o p le (NAACP) Legal Defense and 

Education Fund, Inc. (LDF)—being circum­

scribed, abandoned, or reversed. By the end of 

his tenure on the Court, Marshall, by now 

cantankerous and belligerent, would ask 

prospective law clerks a simple yet revealing 

question by which to determine their suitabil­

ity to be one of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAh is clerks: “ How do you feel 
about writing dissents?” 3

That bitter question was not one that 

Marshall had ever expected to have to ask. 

The Supreme Court that he joined in the fall 

of 1967 was filled with familiar and philo­

sophically compatible friends and allies. 

Marshall and Chief Justice Earl Warren had 

a close relationship based on mutual admira­

tion, respect, and genuine friendship. In 

William J. Brennan, Jr., Marshall found a 

friend and ally whose worldview and, more 

important, whose understanding of law and 

the Constitution, harmonized perfectly with 

his own. Although his relationships with the 

other Justices were not always as congenial 

and familiar as those with Warren and 

Brennan, Marshall nonetheless joined a Court 

with a clear liberal majority, one that his 

appointment as Justice strengthened.

For the next several years Marshall 

regularly voted in the majority, participating in 

the Supreme Court’s ongoing redefinition of 

individual and group civil  rights and liberties. He 

joined majorities in such landmark cases as 

G r e e n v. C o u n ty S c h o o l B o a r d o f N e w K e n t 

C o u n ty (1968), in which a unanimous Supreme 

Court charged Southern school boards “ with the 

affirmative duty to take whatever steps might be 

necessary to convert to a unitary system in which 

racial discrimination is eliminated root and 
branch” ;4 Tones- v. A lfr e d H . M a y e r Co. (1968),5 

which applied the Thirteenth Amendment and 

the 1866 Civil  Rights Act to preclude all forms of 

racial discrimination in the sale or leasing of 

private property, including, as in that particular 

case, when the discrimination was done entirely 

by a private citizen with no government support

or action; A l le n v. B o a r d o f E le c t io n s (1969),6 in 

which a 7-2 majority expanded the reach of the 

Voting Rights Act of 1965 to cover not just cases 

of blatant race-based vote d e n ia l , but also the 

more “ subtle”  techniques of vote d i lu t io n that 

undermined the effectiveness of  minority voting; 

A le x a n d e r v . H o lm e s C o u n ty B o a r d o f  E d u c a­

t io n (1969), a p e r c u r ia m (by the Court) ruling 

declaring that it was “ [t]he obligation of every 

school district ... to terminate dual school 

systems a t o n c e and to operate now and hereafter 
only unitary schools” ;7 S w a n n v . C h a r lo t te - 

M e c k le n b u r g B o a r d o f E d u c a t io n (1971),8 

which held unanimously that mandatory student 

busing and racial quota “ guidelines” were 

appropriate remedies for the problem of racial 

imbalance among schools, even where the 

imbalance arose due to residential segregation 

and not a deliberate assignment based on race; 

F u r m a n v. G e o r g ia (1972), outlawing for a time 

the death penalty in America;9 R o e v. W a d e 

(1973),10 which upheld the constitutional pri­

vacy justification for a woman’s right to 

terminate her pregnancy by an abortion; and 

U . S . v . N ix o n (1974), in which a unanimous 

Supreme Court rejected President Richard M. 

Nixon’s claim to “ an absolute, unqualified 

Presidential privilege of immunity from judicial 

process under all circumstances.” 11

Marshall himself wrote majority opin­

ions in several important civil  rights and civil  

liberties cases during these years. His first 

opinion, M e m p a v. R h a y (1967), confronted 

the question whether a felony defendant had a 

constitutional right to counsel during p o s t­

in g  proceedings for “ revocation of probation 

or a deferred sentencing.”  In an opinion that 

Justice Black praised for its “ brevity, clarity 

and force,”  Marshall answered: yes, they did. 

Given that lawyers already were required 

during trials or guilty pleas, Marshall saw no 

reason why they should not also be required at 

the “ deferred sentencing stage.” 12

In the next term, Marshall wrote a 7-2 

majority opinion in B e n to n v . M a r y la n d 

(1969), extending the Fifth Amendment’s 

ban on double jeopardy (being tried twice
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Cecilia Suyat gave her husband ’s robe a last m inute check when Thurgood Marshall was sworn in at the 

Suprem e Court in October 1967. Marshall wore the robe he had used when he sat on New  York City ’s Second 

District Court of Appeals.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

fo r the s am e crime) to include state-court 

proceedings. In doing so, Marshall expressly 

overruled the precedent established by WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
P a lk o v . C o n n e c t ic u t (1937). “ P a lk o 's roots 

[were] cut away years ago,” Marshall 

explained. “ We today only recognize the 

inevitable”—namely, that the “ double jeop­

ardy prohibition of the Fifth Amendment 

represents a fundamental ideal in our 

constitutional heritage, and that it should 

apply to the States through the Fourteenth 

Amendment.” 13

That same year, Marshall wrote the 

Court’ s opinion in S ta n le y v . G e o r g ia (1969) 

supporting an individual’s right to own and 

view pornography in the privacy of his or her 

own home. “ It is now well established,”  wrote 

Marshall, “ that the Constitution protects the 

right to receive information and ideas . . .

regardless of their social worth.” True, the 

state did have the authority to define certain 

materials as obscene, and hence illegal. 

However, this power had limits:

We think that mere categorization of 

these films as “ obscene" is insuffi­

cient justification for such a drastic 

invasion of  personal liberties guaran­

teed by the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments. Whatever may be the 

justifications for other statutes regu­

lating obscenity, we do not think they 

reach into the privacy of one’s own 

home. I  f  the F irst Amendment means 

anything, it means that a State has no 

business telling a man, sitting alone 

in his own house, what books he may 

read or what films he may watch.
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“ Our whole constitutional heritage,”  Mar­

shall concluded, “ rebels at the thought of giving 

government the power to control men ’  s minds.14

Yet, after the election of Richard M. 

Nixon as President in 1968, the ideological 

makeup of the Court began to shift. The legal 

revolution instigated by the Warren Court’s 

expansive readings of individual civil  liberties 

and its promotion of racial and social justice 

were highly controversial. Many Americans 

adamantly opposed these changes and blamed 

the Supreme Court for the wrenching social, 

economic, and cultural effects that the Court 

seemed to impose on their everyday lives. For 

conservative politicians seeking electoral 

success, tapping this discontent and attacking 

the Supreme Court for its liberal judicial 

activism became “ a powerful tool for attract­
ing votes.” 15 Conservative candidates for 

President regularly vowed (in Richard M. 

Nixon’s words) to appoint judges who would 

“ interpret the Constitution, and not. . . place 

[themselves] above the Constitution or outside 
of the Constitution.” 16

Motivated by ideological and electoral 

imperatives, Republican Presidents beginning 

with Nixon strove to transform the Supreme 

Court’s ideological balance by appointing to the 

Court those who they believed (or hoped) would 

be conservative Justices. Over time, these 

appointments succeeded in slowly, though 

inconsistently, shifting the Court’s ideological 

and jurisprudential center rightward.
The change began not long after Marshall 

joined the Court. On June 26, 1968, President 

Johnson announced that Earl Warren was 

stepping down as Chief Justice. Johnson quickly 

nominated Associate Justice Abe Fortas to 

succeed Warren and Homer Thomberry, a judge 

on the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fifth Circuit and an old friend of LBJ, to take 

Fortas’s seat. Unfortunately for Johnson, the 

Senate balked at confirming Fortas. LBJ’s 

mounting political weakness over the war in 

Vietnam, Fortas’s unabashed liberalism, and an 

emerging scandal over the Justice’s financial 

improprieties combined to derail Fortas’s

nomination. (It also didn’t help that Fortas 

was Jewish; the Senate Judiciary Committee 

Chair, James O. Eastland (D-MS), later admit­

ted: “After Marshall, I couldn’ t go back to 

Mississippi if  a Jewish chief justice swore in the 
next President.” )17 The withdrawal of Fortas’s 

nomination (after a failed vote of cloture to end a 

Senate filibuster) left no vacancy for Thomberry 

to fill,  preventing his appointment as well.

Had Fortas and Thomberry been con­

firmed, the Court’ s liberal bloc would have 

been dominant for years to come. Instead, the 

delay caused by the Senate’s refusal to 

confirm Fortas meant that it was Richard 

M. Nixon who named the next Chief Justice, 

and he chose conservative federal appellate 

judge Warren E. Burger as Warren’ s succes­

sor. Soon after Burger’s appointment, the 

ongoing scandal over Fortas’s financial 

improprieties forced Fortas to resign his 

seat rather than risk impeachment and 

possible criminal prosecution. Fortas’s resig­

nation gave Nixon a second vacancy on the 

Court, which, after two failed efforts to name 

a Southerner as Fortas’s replacement, he 

filled in June 1970 by appointing federal 

appellate judge Harry A. Blackmun. In 1971, 

two vacancies caused by the retirements of 

Justices Hugo L. Black and John Marshall 

Harlan II allowed Nixon to appoint to 

the Court right-leaning moderate Lewis F. 

Powell and conservative William H. 

Rehnquist. Later appointments by Presidents 

Gerald R. Ford, Ronald Reagan, and George 

H. W. Bush followed the essentially moder- 

ate-to-conservative appointment patterns set 

by Nixon. (President Jimmy Carter was one 

of those rare Presidents who never had a 

chance to appoint a Justice to the Court.)

The Great Dissenter

Though it took years for the shift in a 

conservative direction to become clear, as 

some Justices proved less conservative than 

advertised, the appointments of Justices
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Po we ll and Rehnquist in 1972 represented an 

important tipping point in the Court’s 

ideological composition and doctrinal per­

spective. From then onward, Marshall found 

himself increasingly in the minority on key 

issues of civil  rights, civil  liberties, and social 

justice—the topics that mattered most to 

him—so that he was forced to write ever­

more acerbic dissents in defense of the 

Constitution as he understood it.

Not that Marshall never wrote majority 

opinions. It was the practice of the Supreme 

Court, then as now, to divide the workload of 

the Court as evenly as possible, so that each 

Justice wrote roughly an equal number of 

majority opinions each term. However, the 

cases in which Marshall was assigned 

majority opinions were, in Marshall’ s own 

words, those decisions “ least likely  to be cited 

by a person for any purpose under any 
circumstances.” 18 This was, for the most part, 

a valid complaint on Marshall’ s part. The vast 

majority of Marshall’ s opinions for the Court

under Burger and Rehnquist involved techni­

cal matters of civil and procedural law on 

which the Court was unanimous and in which 

the Justices’ general consensus sharply cur­

tailed the scope and inventiveness of Mar­
shall’ s legal and constitutional arguments.19

It was in his dissents that Marshall was 

able to articulate fully his constitutional 

views, philosophies, and beliefs. Not surpris­

ingly, given the ongoing importance of civil  

rights and liberties cases in the Supreme 

Court—along with the Court’ s rightward 

shift—Marshall dissented in forty percent 

of all of the cases handed down during his 

tenure on the Court. In fact, Marshall actually 

wrote more dissents (363) than majority 

opinions (322), in addition to the 962 times 

that he joined his name to another Justice’ s 
dissent.20

In terms of quantity, passion, and 

argumentative consistency, Marshall was 

the Great Dissenter of the Burger and 

Rehnquist Courts. Not only did Marshall

Shortly after Marshall joined the Court, Republican Presidents, beginning with Richard Nixon, strove to 

transform the Suprem e Court by appointing new Justices who slowly shifted the Court’s ideological and  

jurisprudential center rightward. Marshall increasingly found him self in the m inority on key issues of civil 

rights, civil liberties, and social justice— the topics that m attered m ost to him— and issued frequent dissents. 

Above is Marshall (second from left) in 1981 with the other m em bers of the Court when President Ronald 

Reagan cam e to visit his new appointee, Sandra Day O ’Connor.
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dis s e nt re gu lar ly , bu t he als o s to o d by his 

dis s e nts lo ng afte r the o the r m e m be rs o f the 

Co u rt had m o ve d o n and acce p te d the 

m ajo r ity’s o p inio n as s e ttle d law. As fo rm e r 

Mars hall law cle rk Martha Mino w no te d 

fo llo wing Mars hall’s de ath in 1993,

It is common practice for Justices 

whose views have not prevailed 

with the majority to agree eventually 

to abide by the majority’ s decisions.

But Justice Marshall was an uncom­

mon Justice. He believed in a rule of 

law that permitted and respected 

dissent. He imagined and evoked the 

lived experiences of a range of 

human beings. He brought critical 

historical perspectives to the tasks of 

analyzing the facts and interpreting 

the Constitution in a process de­

signed to enlarge legal guarantees of 

human dignity. He worked to re­

deem the promise of this nation 

whose greatness he celebrated by 

devotion to law and by dissent.21

Once Marshall had made up his mind on 

the law’s proper scope and content, he stood 

by his dissenting opinion. And, unlike his 

friend and colleague on the Court, William  J. 

Brennan, Marshall regularly refused to 

modify his dissenting stance in the name of 

negotiating a less objectionable majority 

opinion. For Marshall there was a right and 

a wrong, and he always stuck with what he 

believed was the right interpretation of the 

Constitution.

Part of what made Marshall so bitter in 

his later years was that he increasingly found 

himself working with colleagues who, to 

varying degrees, had very different concep­

tions of the Constitution. To them, the 

Constitution did not reflect the evolving 

soul of a nation; it was not a means “ of 

eradicating . . . entrenched inequalities”  

through law and legal institutions. Rather, 

these Justices saw the Constitution as 

fundamentally a conservative document, as

a legal road map with sharply delineated 

limits, signposts, and constraints; its purpose, 

they thought, was to regulate and channel the 

energy of a nation along pre-determined 

paths. Yes, Marshall’ s colleagues conceded, 

those paths could be changed, the nation’s 

road map could be updated for a new era, but 

this change could only be achieved, they 

insisted, by amending the document itself.

To Marshall, his colleagues’ constricted 

view of the Constitution missed the point. As 

former law clerk and later Associate Justice 

Elena Kagan noted following Marshall’ s 

death:

Marshall believed that one kind of law

—the Constitution—was special, and 

that the courts must interpret it in a 

special manner. . . . [That] constitu­

tional interpretation demanded... that 

the courts show a special solicitude 

for the despised and disadvantaged. 

[That] it was the role of the courts, in 

interpreting the Constitution, to pro­

tect the people who went unprotected 

by every other organ of government 

—to safeguard the interests of people 

who had no other champion.

In fact, to Marshall, “ [t]he [Supreme] 

Court existed primarily to fulfill  this mis­
sion.” 22 The goal, the purpose, of being a 

judge was to use the Constitution to make 

things better—to apply its powers to those 

areas of life long ignored, marginalized, or 

denigrated. Or, to paraphrase a favorite 

saying of Marshall’ s mentor Charles Hamil­

ton Houston, to Marshall a judge was either a 

social engineer improving society and build­

ing a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAm o r e perfect union—or he was a 

parasite. To his dying day, Marshall refused 

to be a parasite.

Marshall’s commitment to achieving a 

m o r e perfect union shaped his vision of the 

law and of his role on the Court. Marshall 

believed with an unshakable faith that the 

American social and constitutional order was 

fundamentally sound; the racism and



THURGOOD MARSHALL ’S DISSENTS 83tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

dis cr im inatio n that Mars hall fo u ght thro u gh­

out his life were not a part of the legal and 

constitutional system but rather were a cancer 

afflicting it—a sickness that could be ex­

tracted, leaving behind a “ cured” system. 

Law already provided for equality, Marshall 

argued. What was needed was for govern­

ment officials to give effect to rules already 

on the books. Fix this procedural breakdown, 

Marshall believed, and problems of race and 

hate would work themselves out. As former 

law clerk Owen Fiss explained, Marshall was 

“ sustained by his love of the law—not just its 

maneuvering, of which he never seemed to 

tire, but also its redemptive possibilities. For 
Marshall, the law [was] our last hope.” 23

Marshall’s commitment to making 

things better, to healing what was ailing 

and fixing what was broken in the American 

body politic, shaped the content of his 

dissents. Those dissents were never simple 

rejections of the arguments made in the 

majority opinion; each of Marshall’ s dis­

senting opinions held true to a coherent 

vision of what a fully  healed America would 

look and act like. Taking on matters of 

substance and of process alike, Marshall’ s 

dissents stressed the actual over the theoret­

ical and emphasized that the needs of the 

many had precedence over the desires of the 

few and that the law had to treat everyone 

equally in practice and, where necessary, to 

provide a helping hand to those who were 

disadvantaged. Most important, Marshall 

understood, and his dissents explained, 

that the Court’s rulings had real impacts 

on real people living normal lives—and that 

these impacts and lives mattered. Karen 
Hastie Williams,24 Marshall’s god-daughter 

and former law clerk, put it best when she 

noted how

Marshall’s opinions are character­

ized by his sensitivity to the effect of 

rules on people, a sensitivity which, 

in part, emanates from his experience 

as an advocate who was actively and

personally involved in the struggles 

of  the individuals that he represented. 

His approach always recognizes the 

importance of understanding the 

human element of an issue, he makes 

a conscious choice to ensure that the 

law protects individuals because law, 

untempered, often fails to give due 

consideration to the human reality.25

Econom ic Inequality

Marshall’s emphasis in his dissents on 

the real over the assumed and on people over 

theory showed up early in the 1973 case of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
U n ite d S ta te s v . K r a s . In 1971, Robert Kras 

sought to declare bankruptcy. However, he 

was unable to do so because he could not 

afford the required fifty-dollar filing fee. 

Though federal law allowed those with no 

assets to pay the fee in installments, the 

unemployed Kras still found the fee prohibi­

tive. His lawyer argued that the imposition of 

the fifty-dollar fee as a prerequisite for 

bankruptcy deprived his impoverished client 

of the ability to declare bankruptcy, a clear 

violation of due process of law and equal 

protection. The lower courts agreed. Five 

Justices did not. Writing for the majority, 

Justice Blackmun contended that a fifty- 

dollar fee was “ a reasonable exercise of 

Congress’ plenary power over bankruptcy” ; 

further, Blackmun noted, when paid in 

installments the fee imposed a negligible 

burden on a petitioner for bankruptcy, “ a sum 

. . . less than the price of a movie and little 

more than the cost of a pack or two of 
cigarettes.” 26

Marshall found Blackmun’s “ unfounded 

assertions”  and “ cavalier[]”  treatment of Kras 

offensive. He emphatically believed, as he 

noted in conference, that “ no federal judicial 

proceeding can be denied anyone because he 

does not have . . . money.” 27 To many 

Americans, poverty was a painful reality, and
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fifty  do llars was a s ignificant s u m . “ It may be 

easy for some people to think that weekly 

savings of less than $2 are no burden,”  

Marshall wrote in dissent. “ But no one who 

has had close contact with poor people can 

fail to understand how close to the margin of 

survival many of them are.”

A pack or two of cigarettes may be, 

for them, not a routine purchase but 

a luxury indulged in only rarely. The 

desperately poor almost never go to 

see a movie, which the majority 

seems to believe is an almost weekly 

activity. They have more important 

things to do with what little money 

they have— like attempting to pro­

vide some comforts for a gravely ill  

child, as Kras must do.

“ It is perfectly proper for judges to 

disagree about what the Constitution re­

quires,”  Marshall scathingly concluded. “ But 

it is disgraceful for an interpretation of the 

Constitution to be premised upon unfounded 
assumptions about how people live.” 28

In 1978 Marshall once again took his 

fellow Justices to task for ignoring, with 

“ callous Indifference,” the “ realities”  of life 

for the poor. The case, WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF la g g B r o th e r s v. 

B r o o k s (1978), arose when Shirley Brooks of 

Mount Vernon, New York, was evicted from 

her apartment in June 1973. The city marshal 

overseeing the eviction had arranged for the 

Flagg Brothers to move and store Brooks’ s 

possessions. In the months that followed, 

Brooks and the Flagg Brothers repeatedly 

argued over the storage costs. In August 1973, 

the Flagg Brothers gave notice to Brooks that 

she had to pay up or that they would sell her 

furniture as permitted under New York’ s 

Uniform Commercial Code. Brooks re­

sponded by hiring a lawyer and challenging 

under the Fourteenth Amendment— in a class 

action soon joined by others similarly 

situated—the mover’ s right to sell her 

property. The Flagg Brothers responded

with a motion to dismiss on the grounds 

that Brooks had failed to state a proper 

claim for federal relief under the Fourteenth 

Amendment—namely proof of state action.

At trial, the District Court had dismissed 

the case for lack of federal jurisdiction. On 

appeal, the Second Circuit found proof of 

enough state action in New York’s writing of 

the relevant commercial code provisions to 

warrant a Fourteenth Amendment challenge. 

When the case came before the Supreme 

Court, a six-member majority overruled the 

Second Circuit, holding that lack of any direct 

action on the part of  New York State deprived 

this dispute of the necessary “ public action”  

element that would allow Brooks to invoke 

the Fourteenth Amendment. This case, they 

insisted, was a private dispute that, though the 

procedures for resolution (the sale of the 

goods) were outlined by state law, did not 

directly involve the state as an actor.

Marshall disagreed with the majority’ s 

view of the state’ s actual role in this matter. 

To him, the state created adequate state action 

for federal jurisdiction by defining and 

controlling the interactions between debtor 

and creditor by law. The major part of 

Marshall’s dissent, however, focused on the 

majority’s blithe disregard for the realities of 

the appellant’s situation. As supporting 

justification for its denial of jurisdiction, the 

majority had noted how one of the co­

plaintiffs in the class action suit, Martha 

Jones, “ could have sought to replevy her 

goods at any time under state law.” Yet for 

this to happen, Marshall noted, Jones would 

have had to have posted a “ surety” bond 

worth “ not less than twice the value” of the 

goods involved. This requirement was simply 

beyond Jones’ s means. Jones, Marshall 

explained, only earned eighty-seven dollars 

per week from her job. She had already been 

evicted from her apartment and owed the 

Flagg Brothers “ at least $335, an amount she 

could not afford.”  So, although the majority 

was technically correct in saying that Jones 

c o u ld have obtained a bond, gone to state
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co u r t, and re co ve re d he r p ro p e r ty , it was 

“ equally true that, given adequate funds, 

respondent could have paid her rent and 

remained in her apartment, thereby avoiding 

eviction and the seizure of her household 

goods by the warehousemen.”  This, however, 

was not the reality on the ground; Jones did 

not have the necessary funds, and it was 

wrong for the Court to “ close our eyes to the 
realities that led to this litigation.” 29

Educational Equality

The need for the Supreme Court to focus 

on actual reality—on the facts as they were on 

the ground— in determining its rulings, and 

not on mere theory, assumption, or narrow 

technical readings of constitutional doctrines, 

also underlay many of Marshall’s most 

impassioned dissents. One especially poignant 

example came in 1973’ s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS a n A n to n io In d e­

p e n d e n t S c h o o l D is tr ic t v . R o d r ig u e z . R o d r i­

g u e z dealt with the issue of public school 

funding. Texas provided roughly eighty 

percent of the money needed to run the state’ s 

public schools. The remaining twenty percent 

had to be raised from within the districts 

themselves, “under a formula designed to 

reflect each district’ s relative taxpaying abil­

ity.” 30 In practical terms, this formula meant 

that richer school districts could generate more 

local funding per student than poorer districts 

could. In the San Antonio area, the per-student 

disparity between the richest and poorest 
districts was $238 ($594 versus $356).31

In December 1971, a three-judge federal 

district court held Texas’ s school finance 

system unconstitutional under the equal 

protection clause of the Fourteenth Amend­
ment.32 On appeal, the Court voted, 5-4, to 

reverse the trial court’ s judgment. Writing for 

the majority, Justice Powell explained that 

education was n o t “ a fundamental right 

explicitly or implicitly protected by the 

Constitution.” 33 Consequently, Texas did 

not need to provide a “ compelling”

justification demonstrating that its system 

of unequal school funding was narrowly 

tailored to achieve an essential state interest; 

so long as it could show that the law 

“ rationally furthers some legitimate, articu­

lated state purpose,” Powell declared, the 

state had met its constitutional burden under 
the Equal Protection Clause.34

A clearly angry Marshall could not 

disagree more. Describing the majority’s 

ruling as “ a retreat from our historic 

commitment to equality of educational 

opportunity” and “ an emasculation of the 

Equal Protection Clause,” Marshall stressed 

that attempting to compress all equal protec­

tion matters “ into one of two neat categories 

which dictate the appropriate standard of 

review—strict scrutiny or mere rational­

ity”—was a mistake. Not only did the Court’s 

“ decisions in the field of equal protection defy 

such easy categorization,”  Marshall insisted, 

but the Court regularly “ applied a [wide] 

spectrum of standards” depending “ on the 

constitutional and societal importance of the 

interest adversely affected and the recognized 

invidiousness of the basis upon which the 

particular classification is drawn.” For these 

reasons, Marshall rejected “ the majority’s 

labored efforts to demonstrate that funda­

mental interests, which call for strict scrutiny 

of the challenged classification, encompass 

only established rights which we are 

somehow bound to recognize from the text 
of the Constitution itself.” 35

The process of “ determining which 

interests are fundamental is a difficult one,”  

Marshall admitted. “ But I do not think the 

problem is insurmountable.”  Rather, the Court 

needed “ to determine the extent to which 

constitutionally guaranteed rights are depen­

dent on interests not mentioned in the 

Constitution.” After all, Marshall noted, the 

Court had used strict scrutiny for “procreation, 

the exercise of the state franchise, and access 

to criminal appellate processes.”  None of  these 

subjects was mentioned in the Constitution’s
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text; why not extend the same courtesy to 

educational funding? “ In my judgment,”  

Marshall concluded, “ any substantial degree 

of scrutiny of the operation of the Texas 

financing scheme reveals that the State has 

selected means wholly inappropriate to secure 

its purported interest in assuring its school 

districts local fiscal control.”  As such, it was a 

policy prohibited by the equal protection 
clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.36

One year later, Marshall reiterated these 

same points in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM il l ik e n  v . B r a d le y (1974), a 

desegregation suit emerging from Detroit. As 

in many Northern cities, deliberate school 

policies and white flight to the suburbs had 

created within the city of Detroit a school 

district most of whose students were black. 

Judge Stephen J. Roth of the United States 

District Court for the Eastern District of 

Michigan was tasked with desegregating the 

Detroit schools. After ruling that segregation

in the Detroit schools was, at least in part, d e 

ju r e (that is, was the result of explicit policy 

choices by the school board and state govern­

ment), Roth determined that there was no 

effective method of integrating the Detroit 

schools without including in the remedy the 

fifty-three mostly white suburban school 

districts surrounding Detroit. Treating the 

greater Detroit metropolitan area as a single 

community, Judge Roth adopted an integra­

tion plan embracing inter-district integration 

and the mandatory busing of students.37

When the M il l ik e n case arrived at the 

Supreme Court in early 1974, it sharply 

divided the Justices. The fault line was Judge 

Roth’ s inter-district integration remedy. 

Chief Justice Burger and Justices Blackmun, 

Powell, Rehnquist, and Potter Stewart 

strongly believed that “ without an inter­

district violation and inter-district effect, 

there is no constitutional wrong calling for
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an inte r-dis tr ict re m e dy .” The trial record, 

they argued, showed “ evidence of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAd e ju r e  

segregated conditions o n ly in the Detroit 

schools.”  Accordingly, the majority held that 

“ to approve the remedy ordered by the [trial]  

court would impose on the outlying districts, 

not shown to have committed any constitu­

tional violation, a wholly impermissible 

remedy based on a standard not hinted at in 

B r o w n I  and I I  or any holding of this Court.”  

The majority therefore remanded the case to 

the trial court, instructing Judge Roth to adopt 

“ a decree directed to eliminating the segrega­

tion found to exist in Detroit city schools,”  

and those schools alone.38

The dissenting Justices—William O. 

Douglas, William J. Brennan, Jr., Byron R. 

White, and Marshall—agreed with Judge 

Roth that the only effective method for 

desegregating the Detroit schools de­

manded a regional approach to integra­
tion.39 A clearly irritated Marshall—he 

was so angry that he chose to read part of 

his dissent verbatim from the Bench40— 

took the lead in attacking the majority’ s 

position. “ After 20 years of small, often 

difficult steps toward . . . making ‘a living  

truth’ of our constitutional ideal of equal 

justice under law,” Marshall began, the 

Court “ today takes a giant step 

backwards.”

Notwithstanding a record showing 

widespread and pervasive racial 

segregation in the educational sys­

tem provided by the State of 

Michigan for children in Detroit, 

this Court holds that the District 

Court was powerless to require the 

State to remedy its constitutional 

violation in any meaningful fashion.

. . thereby guaranteeing that Negro 

children in Detroit will  receive the 

same separate and inherently un­

equal education in the future as they 

have been unconstitutionally af­
forded in the past.41

This approach was unacceptable. Where 

proof of state-imposed segregation existed, it 

was the state’ s duty—and, where the state 

would not act, that of the federal courts—“ to 

eliminate root and branch all vestiges of racial 

discrimination and to achieve the greatest 

possible degree of actual desegregation.” As 

Marshall insisted, “ The rights at issue in this 

case are too fundamental”  to be ignored in so 

cavalier and superficial a manner. “ We deal 

here with the right of all of our children, 

whatever their race, to an equal start in life 

and to an equal opportunity to reach their full  

potential as citizens . . . Our Nation, I fear, 

will  be ill-served by the Court’ s refusal to 

remedy separate and unequal education, for 

unless our children begin to learn together, 

there is little hope that our people will  ever 
learn to live together.” 42

In conclusion, Marshall reminded the 

majority:

Desegregation is not and was never 

expected to be an easy task. Racial 

attitudes ingrained in our Nation’ s 

childhood and adolescence are not 

quickly thrown aside in its middle 

years. But just as the inconvenience 

of some cannot be allowed to stand 

in the way of the rights of others, so 

public opposition, no matter how 

strident, cannot be permitted to 

divert this Court from the enforce­

ment of the constitutional principles 

at issue in this case ... In the short 

run, it may seem to be the easier 

course to allow our great metropoli­

tan areas to be divided up each into 

two cities—one white, the other 

black—but it is a course, I predict, 

our people will  ultimately regret.43

Affirm ative Action

Marshall’s commitment to using the law 

and the Constitution as a tool to “ fix ”  what
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was bro ke n in Am e r ica—and his ongoing ire 

over his colleagues’ inability to understand 

the real-world consequences of their rulings 

—perhaps came through strongest in his 

opinion concurring in part and dissenting in 

part in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR e g e n ts o f  th e U n iv e r s i ty o f  C a l i fo r n ia 

v. B a k k e (1978).44 As part of a system-wide 

affirmative action program, the University of 

California at Davis School of Medicine set 

aside sixteen of 100 available entering slots 

for “ underrepresented”  minority students. In 

1973 and 1974, Alan Bakke—a blond, blue­

eyed Vietnam veteran in his early thirties— 

applied for admission to the medical school, 

but he was rejected each time even though he 

had a higher GPA and higher test scores than 

all the applicants admitted to the sixteen 

minority-reserved seats. After his second 

rejection, Bakke sued in the Superior Court 

of California, challenging his rejection as 

reverse racial discrimination—which, he 

argued, violated the California Constitution, 

Title VI  of the 1964 Civil  Rights Act, and the 

Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection 

Clause. The Medical School countersued for 

a judgment that its special admissions 

program was lawful. The trial court ruled 

for Bakke. The Medical School’ s special 

admissions program, the state judge held, was 

to all effects a racial quota, as it admitted 

students who were evaluated o n ly against one 

another and not against the general pool of 

applicants. The judge therefore prohibited the 

University “ from considering respondent’ s 

race or the race of any other applicant in 

making admissions decisions.” 45 The Medi­

cal School appealed to the California 

Supreme Court, which sustained the trial 

court’s judgment of reverse discrimination; 

the Medical School then appealed this defeat 

to the Supreme Court of the United States.

Heard by the Justices on October 12, 

1977, B a k k e was highly controversial and very 

difficult to resolve. Following oral argument, 

the Justices endured months of heartfelt 

discussion and heated argument, with lengthy 

and intensely worded memoranda exchanged.

(At one point, Justice Powell began a 

memorandum by noting, “ [My]  first impulse 

is to ‘cringe’ when I see another [memo]” ). 

Well into 1978, the outcome of this case 

remained in doubt as Justices lobbied their 

wavering colleagues. In the end, the votes 

broke 4-1-4.

Chief Justice Burger, with Justices 

Stewart, Rehnquist, and Stevens, agreed 

with the California courts that the U.C. Davis 

affirmative action plan constituted a quota 

system and hence was unconstitutional as 

reverse discrimination. They also concluded 

that a n y race-specific remedy in these matters 

was inherently suspect and thus prohibited by 

a strict reading of the Fourteenth Amendment 
and Title VI  of the Civil  Rights Act of 1964.47

On the other side were Justices Brennan, 

Blackmun, White, and Marshall. Each be­

lieved that remediation was a necessary and 

proper response to a long history of racial 

discrimination. As Marshall noted in an 

April 13 memorandum:

In the 60 years from P le s s y to B r o w n , 

ours was a Nation where, by law, 

individuals could be given “ special”  

treatment based on race. For us now 

to say that the principle of color­

blindness prevents the University 

from giving “ special”  consideration 

to race when this Court, [when P le s s y 

v. F e r g u s o n ] licensed the states to 

continue to consider race, is to make 

a mockery of the principle of “ equal 

justice under law.” ... We are not yet 

all equals, in large part because of  the 

refusal of the P le s s y Court to adopt 

the principle of color-blindness.

“ It would be the crudest irony,”  

Marshall’s memo concluded, “ for this Court 

to adopt the dissent in P le s s y now and hold 

that the University must use color-blind 
admissions.” 48

In the middle was Justice Powell. Powell 

saw no problem in using race as a factor in
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u nive rs ity adm is s io ns . “ Race WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAp e r s e ,”  Powell 

had explained in Conference, was not an 

“ impermissible consideration in such a 

policy.” It could and perhaps even should 

be “ a factor that can lawfully be considered”  

in college admissions. On the other hand, 

using racial quotas undermined “ the symbolic 

effect of  the Fourteenth Amendment.”  On this 

point, Powell was adamant. When the UC 

Davis Medical School set aside a specific 

number of seats for minority students, it made 

a “ colossal blunder,”  one that the Court could 

not constitutionally permit. “ Taking race into 

account is proper,”  Powell concluded, but it 

should never be done “ by setting aside a fixed 

number of places.” 49

As Powell’s was the deciding vote in this 

matter, Chief Justice Burger assigned him the 

task of writing the opinion for the Court, even 

though it stated only Powell’s position. 

Closely tracking his comments in Conference,

Powell upheld the c o n c e p t of affirmative 

action; quotas, by contrast, he deemed to be 
constitutionally invalid.50 The Equal Protec­

tion Clause h a d to protect everyone equally— 

black and white. “ Over the years, this Court 

has consistently repudiated ‘distinctions be­

tween citizens solely because of  their ancestry’ 

as being ‘odious to a free people whose 

institutions are founded upon the doctrine of 
equality.’ ” 51 Past acts of discrimination alone 

were n o t adequate grounds to justify race- 

specific, collective remediation. “ It is far too 

late,” Powell warned, “ to argue that the 

guarantee of equal protection to all persons 

permits the recognition of special wards 

entitled to a degree of protection greater than 

that accorded others.”  In fact, this “ disregard 

of individual rights ... as guaranteed by the 

Fourteenth Amendment”  produced the “ fatal 

flaw”  in any system of race-based and ethnic- 
based quotas.52

In the landm ark affirm ation action case Regents of the University of California v. Bakke (1978), Marshall was 

upset by  Justice Powell’s holding  that race  should be  taken into  account in university  adm issions but that racial 

quotas were im perm issible. However, standing on principle and dissenting from  Powell’s opinion would have 

resulted in a 5-4 m ajority opinion invalidating all affirm ative action efforts. So, at the urging of Justice 

Brennan, Marshall agreed  to  join  Powell’s opinion  on  one key  point: that the  Constitution perm itted universities 

“to consider the race of an applicant in m aking  adm ission decisions.” On every other point, however, Marshall 

wrote a fifteen-page dissent reviewing the history of race in Am erica. Above is a student protest against the 

California Suprem e Court’s decision in Bakke in 1977.
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Mars hall was “ livid ” at Powell’s opin­

ion. He had been fighting discrimination for 

most of his life. He understood the role that 

race played in shaping an individual’s life 

choices—and the advantages that came from 

being white. Although Brennan’s description 

of Marshall’ s position as “ Goddamn it, you 

owe us” ignored the nuances in Marshall’s 

views, it accurately distilled Marshall’s 
fundamental understandings of this subject.53 

Marshall regarded Powell’s position as 

“ racist.” He was especially offended by 

Powell’ s conclusion that time had run out 

for race-specific remediation under “ the 

guarantee of equal protection.”  To Marshall’s 

ears, this claim echoed the “ insensitivity, if  

not racism”  of earlier Supreme Court rulings 

upholding racial discrimination in the name 
of constitutional “ fairness and balance.” 54

Marshall badly wanted to oppose 

Powell’ s opinion “ in toto.”  Powell’s insensi­

tivity—to say nothing of what Marshall 

viewed as the overt racist assumptions of 

Burger, Stevens, Stewart, and Rehnquist— 

filled Marshall with disgust. However, stand­

ing on principle and dissenting from Powell’ s 

opinion would have resulted in a 5-4 majority 

opinion invalidating all affirmative action 

efforts. So at the urging of Justice Brennan, 

Marshall finally, if  reluctantly, agreed to join 

Powell’s opinion on one key point: that the 

Constitution permitted universities “ to con­

sider the race of an applicant in making 

admission decisions.”  On every other point, 

however, Marshall’s opinion was a clear and 
very bitter dissent.55

That opinion filled fifteen blistering 

pages reviewing the history of race in 

America and calling his colleagues to task 

for ignoring the stark realities of race in the 

everyday lives of real people:

While I applaud [and join in] the 

judgment of the Court that a univer­

sity may consider race in its admis­

sions process, it is more than a little 

ironic that, after several hundred

years of class-based discrimination 

against Negroes, the Court is un­

willing to hold that a class-based 

remedy for that discrimination is 

permissible. In declining to so hold, 

today’s judgment ignores the fact 

that for several hundred years, 

Negroes have been discriminated 

against not as individuals, but rather 

solely because of the color of their 

skins.... The experience of Negroes 

in America has been different in 

kind, not just in degree, from that of 

other ethnic groups. . . . The dream 

of America as the great melting pot 

has not been realized for the Negro; 

because of his skin color, he never 

even made it into the pot.

It was precisely for these reasons, 

Marshall continued, “ that we now must 

permit the institutions of this society to give 

consideration to race in making decisions 

about who will hold the positions of 

influence, affluence, and prestige in Amer­

ica. For far too long, the doors to those 

positions have been shut to Negroes.”  This 

discrimination had to end: “ If  we are ever to 

become a fully integrated society, one in 

which the color of a person’s skin will  not 

determine the opportunities available to him 

or her, we must be willing  to take steps to 

open those doors. I do not believe that 

anyone can truly look into America’ s past 

and still find that a remedy for the effects of 

that past is impermissible.” 56

Something changed in Marshall follow ­

ing WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB a k k e . His optimism on racial matters 

began to show cracks. Whereas in the past 

he had stressed the need for patience, hard 

work, and diligence on issues of race and 

equal rights, he now warned of “ traps”  being 

laid for black America. “ Be careful, of . . . 

people who say, ‘You have made it . . . [of]  

people who say, ‘ take it easy; you don’ t 

need any more help’ ,” he warned in a 1978 

speech at Howard Law School. “ People say,
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‘We’ve come a long way.’ But so (have) 

other people come a long way. . . . Has the 

gap been getting smaller? It ’s getting bigger 

...” The black community needed “ to 

refocus” and “ rededicate” itself to the fight 

for equal rights, Marshall argued. Harking 

back to Benjamin Franklin, who said in 

1787 that the framers of the Constitution had 

created “ [a] republic, if  you can keep it,”  

Marshall warned: “ It ’s a democracy, if  we 

can keep it.” And, to keep it, Marshall 

cautioned, “ you can’ t stand still. You must 

move ... if  you don’ t move, they will  run 
over you.” 57

Despite his bitterness and the erosion of 

his optimism, Marshall never stopped 

fighting. One theme running throughout 

his dissents was the need to give substance 

to the rights promised in the Constitution 

and to do so for WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa l l Americans. “ True 

justice,” Marshall had explained to a group 

of law students in 1969, “ requires that the 

ideals expressed ... in the Bill  of Rights and 

the Civil War Amendments . . . [are] 

translated into economic and social progress 

for all of our people . . . There can be no 

justice until [these rights], together with the 

broader ideals they embody, become more 
than mere abstract expressions.” 58 Time had 

not sapped Marshall’ s beliefs on these 

matters. In fact, the Court’ s rightward 

movement intensified his commitment to 

working toward these ends.

Reproductive Rights

Marshall’s commitment to providing 

constitutional protections to all Americans, 

especially those on the margins of American 

society, comes through strongly in his 

dissent in the abortion case B e a l v . D o e 

(1977).59 B e a l arose over a Pennsylvania 

law that prohibited the use of Medicaid 

funds to pay for “ nontherapeutic [i.e., 

nonlife-threatening] abortions.” A 6-3 ma­

jority upheld Pennsylvania’s law. As the

Justices saw matters, their ruling in favor of 

the state did not challenge the central 

premise of R o e v . W a d e ', in fact, the majority 

in B e a l reaffirmed abortion as a right. 

Funding abortions, on the other hand, was 

another matter. The states, Justice Powell 

noted for the majority, were not required by 

federal statute nor the Constitution to fund 

“ u n n e c e s s a r y— though perhaps desirable— 

medical services.” The decision rested with 

the state. As pointed out in R o e , Powell 

noted, the states had an “ important and 

legitimate interest ... in protecting the 

potentiality of human life.”  Hence, the states 

had a constitutional right to treat the desired 

outcomes of pregnancy— live birth vs. 
abortions—differently, i f  th e y s o c h o o s e .6 0

Marshall disagreed strongly. “ It is all too 

obvious that the governmental actions in 

these cases, ostensibly taken to ‘encourage’ 

women to carry pregnancies to term, are in 

reality intended to impose a moral viewpoint 

that no State may constitutionally enforce.”  

Given opponents’ failure to overturn these 

decisions, the battlefield had shifted to 

limiting a woman’ s a c c e s s to a legal abortion. 

“ The present cases involve the most vicious 

attacks yet devised,” Marshall declared. For 

“ the impact of the regulations here falls 

tragically upon those among us least able to 

help or defend themselves. As the Court well 

knows, these regulations inevitably will  have 

the practical effect of preventing nearly all 

poor women from obtaining safe and legal 

abortions.”  This was simply wrong.

The governmental benefits at issue 

here, while perhaps not representing 

large amounts of money for any 

individual, are nevertheless of abso­

lutely vital importance in the lives of 

the recipients. The right of every 

woman to choose whether to bear a 

child is, as R o e v . W a d e held, of 

fundamental importance. An un­

wanted child may be disruptive and 

destructive of the life of any woman,
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Marshall dissented each tim e the Court refused to hear a death penalty appeal (about 150 tim es in all)— not 

only reiterating his opposition to capital punishm ent but castigating his fellow  Justices for their failure to  

address the m any procedural errors found in these cases. He fought against every Court decision allowing  the 

death penalty, describing it as “ in all circum stances cruel and unusual punishm ent prohibited by the Eighth 

and Fourteenth Am endm ents.”tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

bu t the im p act is fe lt m o s t by tho s e to o 

p o o r to am e lio rate tho s e e ffe cts . If  

fu nds fo r an abo rtio n are u navailable , 

a p o o r wo m an m ay fe e l that s he is 

fo rce d to o btain an ille gal abo rtio n 

that p o s e s a s e r io u s thre at to he r he alth 

and e ve n he r life . If  s he re fu s e s to take 

this r is k, and u nde rgo e s the p ain and 

dange r o f s tate -finance d p re gnancy 

and childbir th, s he m ay we ll give u p 

all chance o f e s cap ing the cy cle o f 

p o ve r ty . . . All  chance to co ntro l the 

dire ctio n o f he r o wn life will have 

be e n lo s t.61

Worse yet, Marshall exclaimed, “ the effect 

of  the challenged regulations will  fall with great 

disparity upon women of minority races.”  Over 

forty percent of minority women—more than

five times the proportion of whites—were 

dependent on Medicaid for their health care. It 

was these women who would feel the greatest 

impact of Pennsylvania’s refusal to pay for 

“ nontherapeutic” abortions. “ Even if this 

strongly disparate racial impact does not alone 

violate the Equal Protection Clause,”  Marshall 

insisted, surely “ at some point a showing that 

state action has a devastating impact on the lives 
of minority racial groups must be relevant.” 62

In conclusion, Marshall warned of the 

future impacts of this ruling on the legal right 

of a woman to receive an abortion. Whereas 

the majority argued that nothing in their 

ruling undermined the scope and power of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
R o e , Marshall feared that

the Court’s decisions will be an 

invitation to public officials, already
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u nde r e xtrao rdinary p re s s u re fro m 

we ll-finance d and care fu lly o rche s­

trated lobbying campaigns, to ap­

prove more such restrictions. The 

effect will  be to relegate millions of 

people to lives of poverty and 

despair. When elected leaders cower 

before public pressure, this Court, 

more than ever, must not shirk its 

duty to enforce the Constitution for 

the benefit of the poor and 
powerless.63

Capital Punishm ent

The death penalty was another topic that 

brought out Marshall’s concern for the 

underdog. Marshall opposed the death pen­

alty. Absolutely. Totally. The only Justice 

then and thereafter to have litigated a death 

penalty case, Marshall knew firsthand the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
“ e x tr a o r d in a r y u n fa ir n e s s that. . . surrounds 
the a d m in is tr a t io n of  the death penalty.” 64 He 

had experienced personally the irrational, 

disproportionate, and racially-biased nature 

of the American criminal justice system—a 

system in which African Americans, com­

posing just eleven percent of the nation’ s 

population, made up over three-quarters of all 
inmates executed.65 As Marshall had ex­

plained in the Justices’ Conference on F u r ­

m a n v . G e o r g ia (1972), “ the death penalty is 

available to anyone who is low man on the 

totem pole.”  To Marshall, “ the death penalty 

[was] in all circumstances cruel and unusual 

punishment forbidden by the Eighth and 

Fourteenth Amendments.” 66 End of story.

In his concurrence in F u r m a n , Marshall 

had laid out his basic views on the death 

penalty:

It is usually the poor, the illiterate, 

the underprivileged, the member of 

the minority group—the man who, 

because he is without means, and is 

defended by a court-appointed

attorney—who becomes society’ s 

sacrificial lamb. Their impotence 

leaves them victims of a sanction 

that the wealthier, better-represented, 

just-as-guilty person can escape. So 

long as the capital sanction is used 

only against the forlorn, easily 

forgotten members of society, legis­

lators are content to maintain the 

s ta tu s q u o . . . Ignorance is perpetu­

ated, and apathy soon becomes 

its mate, and we have today’s 
situation.67

Moreover, Marshall saw the death pen­

alty as inefficient. Marshall concluded that 

state-sanctioned killing did not provide an 

effective deterrent to crime. As he explained 

to his law clerks, “ Hell, if  the death penalty 

was a deterrent, there never would have been 
a second execution after the first one.” 68 In 

addition, capital punishment had the singular 

disadvantage of being permanent. “ The 

difficulty  is, if  you make a mistake, you put 

a man in jail wrongfully, you can let him out. 

But death is rather permanent. And what do 

you do if you execute a man illegally, 

unconstitutionally, and find that out later? 

What do you say? ‘Oops’?” 69 No, as Marshall 

noted in F u r m a n , “ Death is irrevocable, life 

imprisonment is not. Death, of course, makes 

rehabilitation impossible; life imprisonment 

does not.” The weight of historical and 

statistical evidence, Marshall concluded, 

proved “ that capital punishment serves no 

purpose that life imprisonment could not 

serve equally well . . . [That] there is no 

rational basis for concluding that capital 

punishment is not excessive. [That] it 

therefore violates the Eighth Amendment.” 70

Lastly, Marshall deemed capital punish­

ment immoral: “ Even if  capital punishment is 

not excessive, it nonetheless violates the 

Eighth Amendment because it is morally 

unacceptable to the people of the United 

States at this time in their history.”  Marshall 

could not conceive how a compassionate and
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fu ndam e ntally fair Am e r ican p u blic co u ld 

s u p p o rt cap ital p u nis hm e nt did the y bu t 

u nde rs tand, as Mars hall did, the de ath 

p e nalty’s cru e l and inhu m an natu re . “ Assum­

ing knowledge of all the facts presently 

available regarding capital punishment, the 

average citizen would, in my opinion, find it 

shocking to his conscience and sense of 

justice. For this reason alone, capital punish­
ment cannot stand.” 71

To his everlasting sorrow, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF u r m a n 

ban on the death penalty lasted only four 

years. In G r e g g v. G e o r g ia (1976),72 the issue 

once again came before the Court. The state 

argued that new procedures had made the 

death penalty constitutional once again. 

Marshall disagreed. As he had in 1972, 

Marshall regaled his Brethren in conference 

with stories of his experiences defending poor 

blacks before all-white juries; of how he saw 

innocent men put to death simply because 

they were black. This time, however, 

the other Justices weren’ t listening.73 To 

Marshall’s dismay, a change in the Court’ s 

membership (John Paul Stevens had replaced 

William  O. Douglas) and a change of  position 

by Justices White and Stewart left only 

Justice Brennan and himself in opposition 

to the death penalty.74

In his opinion for the majority, Stewart 

noted that in 1972 F u r m a n had struck down 

inadequate death penalty s ta tu te s , not the 

death penalty itself. The new death penalty 

laws, on the other hand, “ focus the jury’ s 

attention on the particularized nature of the 

crime and the particularized characteristics of 

the individual defendant.” Hence, Stewart 

concluded, with no “ jury [able to] wantonly 

and freakishly impose the death penalty,”  the 

death penalty as now administered was 
constitutional.75

On his sixty-eighth birthday, a clearly 

frustrated Marshall read his G r e g g dissent 

aloud in open court. He admitted with some 

sadness “ how I would be less than candid if  I 

did not acknowledge that”  the enactment of 

the new death penalty statutes did “ have a

significant bearing on a realistic assessment 

of the moral acceptability of the death penalty 

to the American people.” However, this 

change did not matter. The death penalty 

was wrong. Retribution was wrong. The 

death penalty still was “unnecessary to 

promote the goal of deterrence.”  Given these 

enduring facts, Marshall again declared the 

death penalty “ an excessive penalty for­

bidden by the Eighth and Fourteenth 

Amendments.” 76

In the years that followed, Marshall 

dissented in almost every one of the Court’ s 

death penalty cases. He was in the majority on 

this issue only four times, each one a technical 

ruling on the a p p l ic a t io n of the death penalty, 
not on its constitutionality.77 Examples of 

Marshall’s unending fight against capital 

punishment appear in every other death 

penalty case in which he participated. In 

fact, frustrated by the Court’s growing 

tendency to “ value[] expediency over human 

life,”  Marshall dissented each time the Court 

refused to hear a death penalty appeal (about 

150 times in all)—not only reiterating his 

opposition to capital punishment but outright 

castigating his fellow Justices for their failure 

to address the many procedural errors found 

in these cases.78 None of his defeats stopped 

Marshall from continuing his fight against the 

death penalty. Using the same words each 

time, Marshall stated his view “ that the death 

penalty [was] in all circumstances cruel and 

unusual punishment prohibited by the Eighth 

and Fourteenth Amendments.”  He then often 

provided specific reasons for denying the 

death sentence.

In G a r d n e r v . F lo r id a (1977), for 

instance, Marshall declared himself

appalled at the extent to which

Florida has deviated from the proce­

dures upon which this Court ex­

pressly [called for in death penalty 

cases]. It is not simply that the trial 

judge, in overriding the jury’ s rec­

ommendation of life imprisonment,
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re lie d o n u ndis clo s e d p o rtio ns o f the 

p re s e nte nce re p o r t. No r is it m e re ly 

that the Flo r ida Su p re m e Co u rt 

affirm e d the s e nte nce witho u t dis­

cussing the omission and without 

concern that it did not even have the 

entire report before it. Obviously that 

alone is enough to deny due process 

and require that the death sentence be 

vacated as the Court now holds. But 

the blatant disregard exhibited by the 

courts below for the standards de­

vised to regulate imposition of the 

death penalty calls into question the 

very basis for this Court’s approval 
of that system.79

In WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB a r c la y v. F lo r id a  (1983), a sarcastic 

Marshall noted disparagingly how, “ based on 

a sentencing order rife with errors, the trial 

judge condemned petitioner Elwood Barclay 

to death. The Florida Supreme Court then 

conducted a perfunctory review and affirmed 

the sentence. Today the plurality approves 

this miscarriage of justice. In doing so it is 

utterly faithless to the safeguards established 

by the Court’s prior decisions.” He ended, 
simply, “ I dissent.” 80

In L o w e n f ie ld v. P h e lp s (1988), an angry 

Marshall attacked his Brethren for not 

digging deeply enough into the facts of the 

case and the trial. “ The Court offers a 

sanitized rendition of the facts,” Marshall 

complained, “ ignoring or glossing over 

evidence of coercion in its examination of 

‘all the circumstances’ of the sentencing 

proceeding.”  Marshall continued:

The Court then performs a mechan­

ical and cramped application of our 

precedents regarding jury coercion, 

essentially restricting these cases to 

their facts. Moreover, the Court 

focuses on the impact of each 

challenged practice in isolation, 

never addressing their cumulative 

effect. Finally, the Court neglects to

consider how the capital sentencing 

context of this case affects the 

application of principles forged in 

other contexts.

“ In sum,” Marshall concluded, “ the 

Court’s approach fails to take seriously 

petitioner’s challenge and consequently fails 

to recognize its force. The Court’s decision to 

condone the coercive practices at issue here 

renders hollow our pronouncement that ‘ the 

decision whether a man deserves to live or die 

must be made on scales that are not 

deliberately tipped toward death.’ ” 81

Access to Justice

Marshall’s death penalty dissents, espe­

cially his dissents to p e r c u r iu m denials in 

death penalty appeals, point to another 

strong theme underlying Marshall’ s dis­

sents: the absolute importance of having 

one’s day in court. As a former litigator, 

Marshall had a deep and abiding faith in the 

power of litigation to right wrongs. How­

ever, as the years passed, the Court, 

especially under Chief Justice William H. 

Rehnquist, began issuing more and more 

summary p e r c u r ia m opinions without 

briefing and argument, cases that Marshall 

would have allowed on the docket— if  only 

to have the lawyers argue via their briefs 

w h e th e r they belonged on the docket in the 

first place. Marshall was deeply troubled by 

what he saw as a growing trend among his 

Brethren to ignore cases of constitutional 

importance—or sometimes just of impor­

tance to the people who were similarly 

situated to those seeking and denied their 

day in the Supreme Court.

As early as 1981, in H a r r is v. R iv e r a ?2 

Marshall dissented from the use of summary 

p e r c u r iu m rulings in the strongest of terms:

I write separately to underscore my 

disapproval of what I perceive to be
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a gro wing and ine xp licable re adi­

ness on the part of this Court to 

“ dispose of’ cases summarily. 

Perhaps this trend is due to what 

is often lamented as our “ increasing 

caseload.”  Whatever the reason for 

this trend, I believe that it can only 

detract from this Court’ s decisions 

in deserving cases by consuming 

time and energy better spent else­

where . . . Moreover, by deciding 

cases summarily, without benefit of 

oral argument and full  briefing, and 

often with only limited access to, 

and review of, the record, this 

Court runs a great risk of rendering 

erroneous or ill-advised decisions 

that may confuse the lower courts: 

there is no reason to believe that 

this Court is immune from making 

mistakes, particularly under these 

kinds of circumstances. As Justice 

Jackson so aptly put it, although in 

a somewhat different context: “ We 

are not final because we are 

infallible, but we are infallible 

only because we are final.” I 

believe that this Court should 

reserve its final imprimatur for 

those cases to which we give 

plenary review, after full briefing 
and argument.83

Six years later, in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM o n ta n a v . H a l l  

(1987), Marshall reiterated his objections to 

summary rulings: “ For years, I have been 

troubled by our disposition of appeals and 

petitions for certiorari through summary p e r 

c u r ia m opinions, without plenary briefing on 

the merits of the issues decided . . . Our 

persistent indulgence in this practice . . . has 

tarnished what has long been considered one 

of this judicial institution’s greatest qualities, 

the fairness and integrity of its decision­

making process. Through summary disposi­

tions, we deprive the litigants of a fair 
opportunity to be heard on the merits.” 84

This was a dangerous trend, Marshall 

contended.

Later that same year in C o m m is s io n e r v. 

M c C o y (1987), Marshall declared:

My doubts about summary disposi­

tions encompass concerns about 

both the parties who seek our review 

and the integrity, perceived and 

actual, of our proceedings. The 

Rules of this Court urge litigants 

filing  petitions for certiorari to focus 

on the exceptional need for this 

Court’s review rather than on the 

merits of the underlying case. Sum­

mary disposition thus flies in the 

face of legitimate expectations of 

the parties seeking redress in this 

Court and deprives them of any 

opportunity to argue the merits of 

their claims before judgment . . . 

[Moreover], the practice of sum­

mary disposition demonstrates in­

sufficient respect for lower court 

judges and for our own dissenting 

colleagues on this Court.

Whenever the Court “ contemplates a 

summary disposition,”  Marshall insisted, “ it 

should review the full  record below and invite 

the parties to file supplemental briefs on the 

merits if  they wish. I remain unconvinced that 

this slight modification of our practice would 

unduly burden the Court. The benefits of 

increasing the fairness and accuracy of our 

decision-making and the value of according 

greater respect to our colleagues on this and 

other courts more than justify these modest 

accommodations.” 85

Even in his last term on the Court, a sick 

and tired Marshall challenged summary 

treatment of these cases, in the process 

seeking always to “ temper hard legalism 

with compassion for the downtrodden” and 

thus to give “voice” to the “ anguish of the 

silenced.” 86 Responding in April 1991 to an 

administrative rule change that summarily
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re je cte d “ pauper” petitions deemed “ frivo­

lous or malicious” (but not similar petitions 

filed by fee-paying litigants), Marshall wrote 

a stinging memorandum and later dissented to 

remind his fellow Justices that their oath of 

office included the “ inviolable obligation to 

treat rich and poor alike.” The revised rule 

ignored this obligation, Marshall charged: 

“ All  men and women are entitled to their day 

in court. [Yet today] that guarantee has . . . 

been conditioned on monetary worth. It now 

will  read: ‘All  men and women are entitled to 

their day in court only if  they have the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAm e a n s 

and the m o n e y . ” ’ 8 7

By this point, Marshall’s decades-long, 

rear-guard battle defending the Constitution 

as a living document had inflicted on him a 

high personal cost. Marshall’ s health, already 

compromised by the 1970s, deteriorated 

rapidly in the 1980s. By decade’s end, 

Marshall suffered from glaucoma, a weak 

heart, and bad circulation in his legs. He had 

trouble hearing, seeing, and breathing. He had 

suffered heart attacks and recurring bouts of 

pneumonia. His emphysema (the result of his 

two-pack-a-day smoking habit) made walk­

ing up the steps to his seat on the Bench a 

challenge. As one commentator noted, “ he 
was killing  himself, and he knew it.” 88

Yet Marshall never gave up the fight; he 

never gave up hope; he always believed that 

“ ill-conceived reversals should be considered 

as no more than temporary interruptions.”  

Marshall knew that, at least for the present, 

his was a losing battle; no matter how 

eloquent his prose or how deeply felt his 

arguments, the Court’s conservative majority 

would brush aside his positions and rule as 

they pleased. Marshall accepted this reality, 

though grudgingly and often with a snarl. 

Nonetheless, he wrote his dissents and spoke 

out in defense of his constitutional views. In a 

real sense, Marshall was no longer speaking 

to his fellow Justices; rather, he was speaking

to the future—to lawyers and judges yet to 

come—making his case for the Constitution 

as a living document whose overriding 

purpose was serving the interests of all 

people equally—white or black, rich or 

poor. As Marshall explained to biographer 

Juan Williams, who asked him why he wrote 

dissents: “ Well much of Brandeis’ dissents 

are now the law. That’s the answer. I hope 

that some of my dissents will  become the law 

in the future. I hope they will.  I hope people 
start thinking the way I think.” 90

By 1991, it was time for Marshall to step 

down from the Court. But before Marshall 

departed, he had one final dissent to give. On 

the morning of June 27, 1991, hours before he 

formally announced his retirement, Marshall 

read aloud in open court parts of his dissent in 
P a y n e v. T e n n e s s e e ?1 The case dealt with the 

use of victim-impact statements in death- 

penalty cases. Twice before, in B o o th v. 

M a r y la n d (1987) and S o u th C a r o l in a v . 

G a th e r s (1990), the Court had barred the 

use of such statements as inflammatory and 
prejudicial to the defendant.92 Yet in P a y n e , a 

six-member majority overruled both prece­

dents. The majority justified its reversal by 

asserting that judicial precedent was “ not an 

inexorable command; rather, it ‘ is a principle 

of policy and not a mechanical formula of 

adherence to the latest decision.’ ”  Moreover, 

as Chief Justice Rehnquist noted for the 

majority, the existing precedents had been 

“ decided by the narrowest of margins, over 

spirited dissents . . . [and have] defied 

consistent application in the lower courts.”  
They were ripe for reversal.93

Alarmed at the majority’ s high-handed 

disregard for precedent, Marshall angrily 

announced, “ Power, not reason, is the new 

currency of this Court’ s decision-making . . . 

Neither the law nor the facts supporting [either 

of  the precedents in this matter] underwent any 

change in the last four years. Only the 

personnel of this Court did.” In dispatching 

these cases “ to their graves, today’s majority..

. declares itself free to discard a n y principle of
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co ns titu tio nal libe r ty which was re co gnize d o r 

re affirm e d o ve r the dis s e nting vo te s o f fo u r 

Ju s tice s and with which five o r m o re Ju s tice s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
n o w dis agre e .”  The implications of this ruling 

staggered Marshall:

The majority sends a clear signal 

that essentially a l l  decisions imple­

menting the personal liberties pro­

tected by the Bill  of Rights and the 

Fourteenth Amendment are open to 

reexamination . . . The continued 

vitality of literally scores of deci­

sions must be understood to depend 

on nothing more than the proclivi­

ties of the individuals who n o w 

comprise a majority of this Court.

Everything that Marshall had spent his 

entire life fighting for was now at risk of 

summary reversal. This was Marshall’ s 

nightmare; this was why he had remained 

on the Court until he was physically unable to 

serve. “ Cast aside today are those condemned 

to face society’s ultimate penalty. Tomor­

row’s victims may be minorities, women, or 

the indigent. Inevitably, this campaign to 

resurrect yesterday’s ‘spirited dissents’ will  

squander the authority and the legitimacy of 

this Court as a protector of the powerless.”  

And, so for the last time (and with unintended 

irony given his hopes that h is dissents would 

someday become majorities), Marshall de­
clared, “ I dissent.” 94

With these angry words of warning, 

Thurgood Marshall’s career as a Supreme 

Court Justice came to an end. This was not 

the ending that he had envisioned twenty- 

four years earlier when he took his oath of 

office. What had started with such promise 

had evolved into a bitter, hard-fought, year- 

by-year retreat in defense of the rights of the 

poor, the despised, and the disadvantaged in 

American life. At his 1991 retirement press 

conference, reporters asked Marshall how 

he wanted to be remembered. After some 

thought, Marshall replied: “ I guess you

could say, ‘He did what he could with what 

he had.’ I have given fifty  years to it, and if  
that is not enough, God bless’em.” 95

Marshall had given everything he had to 

give; dissent by bitter dissent, he had made his 

case for an optimistic and inclusive America; 

for a living constitution that encompassed 

protections for all Americans, rich and poor, 

white and black; for a Supreme Court that 

worked for the people—real, living people— 

helping out in their actual lives. It  was now up to 

those who followed to carry the fight forward.
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Balancing Bankruptcy and  

Environm ental Law: Midlantic 

National Bank v. New Jersey 

Department of Environmental

ProtectionJIHGFEDCBA

R O N A L D  M A N N

IntroductiontsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Co ngre s s’s 1978 adoption of the Bank­

ruptcy Code was a legislative landmark, the 

culmination of a decade of attention to a 

woefully antiquated bankruptcy system 

largely left intact since the nineteenth 

century. Senate hearings in 1968 led to the 

appointment of a prestigious bipartisan 

Bankruptcy Commission, which produced a 

massive report, which served in turn as a 

template for a statute that brought wholesale 

change to almost every aspect of the 

bankruptcy system.' So what would the 

Supreme Court do with this new statute? 

The Court’s persistent doubts about the 

constitutionality of the Code’ s broad alloca­

tion of authority to bankruptcy courts led to

an extended series of decisions trimming 

back the Code’s jurisdictional grant, starting 

with WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN o r th e r n P ip e l in e C o n s tr u c t io n C o . v . 

M a r a th o n P ip e L in e C o .2 and continuing with 

G r a n f in a n c ie r a v. N o r d b e r g3 and S te r n v . 

M a r s h a l l .4 Less well known, by comparison, 

is the persistently narrow interpretation of the 

Code in the Court’s statutory cases, which 

routinely subordinate the needs of a broad and 

effective bankruptcy process to the policies of 

other federal and state legal regimes.5

The roots of the Court’ s narrow interpre­

tive frame lie in one of the earliest of the 

Court’s decisions under the Code, M id la n t ic 

N a tio n a l B a n k v . N e w J e r s e y D e p a r tm e n t 
o f E n v ir o n m e n ta l P r o te c t io n .6 M id la n t ic 

presented a classic problem of statutory 

interpretation, in which the Code’s provisions
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for the protection of the estate conflicted 

directly with developing rules for environ­

mental law. More broadly, the case offered 

the Court its first chance to assess Congress’ s 

broadening of the bankruptcy regime: case 

law under the old Bankruptcy Act had limited 

the bankrupt’ s ability to ignore environmen­

tal law, but language in the Code suggested 

that Congress contemplated a much broader 

freedom of action going forward.

The result was a considered refusal to 

credit the broadened language of the new 

Code. Justice Lewis F. Powell’ s opinion for 

the Court adopted a clear-statement rule 

under which it would presume that provisions 

of the Bankruptcy Code have the same 

meaning as predecessor provisions of the 

Bankruptcy Act. What is most surprising 

about the decision, though, is not apparent on 

its face—how close the Court came to ruling 

in favor of the bankrupt. As the internal 

papers of the Justices show, Justice Powell 

“ stole” a Court in this case. The decision at 

Conference favored the bankrupt; it was only 

a changed vote by Justice John Paul Stevens 

that led to the Court’s adoption of  WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM id ia n t ic 's 

Code-narrowing clear-statement rule.7

Political Background

M id la n t ic came to the Court in the mid- 

1980s, just as state and federal efforts to 

curtail pollution reached their zenith. Envi­

ronmental disasters in the post-World War II  

era, including the Cuyahoga River fire in 

1969 and Three Mile Island in 1979, 

convinced much of the public that stricter 

measures were necessary to control industrial 
pollution.8 State pollution programs began 

in earnest in the 1960s, but the federal 

government became involved in the 1970s 

with the creation of the Environmental 

Protection Agency, major amendments to 

the Clean Air Act, and the passage of the 
Clean Water Act.9 Most important was the 

1980 adoption of the Comprehensive

Environmental Response, Compensation, 

and Liability  Act (CERCLA).

The rise of federal activity in this period 

led to an uneasy tension with state efforts to 

combat environmental pollution. Although 

the premise of federal environmental inter­

vention was that the federal government’s 

efforts would complement state laws,10 

federal programs often preempted more 

aggressive state programs. Scholars routinely 

explain that the passage of federal environ­

mental laws reflected rent-seeking by pol­

luters who sought lax federal regulations to 

preempt the increasingly effective regulation 

at state and local levels.11 Those critics often 

point to the 1965 enactment of the Motor 

Vehicle Pollution Control Act, which stymied 

state efforts to place harsh limits on automo­

bile exhaust emissions. It surprised no one 

that major economic interests, sensing that 

some form of environmental regulation was 

inevitable, sought standardized (lower) fed­

eral pollution limits, often successfully.12

That left significant uncertainty about 

how state pollution laws would coexist with 

their federal counterparts. For example, the 

New York and New Jersey statutes at issue in 

M id la n t ic dated to the 1970s.13 New York’s 

statute explicitly attempted to integrate state 

law with federal environmental protection 

efforts; the statute’s stated purpose was to 

“ regulate the management of hazardous waste 

... in this state and to do so in a manner 

consistent with the Federal Solid Waste 

Disposal Act [and other federal laws].” 14 

New York required the owners and operators 

of waste-processing facilities to go through a 

permitting process and prohibited the “ dis­

posal of hazardous waste without authoriza­

tion.” 15 Disposal under that statute included 

“ the abandonment, discharge, deposit, injec­

tion ... or placing of any substance so that such 

substance or any related constituent thereof 

may enter the environment.” 16 New Jersey’s 

pollution control laws were similar, explicitly 

prohibiting the unauthorized disposal of 

hazardous waste.17
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Notorious polluter Russell W . Mahler operated Quanta Resources Corp, under a variety of nam es during the 

1970s and early 1980s and was at the center of several high-profile dum ping scandals. His com panies 

collected waste oil from large industrial firm s and separated out the reusable oil for resale. But then they 

dum ped the highly toxic byproducts in rivers.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Widespread public concern about the 

environment drove the regulatory efforts. 

For example, polls throughout the 1970s 

and early 1980s showed a public anxious 

about the effects of pollution. A 1982 

Roper survey showed that thirty-seven 

percent of Americans still thought that 

government environmental protection laws 

and regulations had not gone “ far 
enough.” 18 Similarly, forty-four percent 

of Americans told pollsters in 1984 that 

they thought environmental pollution was a 

“ very serious threat” to citizens like 

themselves, and fifty-six percent thought 

there was “ too little involvement by the 
government in the environment.” 19

Bankruptcy Abandonm ent under the 

Act and the CodeWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M id la n t ic would turn on the long- 

recognized power of the bankruptcy trustee

to “ abandon” property. Within bankruptcy 

law, abandonment is a technical term, which 

entails the relinquishment of title or control of 

property by the bankruptcy trustee. A trustee 

typically abandons property when it is 

burdensome to the estate, in the sense that 

there is little reason to expect that continued 

exploitation of the property will  produce a 

return for creditors of the estate. Once the 

trustee has abandoned the property, lien 

holders on the property have the opportunity 

to foreclose and take title. If  lien holders do 

not choose to foreclose and if  the debtor has 

no interest in continued use of the property, 

the state takes over responsibility for the 

abandoned property.

As it happens, the old Bankruptcy Act, 

which had been in force from 1898 until the 

Code’ s 1978 adoption, had not codified the 

trustee’s power to abandon. Rather, trustees 

abandoned burdensome property through 

the exercise of their larger power to dispose 

of the estate’s assets. In discerning a right to
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abandon as part of the right to dispose, case 

law under the Act limited the abandonment 

power in important ways. Specifically, with 

some variation, the leading cases generally 

prohibited abandonment that would violate 

a statute or endanger public health and 

safety. For example, a leading Fourth 

Circuit decision under the Act, WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAO tte n h e im e r 

v. W h ita k e r , considered the power of a 

trustee to abandon the debtor’s floating 

barges. The Fourth Circuit found abandon­

ment impermissible, based on the conclu­

sion that abandonment of the barges would 

have resulted in their eventual sinking, 

which would have violated a federal statute 

forbidding the obstruction of navigable 

waterways. That decision, like others, 

rested on the uncodified status of the 

abandonment power: “ [T]the judge-made 

rule [of  abandonment] must give way when 

it comes into conflict with a statute enacted 

to ensure the safety of navigation.” 20 The 

oft-cited Pennsylvania bankruptcy court 

decision in L e w is J o n e s provides another 

salient example. The L e w is J o n e s court 

refused to permit three public utilities to 

abandon underground steam lines because 

the trustee’ s plan did not provide for the 

sealing of the abandoned lines. The bank­

ruptcy court found that there were no 

applicable local health and safety laws 

forbidding abandonment, but nevertheless 

held that the court’ s equitable power to 

“ safeguard the public interest” was broad 

enough to obligate the trustee to seal the 
steam lines.21

In the Code, however, Congress explic­

itly codified the abandonment power. Spe­

cifically, Section 554(a) provides broadly, 

with no exceptions, that “ the trustee may 

abandon any property of the estate that is 

burdensome to the estate or that is of 
inconsequential value to the estate.” 22 That 

set the stage for the obvious question: 

whether the unqualified codification should 

be read literally, thus permitting abandon­

ment of property merely because it is

burdensome, or more narrowly, implicitly  

adopting the qualifications developed in 

case law under the old Act.

The Factual Setting

M id la n t ic arises out of the sordid affairs 

of Quanta Resources Corp., a corporate 

waste-processing business owned and oper­

ated by notorious polluter Russell W. 

Mahler. Mahler had operated Quanta under 

a variety of names during the 1970s and 

early 1980s and had been at the center of 

several high-profile dumping scandals. 

Mahler, dubbed a “ toxic waste entrepre­

neur” by T h e N e w Y o r k T im e s , was in the 

business of oil reclamation. His companies 

collected waste oil from large industrial 

firms such as Ford and Alcan Aluminum and 

treated the waste to separate out and then 

resell reusable oil; the byproducts of the 

waste oil reclamation process were highly 

toxic. Mahler operated three terminals for 

processing waste oil; two in New York, in 

Syracuse and Long Island City, and one in 

Edgewater, New Jersey. He also owned 

more than two dozen trucks that transported 

the waste oil. As it happens, instead of 

dumping the byproducts in state- designated 

and -authorized areas, Mahler directed his 

employees to dump the waste into sewers, 

landfills, and, in one case, an abandoned 

mine shaft. Contemporary observers con­

cluded that Mahler had saved millions 

of dollars by dumping carcinogen- and 

mutagen-contaminated oil byproducts in 

unlawful locations in New York and New 
Jersey.23

Mahler was finally caught in 1978 after 

he began directing his truck drivers to an 

auto service garage near Wilkes-Barre, 

Pennsylvania. His drivers would hook their 

trucks to a hose outside the garage that led 

through a bore hole down into an abandoned 

coal mine. An anonymous tip led inves­

tigators to the garage and the bore hole.
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Unfortunately, the mine overflowed before 

state officials were able to act, dumping 

hundreds of gallons of toxic waste oil into 

the Susquehanna River, which was, among 

other things, a source of drinking water for 

the nearby city of Danville. When Pennsyl­

vania authorities investigated, they readily 

discovered many other instances of Mah­

ler’ s illegal dumping. At that point, with the 

discovery of his activities in New York and 

New Jersey, the entire scheme unraveled. 

Subsequent investigations by New York and 

New Jersey officials revealed Mahler’s deft 

maneuverings through state and city politi­

cal circles. In one instance, Mahler, appar­

ently through the payment of kickbacks to 

state officials, was able to secure a contract 

for the cleanup of a lagoon that Mahler’s 

own illegal dumping had contaminated. 

Then, instead of transporting the lagoon’s 

waste to an authorized dump site, Mahler 

simply piped some of the waste across the 

road and dumped the rest into a New York 

landfill. Mahler’s activities eventually 

resulted in large fines, though not much 

jail time. Remarkably, his total sentences 

amounted to only four years—one year 

from a Pennsylvania conviction for illegal 

dumping and three years from a federal 

conviction for conspiracy to bribe city 

officials.24

In 1980, after the Pennsylvania criminal 

investigation was under way, Mahler sold his 

waste processing company to a Wall Street 

investment firm, Warburg Paribas Becker 

Inc. The investors renamed the business 

“ Quanta,” presumably hoping to obscure 

the Mahler connection. The new owners of 

Quanta were able to borrow $600,000 from 

Midlantic National Bank for working capital, 

in return for which they granted Midlantic a 

security interest in a variety of things, 

including Quanta’s inventory (waste oil); 

apparently Mahler’s continuing participation 

as vice president of sales did not trouble 
Midlantic.25 Quanta also successfully 

obtained a temporary operating permit from

New Jersey environmental regulators. Unfor­

tunately, less than a month later, New Jersey 

regulators found PCB-contaminated oil dur­

ing an inspection of Quanta’ s Edgewater 

facility. New Jersey authorities directed that 

Quanta promptly cease operations. The 

company entered bankruptcy in the fall of 

1981, when negotiations between New Jersey 

regulators and Quanta officials about cleanup 

of the site proved unproductive.26

Quanta’ s waste oil storage containers 

and its processing facilities were in poor 

physical condition when the company entered 

bankruptcy. PCBs contaminated 400,000 

gallons of waste oil at the Edgewater facility 

and 70,000 gallons at the Long Island City 

facility. To make matters worse, the storage 

tanks at both facilities had begun to leak; 

substantial PCB contamination extended 

beneath the surface of the soil at both sites. 

Still, because a portion of Quanta’ s waste oil 

inventory was not contaminated with PCBs, 

the estate was able to sell some of Quanta’ s 

waste oil for $288,000. It was the view of the 

bankruptcy trustee that the properties, in their 

contaminated state and factoring in their 

mortgages, had no value to the estate. Thus, 

because cleaning up the toxic contamination 

would have resulted in a net loss to the estate, 

the trustee sought to abandon both the New 
York and New Jersey properties.27 If  he were 

successful, the $288,000 would be distributed 

to Midlantic as proceeds of the inventory in 

which it had held a security interest. If  not, the 

trustee would expend those funds to clean up 

the properties and Midlantic would take little 

or nothing.

Relying on the newly enacted Section 

554, the trustee petitioned the bankruptcy 

court to allow abandonment of both sites. At 

the bankruptcy court hearing considering the 

proposed abandonment, regulators from New 

York and New Jersey argued that the trustee 

should not be allowed to abandon the 

properties in their present state because 

they presented a danger to the environment 

and the general public. New York also argued
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that it should receive a first lien on the Long 

Island City property to the extent of any 

monies that New York might expend to bring 

the abandoned property into compliance with 

state law. The bankruptcy judge rejected 

those arguments, refusing to grant New York 

priority and permitting abandonment of the 

New York and New Jersey properties. When 

the district court agreed with the bankruptcy 

court’s decision, the case came to the Third 

Circuit.28

At the Third Circuit, in addition to 

arguing that Congress had meant to 

incorporate pre-Code practices into Sec­

tion 554(a), New York argued that 

28U.S.C. § 959(b) independently barred 

the trustee from abandoning property in 

contravention of state law. That statute 

provides that:

a trustee . . . shall manage and 

operate the property in his posses­

sion as such trustee, receiver, or 

manager according to the require­

ments of the valid laws of the State 

in which such property is situated, in 

the same manner that the owner or 

possessor thereof would be bound to 

do if  in possession thereof.

New York contended that the trustee’ s 

decision to abandon fell within his “ manage­

ment” and “ operation” of the property and 

therefore had to be conducted in compliance 

with state law. The trustee disagreed, arguing 

that “ management”  and “ operation”  referred 

only to the trustee’s responsibilities in a 

Chapter 11 bankruptcy where the trustee 

administers the estate as an ongoing concern. 

The Third Circuit devoted significant cover­

age to the Section 959(b) issue and concluded 

that the provision was not an independent 

prohibition on the trustee’s abandonment 

power—but rather a clear indication that 

“ the congressional scheme was not intended 

to subjugate state and local regulatory 
laws.” 29

On the bankruptcy question, the Third 

Circuit panel voted 2-1 to reverse the district 

court, holding that the Bankruptcy Code did 

not authorize the Quanta trustee to abandon 

the properties in contravention of state 

environmental law. The Third Circuit ac­

knowledged the wide leeway that Section 554 

(a) granted trustees to abandon burdensome 

property, but the court contended that 

Congress had intended to incorporate pre- 

Code judicial exceptions into the law. The 

judges explained that “ where it is argued that 

Congress intended to withdraw police power 

from a state, that intention must be unmistak­

able.” 30 Because Congress had not explicitly 

overruled pre-Code exceptions to the aban­

donment power, the court concluded that 

Section 554 implicitly incorporated those 

exceptions. In dissent, Judge Gibbons harshly 

criticized the majority’s use of an interpretive 

principle to overcome the unequivocal lan­

guage of Section 554(a). He also argued that 

putting the financial cost of cleanup on the 

estate raised the specter of an unconstitutional 

taking by forcing the estate’s secured cred­

itors to bear the price of cleanup in the form of 
reduced payouts.31

Midlantic at the Suprem e Court

The facts on the ground changed 

substantially before the case reached the 

Supreme Court. State regulators had 

stepped into the void left by the bankruptcy 

trustee and had secured both sites. New 

York cleanup efforts were complete; reme­

diation in New Jersey was well under way. 

Thus, by the time the Justices considered 

the case, it was clear that no environmental 

catastrophe would flow from the trustee’ s 

unilateral abandonment of the contami­

nated sites.

That circumstance left the states in a 

less than ideal position. They had argued 

that the bankruptcy court should not permit
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Mem bers of the Suprem e Court who decided Midlantic National Bank v. New Jersey Department of 

Environmental Protection in 1985 pictured during  a cerem ony held at the Suprem e Court the  following  Term : 

from  left to right, W illiam  J. Brennan, Jr., Byron W hite, Thurgood Marshall, Harry Blackm un, Lewis F. Powell, 

W illiam H. Rehnquist, John Paul Stevens, and Sandra Day O ’Connor.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the trustee to abandon the property because 

of the environmental havoc that would 

result. However, because they had stepped 

into the gap left by the trustee and eliminated 

that threat to public health and safety, the 

states refocused the Court’s attention away 

from the public risk of a contaminated water 

supply and back to the private “ Who should 

pay?”  aspect of the case. Because the states 

had covered, or were preparing to cover, the 

costs of cleanup, the only live issue left in 

the case was whether the estate could be 

forced to reimburse the state treasuries for 

the funds they had expended to clean up the 

bankrupt’ s properties. The states argued that 

because the trustee should not have been 

allowed to abandon the sites, it was 

reasonable to force the estate to pay for 

cleanup that the estate should have con­

ducted itself.

The resulting conflict between the envi­

ronmental and bankruptcy laws split the 

Justices down the middle. For one group of

Justices, a majority at the Conference, using 

restrictions on the trustee’s power to abandon 

as a way to shift the cost of clean-up to the 

bankruptcy estate was an impermissible 

interference with the bankruptcy priority 

rules that would elevate the otherwise 

unsecured claims of environmental regulators 

above the secured claims of Midlantic. The 

remaining Justices, a minority at Conference 

but ultimately the prevailing group, could not 

tolerate the potential harm from unilateral 

abandonment, with the attendant removal of 

all oversight of dangerous public hazards.

When the case came to the Court, the law 

clerks from all sides of the Court, so far as the 

record appears, regarded the case as unex­

ceptional. The pool memo from a clerk of 

Chief Justice Warren Burger recommended 

that the Court deny review, emphasizing that 

the Third Circuit had decided a question of 
first impression.32 Justice Powell’s clerk 

agreed, commenting in annotations on the 

pool memo that “ CA3 ’s holding appears to be
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reasonable”  and that “ I think that this Court 

should wait for other CA’s to consider the 

question.”  Justice Harry A. Blackmun’s clerk 

thought that “ CA3 certainly seems to have 

reached the sound result— I do not see why 

the private interests of creditors who dealt 

with the bankrupt sh[ould] prevail over the 

public interest in enforcement of its environ­

mental laws.” He agreed that he was “ less 

prepared to say how firmly  grounded in the 

statute is the result,” but concluded that 

“given the ... absence of other case law on the 

matter, the Court should probably hold off.”  

No record of the Justices’ discussions 

survive, but plainly at least four of the 

Justices took a contrary view; the Court 
granted review in February of 1985.33

The Bench memoranda from the Black- 

mun and Powell clerks, the only ones 

available, displayed similar views of the 

case. Both clerks found the pre-Code case 

law much more compelling than the language 

of  the Code. Blackmun’ s clerk emphasized the 

pre-Code common law restrictions on bank­

ruptcy courts’ abandonment powers and 

argued that “ nothing in the legislative history 

of the 1978 Act or § 554(a) suggests that 

Congress meant to disturb this traditional 
notion of the abandonment power.” 34 Fore­

shadowing the discussion of Justice Powell’s 

majority opinion, she argued that “ [t]he normal 

rule of statutory construction is that when 

Congress intends for legislation to make an 

important change in the way a judicially 

created concept should be interpreted it says 

so.” 35 Reducing the trustee’s unqualified 

reading of Section 554(a) to absurdity, she 

argued that no court would permit a trustee to 

abandon a contaminated truck in the middle of 

a busy tunnel or abandon a stick of  dynamite on 

a company furnace. Because these “ abandon­

ments”  could not be acceptable, she concluded 

that the statutory abandonment power could 

not be unequivocal. For her, the question was 

one of the reasonableness of particular limits 
on the abandonment power.36 Following a 

similar line of  reasoning, Justice Powell’s clerk

argued that the Court should affirm the Third 

Circuit decision, applying the same general 

interpretive principle to conclude that Con­

gress’s adoption of Section 544 implicitly  

recognized the judicially created limitations on 

the trustee’ s abandonment power.37

Oddly inattentive to the operative lan­

guage of the statute, the clerks found the 

policy arguments for the environmental side 

of the case powerful. The clerks pointed out 

that there were good reasons to impose the 

costs of cleanup on Quanta’s creditors rather 

than on the public at large. Specifically, the 

clerks concluded that the creditors, unlike the 

general public, had assumed the risk that 

Quanta’s violation of environmental statutes 

would adversely affect their economic for­
tunes.38 Similarly, both clerks argued that 

allowing the trustee to abandon environmen­

tally contaminated properties would risk 

allowing firms involved in toxic waste 

industries to transfer their liabilities for 

environmental cleanup to the state while 

distributing still-valuable property among the 
creditors.39 The clerks were particularly 

critical of Midiantic’ s argument that forcing 

the trustee to clean up a property amounted to 

an unconstitutional taking of Midiantic’ s 

security interest. Because Quanta had been 

subject to environmental laws before it 

declared bankruptcy, neither clerk could see 

why the continuing application of those laws 

in bankruptcy would amount to an impermis­

sible or unforeseeable change in the creditors’ 

ability to recoup their investment.40

It was clear from the oral argument that 

the views of the Justices would be more 

disparate than the clerks’ memoranda might 

suggest. The harshest questioning about the 

environmental hazards came from Chief 

Justice Burger, who seemed incredulous 

that the trustee could insist on an unqualified 

power of abandonment. For those Justices, 

the actual facts of the case were almost 

wholly irrelevant. What mattered were the 

implications for future scenarios: “ Do you 

mean that the trustee could abandon a burning
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building [The court] cannot say,

well, wait a minute, you can’ t abandon it 

without taking some precautions against 
having this property be a public danger?” 41

For his part, Justice Stevens seemed 

concerned that a vote for the creditors would 

send the wrong message:

Couldn’ t one argue . . . that the 

signal ought to be that you should 

not be lending money to these 

companies unless you are satisfied 

they will  be able to comply with the 

environmental laws? That that is just 

another precaution that the business 

community ought to take before 
financing a venture like this . . . ?42

On the other side, equally skeptical 

questions challenged lawyers for New Jersey 

and New York about whether conditioning 

abandonment of a property on the trustee’s 

clean-up efforts was akin to creating a priority 

claim for the state. For example, Justice 

Sandra Day O’Connor pressed New York’ s 

Solicitor General for much of his time on the 

priority problem: “ [I]sn’ t this really a 

question of priority of claims? It seems to 

me the abandonment question in this context 

is pretty much of a red herring.” 43

The Justices also challenged the state’s 

lawyers as to why the state should have a right 

of reimbursement after Quanta’ s bankruptcy 

filing that they would not have had under 

ordinary state law. Justice Rehnquist, for 

example, wanted to know whether, if the 

property had been abandoned from the bank­

rupt’s estate, “ how are you any worse off  than 

before Quanta’ s bankruptcy?”  When the New 

York Solicitor General responded that the 

debtor “ was completely without assets to do 

anything about the situation,”  Justice William 

H. Rehnquist retorted, “ But I presume that was 
the case on the day it filed for bankruptcy.” 44 

In a similar vein, Justice O’Connor was 

concerned that under state law the state “ would 

have to come in and take whatever measures it 

wanted to take, and by its own law try to get

priority to be recouped,”  and she wondered, 

“ [W]hy should the filing of a bankruptcy 

change that outcome?” 45 For Justice Powell, at 

least, those interchanges seemed to present the 

strongest claims for affirmance; he noted that 

“ WHR agrees with SO’C that the problem 

here is priority of claims, not abandonment.”

At Conference on the Friday after the 

argument, the Justices voted to reverse the 

Third Circuit by a vote of 5 to 4. The Chief 

Justice and Justices White, Rehnquist, Ste­

vens, and O’Connor favored the unqualified 

right to abandon urged by the trustee and the 

bank; Justices William  J. Brennan, Thurgood 

Marshall, Blackmun, and Powell favored the 

regulators’ concerns about public safety. 

Justice Powell’s notes suggest that the Justices 

favoring the trustee stressed the language of 

the Code. The Chief Justice, for example, 

argued that the “ [p]lain language of [the] 

statute permits abandonment. Here the CA 

created priority of claims not authorized by 
[the] Act [sic].” 46 Similarly, Justice White 

commented that the “ statute rewrites Bank­

ruptcy Act”  and asked “ Why should unsecured 

creditors be required to bear this burden?” 47 In 

the same vein, Justice Rehnquist thought that 

the trustee had a “ clear right to abandonment”  

and that the question was one “of priority.” 48 

Most importantly in light of what was to come, 

Justice Stevens qualified his vote for reversal 

by characterizing the case as “ close,” com­

menting, as Justice Powell’ s Conference notes 

indicate, that there “ must be some discretion 

[to limit  abandonment] [i]f  abandonment itself 

increases the hazard,”  and offering the exam­
ple of a “ bomb [that] may explode.” 49

For his part, Justice Powell’ s initial 

view of the case was quite conflicted. His 

preliminary memorandum, written after 

reading the briefs but before receiving 

anything from his clerk, suggested that he 

was “ inclined to agree” with the court of 

appeals “ [d]espite the unequivocal language 
of §554(a).” 50 He was particularly im­

pressed with the argument, which he 

attributed to the Solicitor General, that
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“ §554 is a codification of a judge-made rule 

that . . . had recognized that the trustee’ s 

abandonment authority was subject * * * to 
general police powers of the states.” 31 At the 

Conference, he professed that his vote in 

favor of the state regulators was “ tentative,”  

indicating that he would “want to re-read 

Gibbon[s’s] dissent [from the decision of the 

court of appeals].” 52 Indeed, he was so 

uncertain about his vote that his Conference 

notes reported the vote on the case as 5-3, 

with his own vote excluded from the tally.53

Chief Justice Burger assigned the major­

ity opinion to Justice Rehnquist, who quickly 

circulated a draft that closely tracked the 

position he had taken at the Conference. He 

noted that the “ Bankruptcy Code expressly 

authorizes abandonment for the first time in 

the history of  bankruptcy legislation,”  and that 

the language, “ absolute in its terms,... makes 

no mention of other factors to be balanced 

or weighed and permits no easy inference 

that Congress was concerned about state 
environmental regulations.” 54 In his 

view, the legislative history suggesting ratifi­

cation of case law under the Act fell “ far short 

of’ the “ extraordinary clarity” necessary to 

“ read into unqualified statutory language 

exceptions or limitations based upon legisla­

tive history.” 55 Justice Rehnquist offered a 

pedestrian resolution, implementing the

language of the Code as best as its text could 

be understood, buttressed by his sense of 

Congress’s intent in the Code to make the 

bankruptcy process more comprehensively 

effective.

Justice Rehnquist did not, however, limit  

his analysis entirely to the text. Rather, 

reflecting the discussion at the argument 

and at the Conference, he closed his proposed 

opinion by repeating the point he made at the 

Conference, arguing that the regulators’

interest in these cases lies not just in 

protecting public health and safety 

but also in protecting the public fisc.

. . . Barring abandonment and 

forcing a cleanup, however, would 

effectively place [the regulators’ ] 

interest in protecting the public fisc 

ahead of the claims of other cred­

itors. Congress simply did not intend 

that § 554 abandonment hearings 

would be used to establish the 

priority of particular claims in 

bankruptcy.56

Apparently, in an effort to respond to the 

concerns of Justice Stevens, who was the fifth  

vote for Justice Rehnquist’s Conference 

majority, Justice Rehnquist’s draft also 

included a paragraph softening the statutory

Justice Stevens

Justice Powell m ade this Conference note on October 18, 1985 regarding Justice Stevens ’s qualifying of his 

vote for reversal by characterizing the case as “close.” It reads: “Close Case. If abandonm ent itself increases 

the hazard (bom b m ay explode) there m ust be som e discretion. There m ay be a custodial duty to m eet a new  

situation caused by abandonm ent.”



MIDLANTIC-.JIHGFEDCBA B A L A N C IN G  B A N K R U P T C Y  A N D  E N V IR O N M E N T A L  L A W  111tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

analysis. The draft emphasized that the 

holding did “ not exclude the possibility that 

there may be a far narrower condition on the 

abandonment power than that advanced by 

[the regulators] here, such as where abandon­

ment by the trustee might itself create a 

general emergency that the trustee would be 

uniquely able to guard against.” 57 Referring 

to an example from the Solicitor General’ s 

brief, abandonment of “ dynamite sitting on a 

furnace in the basement of a schoolhouse,”  

and commenting that he “ kn[e]w of no cases 

in which trustees have sought to abandon 

dynamite under such circumstances,” he 

suggested that “ the existence of the narrow 

exception which we reserve would surely 
embrace that situation.” 58

Justice O’Connor joined Justice 

Rehnquist’s opinion on the day that he 

circulated it, and Justice Byron R. White 
followed suit the following Monday.59 Jus­

tice Rehnquist then circulated a second draft, 

which included only a single substantive 

revision, a footnote related to the question 

whether it was important that “ abandonment 
itself violates state law.” 60 That discussion, 

which appeared in footnote 4 of the draft 

majority opinion, would turn out to be the 

focal point of subsequent discussions. The 

footnote broadened Justice Rehnquist’ s dis­

cussion of that problem to emphasize the 

importance of bankruptcy policy, contending 

that allowing state law to trump the right of 

abandonment would “ plainly frustrate the 

federal bankruptcy policy of expeditiously 

reducing the assets of the estate to money for 

distribution to creditors,” and thus that the 

Bankruptcy Code should preempt any laws 
purporting to restrict abandonment.61

Justice Brennan assigned the dissent to 

Justice Powell, perhaps hoping to shore up 
Powell’ s hesitant vote.62 Noting that his “ vote 

to affirm was quite tentative” and that he 

“ f[ou]nd the case troubling,” Justice Powell 

nevertheless responded that he would “ be 
glad to try [his] hand at a dissent.” 63 Moving 

quickly, Justice Powell circulated his draft

dissent less than two weeks after Justice

Rehnquist circulated his draft majority
■ ■ 64opinion.

The records include a typescript and a 

printed draft of Justice Powell’s dissent that 

precede the first circulated draft. The main 

substantive revision softened the “ verbal 
bomb shell” (Justice Powell’s words),65 

with which his clerk began the draft for a 

dissent. Justice Powell worried that the 

rhetorical flourish might be “ injudicious”  
unless it were “ accurate in every respect.” 66 

The draft began with the same hypothetical 

discussed above, about the abandonment of 

dynamite on a stove in the basement of a 

school, followed by a caustic description of 

the environmental contamination at issue 

in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM id la n t ic , both drawn almost word- 

or-word from the brief of the Solicitor 

General.67

The draft dissent could not have taken a 

methodological tack more different from that 

of the majority draft. Frankly acknowledging 

the limited importance of the statutory text to 

his position, Justice Powell rested directly on 

the scope of the abandonment power under 

the Act. Part I of the draft detailed the 

“ judicially-developed doctrine designed to 
protect legitimate state or federal interests.” 68 

Justice Powell emphasized a “ rule of statu­

tory construction”  requiring “ specific intent”  

to recognize legislation as shifting the 

meaning of a statute that courts previously 

had interpreted.69 Indeed, though he offered 

no citations to support the claim, Justice 

Powell went so far as to assert that “ [t]he 

Court has followed this rule with particular 

care in construing the scope of bankruptcy 
codifications.” 70

Part II emphasized that the all 

but unqualified abandonment power recog­

nized by Justice Rehnquist’s draft was 

unprecedented, an easy point given the 

paucity of prior judicial or legislative atten­

tion.71 Finally, Part III emphasized Con­

gress’ s undisputed concerns about 

“protecting the environment against toxic
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pollution,” as support for Justice Powell’ s 

“ unwilling[ness] to presume that... § 554(a).

. . implicitly overturned long-standing

restrictions on the common-law abandon­

ment power.” 72

Notably, from the earliest stages of 

drafting, Justice Powell’ s opinion closely 

tracked several portions of the analysis 

offered in the brief of the Solicitor General. 

The Solicitor General did not present oral 

argument, but did file a brief in support of the 

states, arguing for a narrow reading of the 

trustee’ s abandonment power. For example, 

the discussion of Section 959(b) in the earliest 

drafts of the opinion imported quotes and 

significant analysis from the Solicitor Gen­

eral’ s discussion. Specifically, both the 

Solicitor General and Justice Powell con­

cluded that Section 959(b) applied to aban­

donment, in part because Section 959 

addresses both “ management” and “ opera­

tion” of property and courts are “ obliged to 

give effect, if possible, to every word 

Congress used.” 73 Justice Powell also bor­

rowed the Solicitor General’ s analysis of the 

origins of Section 959 and accepted the 

Solicitor General’s dismissive view of Mid- 

lantic’s Takings Clause arguments by not 

addressing them.74 The central substantive 

standard of Justice Powell’ s ultimate opinion 

—the requirements for abandonment— is 

closely rooted in the nuisance principles 

that the Solicitor General recommended to 
the Court.75 Most importantly of all, Justice 

Powell found his core interpretive link— 

infusing the language of the Code with 

Bankruptcy Act jurisprudence— in the brief 
of the Solicitor General.76

Justices Brennan, Marshall, and Black- 

mun promptly joined Justice Powell’ s draft 

dissent without requesting any changes; those 

“ joins”  gave Justice Powell four votes for his 

draft dissent, while Justice Rehnquist still had 

only three votes for his draft majority 
opinion.77 Justice Rehnquist responded with 

a third draft of his proposed opinion; the most 

important change was a revision trying to

downplay Justice Powell’s health and safety 

concerns and emphasizing that a requirement 

that the trustee provide notice before aban­

doning hazardous property would “ [i]n  

almost all cases . . . give the State adequate 

opportunity to step in and provide needed 
security.” 78 When Chief Justice Burger 

joined Justice Rehnquist’ s opinion that 
same day,79 four Justices had agreed to 

each of the opinions, but there had been no 

word from Justice Stevens.

The next day, Justice Stevens weighed in 

with a detailed memorandum explaining that 

he had decided to switch his vote. He noted 

that the original draft majority opinion had 

troubled him in several ways and that he had 

started by trying “ to formulate some sug­

gested editorial changes that would clarify the 

scope of the holding, or perhaps identify the 
contours of the dynamite exception.” 80 

However, Justice Stevens went on to explain 

that “ further study of the case has undermined 

my confidence in my Conference vote.”

Justice Stevens expressed much more 

concern with Justice Rehnquist’s policy 

views than with his statutory analysis. 

Specifically, he questioned Rehnquist’s char­

acterization of the issues in the case as solely 

about “ who pays.”  He maintained that if  the 

case had been about the simple shifting of 

financial responsibility for cleanup

from one party to another—if  aban­

donment did nothing more than . . . 

make an adjustment in the rights of 

various creditors—state law could 

be ignored in deciding whether or 

not to approve abandonment. But if  

the abandonment has health as well 

as financial consequences, and if  it is 

prohibited by state law because of 

the health consequences, I think the 

trustee has some duty to comply 
with state law.81

Because the case as presented to the 

bankruptcy court in fact involved allegations
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of health hazards related to the abandonment, 

Stevens thought it improper to dispose of the 

case solely as a financial matter. Once he had 

reached that conclusion, he had become 

“persuaded that the key to the case is the 

discussion in your [i.e., Justice Rehnquist’s] 
footnote 4,” 82 discussed above. On that point, 

he could not conclude “ [u]nder our normal 

preemption analysis”  that Congress intended 

to preempt state laws about abandonment. 

Accordingly, “ [w]ith  some embarrassment, I 

have therefore concluded that I must change 
my vote.” 83

Because Justice Stevens’ s change of heart 

meant that Justice Powell was now writing for 

the majority, Justice Powell promptly circu­

lated an opinion with the necessary revisions 

to serve as an opinion for the Court rather than 

as a dissent.84 Again, Justices Brennan and 

Blackmun promptly joined, followed a few 

weeks later by Justice Marshall; none re­
quested substantive changes.85

Justice Stevens, however, was not so 

easily satisfied. Just as Justice Stevens had 

found the abandonment power in Justice 

Rehnquist’s opinion too broad, he thought 

Justice Powell’s made it too narrow. Writing 

to Justice Powell in early January, Justice 

Stevens agreed that abandonment in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM id ­

la n t ic “ was clearly improper” because the 

trustee took no steps to reduce danger related 
to abandonment.86 Once again Justice Ste­

vens was much less worried about the correct 

resolution of M id la n t ic than about problems 

that had not yet arisen. For example, he 

worried about what should happen in cases in 

which the trustee (or the judge) acted more 

cautiously: “ [Wjhat if  the bankruptcy judge 

had imposed conditions that required the 

trustee to... forestall any imminent danger of 

a serious tragedy? The last paragraph of your 

opinion seems to state that such an abandon­
ment would also be impermissible.” 87 Justice 

Stevens made his problem quite clear:

I found that I could not subscribe to

Bill  Rehnquist’s proposed disposition

because it seemed to authorize the 

trustee to abandon without any con­

straint whatsoever imposed by State 

law. You have convinced me that 

position is untenable. I am also 

inclined to believe that the opposite 

extreme would be equally unsatisfac­

tory. Specifically, I could not sub­

scribe to a holding that the State could 

veto any abandonment, no matter how 

many safety precautions were taken 

and no matter how much money the 

estate had spent in an effort to rectify 

the problem.88

Justice Stevens closed with a gentle 

suggestion that “ it might be wise to narrow 
our holding.” 89

Anxious to gain a majority for his 

opinion, Justice Powell sent back revised 

pages of his opinion privately to Justice 

Stevens, indicating that he “ believ[ed that] 

these meet your concerns”  but noting that he 

would “of course, consider any language 
changes you may suggest.” 0 Justice Stevens 

responded with a request for yet another 

round of clarifying revisions, in which he 

focused on the possibility that a state might 

seek to bar abandonment for reasons unre­

lated to public health and safety.91 With little 

other choice, Justice Powell agreed to 

those revisions as well. Papering over the 

leverage Justice Stevens was exercising, 

Justice Powell commented with characteristic 

grace that he was “ glad to make the changes 

suggested” and that he was “ assuming 

that these changes will be satisfactory to 

[the Justices] who have joined me, as I view 

your language as a clearer statement of what 
the opinion already purports to say.” 92 In any 

event, when Justice Stevens finally agreed to 

join the opinion,93 Justice Powell had 

obtained his hard-fought majority.94

It was, in truth, an overstatement to 

suggest that the changes did not shift the 

opinion at all. They did, however, leave 

the core of Justice Powell’s reasoning intact,
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CHAMBERS OF

JUSTiCE JOHN PAUL STEVENS

December 5, 1985

Re: 84-801 - Midlantic National Bank v.
New Jersey Department of
Environmental Protection 

84-805 - O'Neill v. City of New York

Dear Bill:

When 1 first read your circulating draft, I was 
troubled by three comments: (1) the statement on 
page 1 that the abandonment power is "not subject to 
any general requirement of compliance with state 
regulatory laws"; (2) the conclusion in footnote 4 on 
page 11 that a state prohibition against the disposal 
of hazardous wastes is preempted by § 554(a); and (3) 
the "dynamite-in-the-schoolhouse" example that is 
used on page 14 to illustrate the scope of a possible 
condition on abandonments that themselves create 
emergencies that the trustee is uniquely able to 
guard against. I therefore thought that I would try 
to formulate some suggested editorial changes that 
would clarify the scope of the holding, or perhaps 
identify the contours of the dynamite exception, but 
further study of the case has undermined my 
confidence in mv Conference votê

Justice Stevens weighed in  with  a detailed m em orandum  on Decem ber 5,1985  explaining  that he  had  decided 

to switch his Conference vote.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

as the final version indicated that the abandon­

ment power was conditioned on the bankruptcy 

court’s “ formulat[ion of] conditions that will 

adequately protect the public’ s health and 

safety”  and specifically that “ a trustee may not 

abandon property in contravention of a state 

statute or regulation that is reasonably designed 

to protect the public health or safety from 

identified hazards.” 95 More importantly, the 

changes resulted in a majority opinion

justifying a heavily skeptical treatment of the 

Code’s reforms rather than the “we call them 

like Congress wrote them” approach Justice 

Rehnquist had offered.96

The Legacy of Midlantic

It is easy to speculate how things might 

have changed if just one vote were
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different, if Justice Stevens had been 

slightly less engaged in the case, perhaps, 

and had maintained the view he expressed 

at the Conference. If Justice Powell’ s 

dissent had been slower to appear, would 

Justice Stevens have tried harder to reach 

an accommodation with Justice Rehnquist? 

A similar pattern appeared two Terms 

earlier in the deliberations over WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN L R B v . 
B i ld is c o &  B i ld is c o (1984).97 The Justices 

had divided 5-4 at Conference, Chief 

Justice Burger assigned the majority opin­

ion to Justice Rehnquist, and Justice 

Stevens had substantial misgivings about 

his vote. In that case, however, after 

extended correspondence and structural 

recasting of the opinion, Justice Rehnquist 

managed to retain control of the outcome.98

More broadly, if  Justice Powell’s draft 

dissent had remained just that—the com­

ments of four dissenters—would the Court 

ever have moved so far down the path it has 

chosen, in which the Bankruptcy Code so 

regularly gives way to the interests of other 

federal and state regulatory schemes? The 

legacy of M id la n t ic is plain; the Court has 

cited the decision with frequency, more than a 

dozen times, always for its strong presump­

tion against derogation from prior statutory 

interpretation. If M id la n t ic is the turning 

point in the Court’ s bankruptcy jurispru­

dence, the interactions among Justices 

Rehnquist, Powell, and Stevens over the 

decision of that case are the crux of the entire 

subject.

In a case that divided the Court so 

closely, the involvement of the Solicitor 

General is especially noteworthy. It is 

not simply that Justice Powell’s dissent- 

tumed-majority relied so heavily on the 

Solicitor General’s presentation for language, 

examples, and legal reasoning, although the 

level of borrowing on those points is itself 

remarkable. What is crucial is the borrowing 

from the Solicitor General, with no substan­

tial precedential authority, of the central 

jurisprudential contribution of M id la n t ic ,

the presumption that Congress’s labored 

recodification of bankruptcy law was de­

signed to change nothing. We can only 

wonder whether the Solicitor General’ s 

contribution would have been more nuanced 

had the Solicitor General seen protection of 

the bankruptcy process as an important 

institutional interest. As it is, we know now 

that the Solicitor General’s arguments here 

laid the foundations for what turned out to be 

a decades-long project of narrowing the 

impact of the 1978 Code.MLKJIHGFEDCBA
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The co ns titu tio nal his to r ian Tim o thy 

Hu e bne r has s e t him s e lf a dau nting tas k in 
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indicates, is his central theme: what it is, why 

it matters, and how it was understood by the 

American people, including African Americans 

and pro-slavery southern whites. Each of 

Huebner’s three foci merits book-length treat­

ment in its own right; blending all three into a 

coherent narrative for general readers is a 

challenge to virtuosity. Huebner pulls it off 

admirably.

There are surprisingly few studies that 

cover exactly the same ground Huebner does,

but they are all classics, which makes his 

achievement all the more impressive. A  

generation ago, Harold M. Hyman and 

William M. Wiecek brought out one of the 

few studies that replicates Huebner’s subject: 

E q u a l Ju stice u n d er L aw : C on stitu t ion a l 

D eve lop m en t, 1835 -1875 (1982), one of the 

four constitutional volumes of the N ew 

A m er ican N ation series. The entire corpus 

of Harold M. Hyman’s work, but principally 

A  M ore P er fec t U n ion : T h e Im p act o f 

th e C iv il  W ar  an d R econ stru c tion on th e 

C on stitu t ion (1973), is dedicated to the 

war and Reconstruction. Laura Edwards’ s 

A  L ega l H isto ry  o f th e C iv il  W ar  an d 

R econ stru c tion : A  N ation  o f  R igh ts (2015) 

is an important recent revision of the 

classical synthesis. All the other landmark 

studies cover only one part of Huebner’ s 

story. Daniel Walker Howe’s Pulitzer Prize­

winning achievement, W h at H ath G od
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W rou gh t:  T h e T ran sfo rm a tion  o f A m er ­

ica , 1815 -1848 tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(2007), interprets the antebel­

lum era. David M. Potter’ s T h e Im p en d in g  

C r is is , 1848 -1861 (1976), another N ew 

A m er ican N ation series volume, brought 

the story up to the war. James McPherson’ s 

B a tt le C ry  o f  F reed om : T h e C iv il  W ar  E ra  

(1988) covered both the coming of the war 

and the war itself. William W. Freehling’ s 

two-volume treatment of secession, T h e 

R oad to D isu n ion : S ecession ists a t B ay , 

1776 -1854 (1990) and S ecession ists T r iu m ­

p h an t, 1854 -1861 (2007) traced the southern 

component of the story. John Hope Franklin 

produced the magisterial account of the black 

experience in F rom  S lavery to  F reed om : A  

H isto ry  o f  A fr ican  A m er ican s (1947, 8th ed. 

2000). Don E. Fehrenbacher followed up his 

towering T h e D red  S co tt C ase: I ts  S ign if i ­

can ce in  A m er ican  L aw  an d P o lit ics (1978) 

with his refutation of the neo-Garrisonian 

critique of the pro-slavery Constitution: T h e 

S laveh o ld in g R ep u b lic : A n  A ccou n t o f  th e 

U n ited S ta tes G overn m en t’ s R ela tion s to  

S lavery (2001). Eric Foner’s R econ stru c­

t ion : A m er ica ’ s U n fin ish ed R evo lu t ion ,

1863 - 1877 (1988, 2014) is the definitive 

one-volume survey of the war’s political and 

constitutional aftermath. Each of these books 

has framed the way that we think about the 

constitutional struggles of the Middle Period, 

providing the armature on which we structure 

interpretation and critique today. On purely 

constitutional matters, the Holmes Devise 

volumes of Carl B. Swisher (T h e T an ey 

P er iod , 1836 -1864 [1964]) and C h ar les 

F a irm an (R econ stru c tion an d R eu n ion ,

1864 - 88 [1971, 1987]) were respectively 

dated and monumentally disappointing, and 

they have had little impact on our interpreta­

tion of the constitutional dimensions of the 

cataclysmic struggles of 1830-1880. Given 

this grand corpus of recent scholarship, our 

parlous times call for a synthesis that will  

make the constitutional learning of the last 

half-century accessible in the classroom and 

for public discourse.

Huebner’s work traces the great constitu­

tional themes that have dominated scholarly 

inquiry since the 1960s. Foremost among these 

is his foregrounding of African-American 

experience in this era. He emphasizes African 

Americans’ contributions to the development 

of constitutional thought and doctrine, as what 

he calls “ the black constitutional tradition”  (pp. 

52, 61, 84, 136, 322-323, 419, and WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAp a s s im ) . 

With few exceptions (Franklin, Foner), con­

stitutional historians have slighted the contri­

butions of black antebellum thinkers and 

activists to the development of public law.2 

Huebner explores the constitutional ideas and 

vision of black conventions and individual 

thinkers, from James Forten early in the 

century to Frederick Douglass through its 

end. African-American leaders emerge from 

the mists of Lost-Cause-tinged historiography 

to speak in their own voices. Restoring agency 

both to black intellectuals and to the countless 

but mostly nameless individuals who lived out 

their constitutional ideals by self-liberation, 

L ib er ty  an d U n ion begins to make up for 

missed opportunities by reminding readers that 

free and enslaved African Americans were at 

the forefront in promoting the ideals of 

freedom, rights, and equality. They insistently 

recurred to the Declaration of Independence as 

the touchstone of constitutional development, 

which Huebner calls a “ distinctive vision of 

equality” (p. 48). Besides such well-known 

figures as David Walker and Frederick 

Douglass, in Huebner’s account we encounter 

the thinking of Martin Delaney, Abraham 

Galloway, Robert Smalls, John Rock, 

Absalom Jones, Hiram Revels, Henry M. 

Turner, George Ruffin, Henry Highland 

Garnett, Samuel Cornish, and others who 

explored the meanings of liberty and citizen­

ship. Huebner insists throughout that our 

understanding of freedom and equality owes 

as much to blacks’ activism as it does to 

whites’ .

African Americans called for the era­

sure of all racial distinctions in American 

law. This notion of equality as a
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constitutional value was literally unprece­

dented in American constitutional discourse 

in 1865. Unlike concepts of due process, 

which dated back at least to WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM a g n a C a r ta 

(1215) and had undergone seven centuries 

of refinement in legal debate, or privileges 

and immunities, which like due process was 

grounded in the Constitution and drew on 

familiar common law understandings, inter­

personal equality was unknown to the 
American constitutional tradition.3 When 

abolitionists and black conventions began to 

articulate the egalitarian ideal in the 1830s, 

their fellow-citizens scorned them as crack­

pot idealists bent on creating an impossible 

interracial utopia. Similarly with the notion 

that African Americans could claim to be 

rights-bearing citizens with their status 

protected by the Constitution: citizenship 

itself at this time was so underdeveloped 

constitutionally that it could not usefully

serve as a juristic category to define the civic 

status of people formerly enslaved. As for 

the idea that African Americans might have 

rights, southern slave law recognized “ no 

rights which the white man was bound to 

respect” for enslaved people, as Chief 

Justice Roger B. Taney correctly asserted 

in D r e d S c o tt (1857). Freedpeople at first 

could claim little beyond the bare right of 

locomotion, and even that was hedged about 

with constraints on mobility and residence 

that did not burden whites. The result was 

that, in 1868, equality was a new value, 

unknown to the original Constitution, that 

had to be given content and meaning 

through civic discourse and practice. Hueb­

ner describes the role that black voices 

played in that process of definition.

Huebner’s narrative emphasizes that at 

all times—before, during, and after the Civil  

War—northern and southern understandings
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of federalism and the Constitution radically 

diverged. The southern antebellum concept 

of state sovereignty rested on a theory of the 

Union in which a distant national govern­

ment was driven by a relentless centripetal 

drive for power, which southern writers 

called “consolidation.” Unconstitutional 

measures like the tariff or, potentially, any 

actions that threatened slavery endangered 

the liberty of individual citizens of the 

states. When their liberty was threatened by 

the “ aggressions” of abolitionists, free 

states, or the federal government, the states 

could “ interpose” their authority between 

the national government and the citizen, so 

that the illegitimate measure would be 

deflected. In this vision, the real threat to 

individual liberty came from the federal 

government; security for liberty rested in the 

states. The southern concept of the federal 

system fused white supremacy, state sover­

eignty, and pro-slavery constitutionalism.

The people of the free states saw it 

differently. Northerners saw that the real 

threat to individual liberty came from the 

states, not the national government. The mails 

controversy of 1835 and contemporary 

related First Amendment challenges threat­

ened the liberties of whites. After the war, it 

was the states that enacted the Black Codes 

and trampled on democratic processes after 

Democrat Redeemers returned to power. The 

new constitutional regime of Reconstruction, 

based on the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and 

Fifteenth Amendments and given effect by 

the Enforcement Acts of 1870-71, upended 

the southern antebellum theory of federalism. 

The federal government, acting through its 

courts, now stood as the guarantor of liberty 

in what Huebner calls a “ revolution in the 

historic relationship between the national 

government and the states”  (p. 446).

Nevertheless, the defunct southern theory 

of state sovereignty shambled on like some 

constitutional zombie throughout Reconstruc­

tion and after. At first thought to be buried at 

Appomattox, “ states rights” lurched back

immediately in southern politics, rotting but 

lethal. Having made its formal debut in the 

Kentucky and Virginia Resolutions of 1798- 

99, the theory of state sovereignty had moved 

inexorably from interposition (1798) to nulli­

fication (1798, 1832) to secession (1860-61). 

Such a fatally wrong idea took on a new life in 

Reconstruction as the formal claim for the 

power by the states to frustrate national policy, 

particularly in the matter of the status of the 

freedpeople. The fires of Petersburg and 

Richmond were still smoldering as southern 

state legislators, many of them Confederate 

military or civilian officials just months 

earlier, took their seats and promptly enacted 

the Black Codes. They backed up that act of 

defiance with constitutional theories that 

explained the workings of the Confederate 
Constitution4 but were alien in the new 

constitutional regime of the United States. 

Southern Democrats and their abettor, 

President Andrew Johnson, ignored the fact 

that a revolution in American federalism had 

taken place during the war.

Throughout JIHGFEDCBAL ib er ty  an d  U n ion , Huebner 

emphasizes the theme of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAc o n s t i tu t io n a l is m , 

which he presents as a melange of issues 

including the scope and meaning of national 

supremacy, popular sovereignty, state sover­

eignty, individual liberty, slavery, and democ­

racy within a republican form of government. 

By 1860, it had become apparent—though not 

to most contemporaries—that the balance that 

had evolved among them had become fatally 

unstable. Abraham Lincoln saw his responsi­

bility, as he assumed office, to be the 

preservation of liberty and union—hence the 

title of Huebner’s work. But by then the north 

and south had diverged irreconcilably in their 

understandings of the underlying meaning of 

those two concepts. Northern constitutionalism 

was shaped by Whiggish visions of national 

power used to promote the well-being of all the 

American people, a nationalist vision that ran 

from Alexander Hamilton through John Mar­

shall and Daniel Webster to Lincoln. Southern 

constitutionalism, by contrast, was based on the
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sovereignty of the various states. White south­

erners understood liberty to consist above all of 

their ability to own slaves and maintain a slave 

society. Equality meant, as the southern 

intellectual Thomas Dew explained, “ all who 

are white are equal”  (quoted at p. 80).

When Lincoln announced the aims of his 

administration in 1861 to be the preservation 

of the Union and the supremacy of the 

Constitution, he did not recognize that these 

aims were fundamentally incompatible with 

bedrock southern understandings of their 

equivalents in a slave society, which were 

the security of white supremacy and black 

enslavement. Lincoln adumbrated his idea in 

his “ House Divided” address (1858), but he 

did not at that time concede that liberty and 

union as the north saw it could not be secured 

without the destruction of slavery. It  took him 

more than a year to realize that, if  the Union 

were to be saved, slavery had to be eradicated. 

Huebner traces Lincoln’s dawning realization 

of that first in the Preliminary Emancipation 

Proclamation in 1862 and then in its corol­

lary, the vindication of democracy in the 

Gettysburg Address the next year. Huebner 

argues that, as the Emancipation Proclama­

tion overthrew slavery, the Gettysburg Ad­

dress (1863) repudiated white supremacy. 

That overstates or at least accelerates the 

evolution of Lincoln’s views on race in 1863, 

but it captures the fusion of the President’ s 

constitutional thinking and that of African- 

American activists, who saw that liberty and 

union could be secured only around the third 

element of the American constitutional 

trinity, equality. In the Emancipation Procla­

mation, Lincoln referred to the objects of his 

executive action as “ all persons held as 

slaves” rather than simply “ slaves.” This 

was not a circumlocution or merely clumsy 

phrasing. It was a careful choice of words, 

reflecting Lincoln’s steadfast commitment to 

constitutionalism3 as well as his recognition 

that there is a vast difference between a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAs la v e 

—an objectified, commodified though ratio­

nal hominid—and an enslaved p e r s o n— a

fellow human trapped in an unnatural social 

status.

Huebner refers to the revolutionary ac­

complishments of the Civil War in the 

constitutional sphere, above all in the fact that 

the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth 

Amendments constituted the core of America’ s 

third Constitution. Our first Constitution was 

the Articles of Confederation, which expired in 

infancy, and the second was the Constitution of 

1787 plus the promptly appended Bill of 

Rights. The second Constitution had failed in 

1860-61 and was substantially replaced by a 

revised document that excised slavery and 

substituted in its place a society based (aspira- 

tionally, at least) on equality among all people: 

the antebellum goal of black writers and their 

abolitionist allies. But the new constitutional 

regime immediately ran into implacable 

counterrevolutionary resistance, in effect a 

continuation of the war through terrorism and 

guerilla atrocities. The promise of the Recon­

struction Amendments was betrayed and 

postponed for almost a century as white 

Americans tolerated a pretextual pseudo-equal­

ity as a fig leaf covering disfranchisement and 

Jim Crow subordination.

In tracing the development of these 

grand themes, Huebner guides the reader 

through a succession of constitutional issues: 

antebellum pro- and anti-slavery constitu­

tional theories; the legal status of African 

Americans, both free and enslaved, north and 

south; the role of the Supreme Court of the 

United States and the lower federal courts in 

resolving these questions; the status of 

slavery in the territories and fugitives from 

slavery, the twinned constitutional issues 

that ultimately brought down the Union; the 

repeated failure of the constitutional order 

through the 1850s (1850, 1854, 1857, 1858, 

1860) to resolve the territorial issue; 

Abraham Lincoln’s evolving constitutional 

thinking; the recurrent impact of race and 

racial beliefs on constitutional interpretation; 

Confederate constitutionalism; the ways 

that the war impacted constitutional
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development, including such matters as 

habeas corpus and Francis Lieber’ s code of 

the laws of war; presidential power; emanci­

pation; the interrelated topics of citizenship, 

privileges and immunities, due process, and 

equal protection; evolving theories of feder­

alism and sovereignty; the constitutional 

status of the freedpeople; suffrage, both for 

whites and for blacks, and for women; self- 

government; the ineradicable tensions be­

tween individual liberty and governmental 

power; the hierarchy of civil, political, and 

social rights of African Americans; the status 

of the states in the postwar constitutional 

order; the uses of the military in securing 

domestic order; impeachment; the jurisdic­

tion of the federal courts; civil rights 

legislation, particularly the Civil Rights 

Act of 1866; and white supremacy as an 

organizing principle of government.JIHGFEDCBA
L ib er ty  an d U n ion is a welcome and 

satisfying synthesis of the constitutional

scholarship of the last half-century that 

accords the Reconstruction Amendments 

their proper place as the basis of our modem 

constitutional order. Written for a general 

audience and meant to be used in the 

classroom, this volume could not be more 

timely.

ENDNOTES

1 This review concentrates on the constitutional aspects 

of the narrative and ignores the military history chapters.

2 To mention only one culprit: William M. Wiecek, T h e 

S ou rces o f  A n tis lavery  C on stitu t ion a lism  in  A m er ica , 

1760 -1848 (1977); Hyman and Wiecek, E q u a l Ju stice 

U n d er L aw , 1-231. The list could be extended.

3 The only mention of equality in the original Constitu­

tion came in Article V, which guaranteed each state 

“ equal Suffrage”  in Senate voting.

4 The preamble to the Confederate Constitution declared: 

“ We the people of the Confederate States, each acting in 

its sovereign and independent capacity ...”

5 The Constitution in Article IV section 2 refers to 

“ Person[s] held to Service or Labour.”
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